
 
 

CABINET 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL 
 

 

DATE Tuesday, 14th July, 2015 

TIME 1.00 pm 

LOCATION Siambr Hywel Dda, Council Offices, Caernarfon, Gwynedd. LL55 

1SH 

Cyngor Gwynedd, Stryd y Jêl, CAERNARFON, Gwynedd, LL55 1SH 

CONTACT POINT Bethan Richardson 
01286 679490 
cabinet@gwynedd.gov.uk 

 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET MEMBERS 
 

Members 
Dyfed Wyn Edwards Leader 

Dyfrig L. Siencyn Deputy Leader 

Peredur Jenkins Cabinet Member for Resources 

John Wynn Jones Cabinet Member for the Environment 

Dafydd Meurig Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Regulatory 

W. Gareth Roberts Cabinet Member for Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Mair Rowlands Cabinet Member for Children and 
Young People 

Gareth Thomas Cabinet Member for Education 

Ioan Thomas Cabinet Member for Housing, 
Customer Care, Libraries, Deprivation 
and Equality 

Mandy Williams-Davies Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Community 

 



 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

 Item Submitted by Officer Page 

1   Apologies 
 

   

2   Declaration of Personal Interest 
 

   

3   Urgent Items 
 

   

4   Matters Arising from Scrutiny Committees 
 

   

5   Minutes of the meeting held on the 23rd of 
June 2015 
 

  1 - 8 

6   Developing the Frondeg Site 
 

  9 - 26 

7   Ffordd Gwynedd Strategy 
 

  27 - 
49 

8   Revenue Budget 2015/16 - Identifying Early 
Risks 
 

  50 - 
66 

9   Capital Programme 2015/16-2017/18 - First 
Quarter Review 
 

  67 - 
71 

10   Caernarfon and Bangor Business Improvement 
Districts 
 

  72 - 
192 

11   The Council's Procurement Strategy 
 

  193 - 
206 

 



GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET 
MINUTES 

23 June 2015 

 
 
 Present –    
 Councillors: Dyfrig Siencyn (Chairman), Dyfed Edwards (items 1 to 8), Peredur 

Jenkins, John Wynn Jones, Dafydd Meurig, W Gareth Roberts, Mair Rowlands, 
Gareth Thomas, Mandy Williams-Davies. 

 
Also present –  
Morwena Edwards (Corporate Director), Iwan Trefor Jones (Corporate Director), 
Iwan G D Evans (Legal Services Manager), Dafydd Edwards (Chief Finance 
Officer), William Jones (Senior Finance Manager), Dafydd Gibbard (Senior 
Corporate Property Manager), David Mark Lewis (Energy Conservation Manager), 
Janet Roberts (Senior Manager – Delivery and Supporting Change Service), 
Hawis Jones (Strategic Planning and Performance Manager), Bethan Richardson 
(Cabinet Support Team Leader – taking the minutes).  
 

1. WELCOME/APOLOGIES 
 

Cabinet members and officers were welcomed to the meeting.  
 
Apologies -  
Cllr Ioan Thomas, Cllr Dyfed Edwards (items 9 and 10), Dilwyn Williams (Chief 
Executive). 
 

2. DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST  
 
Guidance was given by the Head of Legal Services regarding declaring an interest 
in relation to item 7. 
 
Councillor Peredur Jenkins declared a personal interest in item 7 on the agenda 
(Ysgol Machreth, Ysgol y Gader Catchment Area), because his daughter was the 
Headteacher of Ysgol Gynradd Rhydymain/Brithdir.     
 
The member was of the opinion that it was a prejudicial interest, and he withdrew 
from the Chamber during the discussion on the item. 
 
Councillor Dyfrig Siencyn declared a personal interest in item 7 on the agenda 
(Ysgol Machreth, Ysgol y Gader Catchment Area), due to family connections with 
Cllr Peredur Jenkins.     
 
The member was of the opinion that it was not a prejudicial interest and he 
participated fully in the discussion on the item.   

 



3. URGENT ITEMS 
 

There were no urgent items.  
 
4. MATTERS ARISING FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEES  
 

There were no matters arising from scrutiny committees. 
 

5.  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

 The Chairman signed the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 2 June 2015. 
 
6. APPROVAL OF THE 2015/17 STRATEGIC PLAN  

 
The report was submitted by Cllr. Dyfrig Siencyn. 
It was seconded by Cllr. Gareth Thomas. 
 
DECISION 
 

To recommend that the Full Council adopts the 2015-17 Strategic Plan as 
submitted to the meeting, but with minor amendments, including the following to 
the ‘Poverty, Deprivation, Economy, Housing’ section -  

 

 In the introduction for this section, to add a reference to the Council’s role as 
a partner on the North Wales Ambition Board, and the need to take 
advantage of opportunities that arise on a regional level. 

 T2 – include a reference to the importance of local supply chains.  

 Add a heading - Improving Access to Employment for the People of the 
County and Responding to Barriers 

 
7. YSGOL MACHRETH, YSGOL Y GADER CATCHMENT AREA 

 
The report was submitted by Cllr. Gareth Thomas. 
It was seconded by Cllr. Dyfed Edwards. 
 
DECISION 
 
1. To withdraw the statutory notice regarding Ysgol Machreth. 

2. To approve the commencement of an alternative process based on the 
proposal to close the school early in 2016 – Option 3 in the report submitted to 
the meeting. 

3. By following the statutory processes, to offer places to Ysgol Machreth pupils 
at Ysgol Ieuan Gwynedd, Rhydymain during the transition period prior to the 



establishment of the All-through Catchment Area School on 1 September 
2017. 

 
7. CARBON MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 

The report was submitted by Cllr. John Wynn Jones. 
 
DECISION 

 
1. To adopt a Second Carbon Management Plan for the period 2015/16 – 

2020/2021, and to set a target of reducing carbon by 40% against the baseline 
by the end of the Plan’s lifespan. 

 
2. To fund the Plan’s total expenditure (£3.259m) through a combination of 

financial sources –  
 

Cost Source  

£1.410m The Council’s Invest to Save Fund – 
(already approved to fund the Street 
Lighting Upgrade Scheme) 

£0.375m Application for an interest-free loan from 
the Welsh Government Salix fund 

£0.185m Capital under use (Carbon Management 
Field) 

£1.289m Re-direct under use of the Carbon Fund 
(First Carbon Plan) 

£3.259m  

 
8. REVIEW OF RESERVES 

 
The report was submitted by Cllr. Peredur Jenkins. 
It was seconded by Cllr. Mair Rowlands. 
 
DECISION 

 

1. To approve the Council’s Policy on Reserves as follows - 
 
1.1 The Council holds a number of reserves as part of its strategy to prudently 

manage resources. These reserves are used for specific purposes for the 
benefit of the communities of Gwynedd. The use of reserves supports the 



achievement of service delivery and improvements in the county, as outlined in 
the corporate strategic plan. 

 
1.2 Specific reserves (or earmarked reserves) are retained either under delegated 

authority given to chief officers, or by the Cabinet. 
 
1.3 In order to define “reserves”, it is necessary to note the treatment of 

“provisions”. Provisions are incurred in the accounts in order to settle an 
estimate of obligations arising from past events. 

 
1.4 Reserves are amounts set aside for specific purposes, or funds built up to 

meet predicted liabilities. 
 
1.5 For each reserve established, the purpose / usage (reason for creating / how it 

can be used) is defined, and the basis of transaction (which chief officer has 
delegated authority to spend) is identified.  

 
1.6 Meaningful judgements about reserves can only be made locally, and 

decisions will be taken by elected members having due regard to information 
and advice provided by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
1.7 Reserves held by individual departments or corporate reserves are used to 

smooth pressure over years (e.g. the emergency severe weather reserve for 
the Highways service). 

 
1.8 During continuing austerity, there will be an increased need for service areas 

to change and adapt to become more efficient. Efficiency schemes involve 
changes with one-off costs, and the Council’s reserves policy recognises this, 
with Departments holding balances for use in accordance with overall 
principles agreed by the Chief Finance Officer and the Cabinet. 

 
1.9 Departmental reserves will be established from resources underspent in-year, 

and the relevant Cabinet Member will oversee use of reserves on proposed 
projects. Where in-year service pressures cannot be met within departments’ 
annual budgets, then departmental reserves may be used to address the net 
pressure. 

 
1.10 Corporate reserves will be established / used by the Chief Finance Officer 

and Cabinet, based on need and planned / anticipated requirements.  
 
1.11 Unavoidable unforeseen or emergency expenditure may be financed from 

general balances, but only with Cabinet approval.  
 
1.12 The Chief Finance Officer has a personal statutory duty (under section 25 of 

the Local Government Act 2003) to ensure proper stewardship of reserves, 
hence he will undertake a continuous review of their adequacy and use. The 



annual budget report to Council will include the Chief Finance Officer’s opinion 
on reserves in the context of the medium term financial strategy. Also, 
significant amendments to reserves will be reported to the Cabinet for 
approval. 

 
1.13 External auditors review arrangements to ensure that the Council’s financial 

standing is sound, and this will include reporting on the level of reserves, in the 
context of their knowledge of the authority’s financial performance. However, it 
is not the responsibility of auditors to prescribe the optimum or minimum level 
of reserves / balances.  

 
1.14 The Council takes a risk-based approach to maintaining an adequate level of 

balances and reserves to meet future spending needs. When considering the 
annual budget and medium term financial strategy, the Council will set out its 
intention regarding the level of general balances and reserves, in the context 
of all relevant risks, provision for inflation, demography, etc. in the budget. 

 
2. Due to the significant financial challenge facing the Council during 2015/16 - 

2017/18, the Cabinet is asked to approve the sums to be yielded from various 
reserves following the review (list submitted to meeting) and to transfer £2.9m 
to the Redundancy Reserve and £1.5m to the Transformation / Invest to Save 
Fund. 

 

9. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME OF GWYNEDD COUNCIL’S CABINET – 

 QUARTER 2 2015/16  

 
The report was submitted by Cllr. Dyfrig Siencyn. 
It was seconded by Cllr. Gareth Thomas. 

 
DECISION 
 
To approve the Forward Work Programme submitted to the meeting. 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 1.00pm and concluded at 1.45pm. 
 
 
 

_________________________________________ 
 

CHAIRMAN 

 



APPENDIX 1 

1 
 

OPTIONS FOR FRONDEG HOME 
 

  Capital 
Expenditure  

Total Annual Revenue 

1 Continue with the current arrangements (10 residents) 
Undertake essential work only on the building 

 
£286,000 

 
Annual Additional Cost 

£13,000  

 Strengths 
• Consistency for the current users/families  
• Established staff who have received relevant skills and training  
• A high level of satisfaction with the current provision 

 

 Weaknesses 
• Higher costs for the Council, because it funds the accommodation element as well as care i.e. residential care rather than tenancy 
• An increasing financial risk for the Council, and not sustainable in the long term 
• Three of these rooms do not meet the requirements/standards of CSSIW (in terms of the size of the rooms) 
• Recommendations for complying with CSSIW standards state that no room which is smaller than 9.3 square metres should be used for a new 

resident. 
• If one of the current residents at Y Frondeg left, it would mean that it would not be possible to offer a room to a new resident in their place.  
• As a result of the numbers decreasing, the unit cost would increase. 
• Does not offer tenancy rights to the residents, which is fundamental for promoting their independence. 
• Does not take into consideration the increase in demand for individuals who will need supported accommodation for the future.  
• Will need to complete work in order to ensure compliance with fire regulations if we continue to use the building in the long term (Regulatory 

Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005) 
• Work on the building could disrupt the lives of the residents and staff 
• The existing model is a traditional model and does not correspond to the Welsh Government’s strategy ‘Policy and Practice for Adults with 

a Learning Disability 2007’.   

   It would be contrary to the North Wales regional strategy – the report of Mobius UK, Developing ‘Citizen Centred’ Services for People with 
Learning Disabilities (2008) 

   If the needs of any resident changed to require full nursing care, they would have to be placed elsewhere, as Y Frondeg is only registered as 
a residential home. 

 



APPENDIX 1 

2 
 

2  
Adapt Y Frondeg building to meet CSSIW requirements for 10 residents (the current number) 
 

 

£520,000 
Annual Additional Cost 

£23,000  
 

 Strengths 
• Consistency for the current users/families  
• Established staff who have received relevant skills and training  
• A high level of satisfaction with the current provision 
• Rooms complying with CSSIW regulations 

 

 Weaknesses 
 

 Does not offer tenancy rights to the residents 

 Higher costs for the Council, because it funds the accommodation element as well as care i.e. residential care rather than tenancy 

 An increasing financial risk for the Council annually 

 Does not take into consideration the increase in demand for individuals who will need supported accommodation for the future. 

 Does not give the opportunity for individuals who are living in out-of-county placements to return to live in Gwynedd.                 

 Substantial construction work on the building which could disrupt the lives of the residents and staff  

 The existing model is a traditional model and does not correspond to the Welsh Government’s strategy ‘Policy and Practice for Adults with      
               a Learning Disability 2007’. 

 It would be contrary to the North Wales regional strategy – the report of Mobius UK Developing ‘Citizen Centred’ Services for People with  
               Learning Disabilities (2008) 

 If the needs of any resident changed to require full nursing care, they would have to be placed elsewhere, as Y Frondeg is only      
              registered as a residential home. 
 

3 Make full use of the building and adapt it to meet CSSIW requirements, for 14 residents (2 
units) 
 

 
£800,000 

Annual Additional Cost 
£84,000 

 Strengths 

 Consistency for the current users/families  

 Established staff who have received relevant skills and training  

 A high level of satisfaction with the current provision 



APPENDIX 1 

3 
 

 Provides a service to four additional individuals 

 Rooms meet the requirements of CSSIW 
 

 Weaknesses 

 Higher costs for the Council, because it funds the accommodation element as well as care i.e. residential care rather than tenancy 

 An increasing financial risk for the Council annually 

 Does not offer tenancy rights to the residents 

 Substantial construction work on the building which could disrupt the lives of the residents and staff 

 Changes for the residents in terms of moving units 

 The existing model is a traditional model and does not correspond to the Welsh Government’s strategy ‘Policy and Practice for Adults with a 
Learning Disability 2007’.      

 It would be contrary to the North Wales regional strategy – the report of Mobius UK Developing ‘Citizen Centred’ Services for People with 
Learning  Disabilities (2008) 

 If the needs of any resident changed to require full nursing care, they would have to be placed elsewhere, as Y Frondeg is only      
registered as a residential home. 
 

4 Make full use of the building and adapt it to meet CSSIW requirements, 
for 14 residents in two units (includes a unit for 7 severe/complex cases ) 

 

 
£800,000 

Annual Saving 
£21,000 

 Strengths 

 Consistency for the current users/families  

 Established staff who have received relevant skills and training  

 A high level of satisfaction with the current provision 

 Provides a service to four additional individuals who have severe/complex needs 

 This options gives the opportunity for individuals who are living in out of county placements to return to live in Gwynedd, complies with the 
Winterbourne report 

 The possibility of identifying small savings in the long term 
 

      Weaknesses 

 Substantial construction work on the building which could disrupt the lives of the residents and staff 

 Changes for the residents in terms of moving units 

 A financial risk for the Council – should it not be possible to fill the units 



APPENDIX 1 

4 
 

 This option does not offer tenancy rights to the residents 

 The existing model is a traditional model and does not correspond to the Welsh Government’s strategy ‘Policy and Practice for Adults with a 
Learning Disability 2007’.      

 It would be contrary to the North Wales regional strategy – the report of Mobius UK Developing ‘Citizen Centred’ Services for People with 
Learning Disabilities (2008) 

 If the needs of any resident changed to require full nursing care, they would have to be placed elsewhere, as Y Frondeg is only      
registered as a residential home. 
 
 

5  
Develop a new Supported Accommodation model near Y Frondeg Home 
for 16 residents (6 complex cases, 10 moderate cases) 
 
 

 
£3,800,000 

 

Annual Saving 
£143,000 

 

Strengths 

 An opportunity for individuals to have a tenancy and to promote their independence, choice and control 

 Corresponds with the regional strategy (Mobius UK Developing “Citizen Centred” Services for People) and the Welsh Government’s Strategy 

 Care costs only, not the building – a Housing Association would be responsible for the maintenance element. 

 More financial autonomy for the tenants to live full, independent lives 

 Individuals would fund house-keeping costs by receiving benefits 

 Substantial financial savings for the Council by funding a new service model which enables us to support individuals with severe and complex 
needs 

 Opportunities for individuals who are living in out of county placements to return to live in Gwynedd.   

 Planning for an increase in demand in the future 

 A bilingual service corresponds with the ‘More than Words’ strategy, especially for the people who are returning from out of county 
placements. 

 The care can be targeted in order to ensure that we meet the individual’s needs rather than those of a group. 

 Makes better use of assistive technology. 

 A better opportunity to support users to reach their potential in the community 

 The current users of Y Frondeg would continue to live on the same site while the new building is being constructed 

 Corresponds with the recommendations in the Winterbourne report 

 Develop a provision for specific fields e.g. autism 



APPENDIX 1 

5 
 

 The current residents of Y Frondeg would continue to live close together  

 Boosts the local economy 

 A modern, purpose-built building which meets the needs of people with severe disabilities for the future 

 Continues to provide the care service with the existing staff 

 Employing additional staff 

 Opportunities to develop the skills and expertise of staff locally  

 The existing staff will provide stability and support for the residents through the period of change. 
 

  Weaknesses 

 The current residents of Y Frondeg home would move to a new environment   

 A financial risk for the Council – should it not be possible to fill the units 

 A risk of failing to secure planning permission 

 A risk of failing to identify a partner to develop 

 Some instability for the current residents during the transfer period 
 

6 Re-locate the current residents of Y Frondeg to a Supported Accommodation locally 
De-commission the service at the residential home 

£0 
Annual Saving 

£36,000 

 Strengths 

 A small saving for the Council 

 Corresponds with the vision of the Government, and the Regional Strategy 
 
 

 Weaknesses 

 Finding suitable homes locally would be a challenge 

 Separating the current users of Y Frondeg  – although some could move together 

 Losing the opportunity to maximise the use of assistive technology 

 Instability for the current residents during the transfer period. 
 
 

 



APPENDIX 2 

                     CONDUCTING AN EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
Impact assessment of Consultation process on the future of Y Frondeg 
 
1) AUTHOR OF ASSESSMENT   

 
Olwen Ellis Jones, Service Manager - Learning Disability, Adults, Health and 
Well-being. 
 

        
2) PARTNERS 
  

Present residents at Y Frondeg, families and staff  
Adults on Gwynedd Council Learning Disability register 
Families and Carers of children and adults with a learning disability 
Cabinet Member for Care – Cllr Gareth Roberts 
Councillor Member for Housing – Cllr Ioan Thomas 
Local Councillor Glyn Thomas (Cadnant)    
Gwynedd Council members 
Assembly and Parliamentary Members 
Learning Disability Service Improvement Group 
Caernarfon Town Council 
Advocacy Service  
Local Community 
                 
 

           
3) ASSESSMENT START DATE 

1 June 2015 

      
4) ASSESSMENT END DATE 

 
Further assessment to be undertaken when the conclusions and 
recommendations of the consultation process are submitted.  

   
5) AIMS AND OBJECTIVES OF THE SERVICE  
 

Transparency is essential in the Council’s decision making process, taking 
into account the opinion of the people who are affected by those decisions.  
 
Consider enhancing and modernising or re-modelling the residential provision 
for the future, in order to comply with Welsh Government Strategy and 
Gwynedd Council’s vision for people with a Learning Disability. 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 



APPENDIX 2 

 
6) PARTICIPATION AND CONSULTATION  

During the period leading up to the creation of the report and 
recommendation, the Council will:  
 

 Hold discussions with Council Officers, and the Advocacy Service on 
the method and timetable to consult with individuals and their families. 
 

 Develop a Consultation timetable with the key stake-holders to obtain 
their opinions regarding the options that have been identified following 
completing a Feasibility Study on the site and receiving guidance from 
the Cabinet. 
 

 Timetable the intention to consult on the potential options, and put 
arrangements in place to support the key stakeholders during the 
consultation.  

 
 
The following indicators will be in place to support stakeholders during the 
consultation: 
 

1. An information leaflet which notes the background and sets the 
situation in its context. 

2. Questionnaire on the options to receive stakeholders opinions 
3. Individual meetings with the present residents of Y Frondeg and their  

families. 
4. Independent advocacy provision available for service users 
5. Meetings with staff. 
6. Open dialogue with elected members. 
7. A Council Officer available at specific times to receive observations 

during and after the consultation. 
 
 

 
 
7) THE AVAILABLE EVIDENCE 
 

We are continuing with the direction set by the Council to improve the quality 
of life of individuals with a Learning Disability.  
 
This will be carried out by implementing Gwynedd Council’s accommodation 
model transformation programme for adults with a Learning Disability, in 
accordance with: 
 

 Learning Disability Commissioning Plan 2011-16 

 Welsh Government Strategy ‘ Policy and Practices for Adults with a 
Learning Disability’ 2007 

And the North Wales strategic vision ‘ Mobius UK Developing Citizen Centred 
Services for People with a Learning Disability 2008’ 
 



APPENDIX 2 

8) GAPS IN EVIDENCE  
 

We are seeking the opinion of all stakeholders on the Gwynedd Council’s 
Learning Disability Register, in order to ensure that there are no gaps in 
evidence. 
 

 



APPENDIX 2 

 
9) RELEVANCE AND IMPACT 
.  
 
9a) On the General Duties  

General Duties of the 
Equality Act  
 

Relevance  The actual or likely impact 

Abolishing illegal 
discrimination, harassment 
and victimisation 
 

Relevant  We would ensure that during the  consultation process there would be no 
discrimination against any of the protected characteristics.  

Promoting equal 
opportunities  
 

Relevant  The consultation process will promote equal opportunities. 

Encouraging good 
relationships 
 

Relevant  During the consultation, we would promote good relationships by encouraging 
the participation and input of various stakeholders to the process.  

 



APPENDIX 2 

 
 
10 a) On equality groups  
 

Properties Relevance  The actual or likely impact 
 

Race 
 
 

Relevant  Any literature and correspondence will be presented in Welsh or English as 
those are the first languages of the key stakeholders associated with Y 
Frondeg.   
We do not anticipate that the consultation will cause more concern to one group 
than the other.  

Disability 
 
 

Relevant  The consultation will consider the needs of users by offering an independent 
Advocacy Service for those wishing to use it and by offering information in 
alternative formats in accordance with the wishes of individuals.  
 

Gender 
 
 

Relevant  During the consultation process there will be no discrimination based on 
gender. 
We do not anticipate that the consultation will cause more concern to one group 
than the other. 

Gender reassignment  
 
 

Relevant  We do not anticipate that the consultation will cause more concern to one group 
than the other.  

Sexual orientation  
 
 

Relevant  We do not anticipate that the consultation will cause more concern to one group 
than the other.  

Religion and belief  
 
 

Relevant  We do not anticipate that the consultation will cause more concern to one group 
than the other.  

The Welsh language 
 
 

Relevant  The consultation process is bilingual: people can respond through the medium 
of Welsh or English, or a language of their choice. 
 

Age 
 
 

Relevant  During the consultation process there will be no discrimination based on age. 
 

Pregnancy and maternity  Relevant  We do not anticipate that the consultation will cause more concern to one group 
than the other.  



APPENDIX 2 

Marriage and civil 
partnership  

Relevant  We do not anticipate that the consultation will cause more concern to one group 
than the other.  



APPENDIX 2 

 
10) ADDRESSING THE IMPACT 
 

a)  Note any possible impact in terms of equality  
 
Any consultation will cause concern and uncertainty to key stakeholders. 
As a result, officers from the Adults, Health and Well-being Department 
will collaborate to put arrangements in place to support them during this 
period.   
 

b)  What steps can be taken to reduce or improve these impacts?  
 
The following indicators will be in place to support stakeholders during 
the consultation: 
 

1. An information leaflet which notes the background and sets the 
situation in its context. 

2. Information will be prepared in appropriate formats for the service 
users. 

3. Questionnaire on the options to capture stakeholders opinions 
4. Individual meetings with the present residents of y Frondeg and 

their families. 
5. Independent advocacy provision available for service users. 
6. Meetings with staff. 
7. Open dialogue with elected members. 
8. A Council Officer available at specific times to receive 

observations. 
 

c)  Is there a need to reconsider the plan?  
The equality impact assessment will be reviewed when analysing the 
results of the consultation.  

 
 
11) MONITORING AND REVIEWING ARRANGEMENTS  
 

In the period leading up to submitting the report to the Cabinet, arrangements 
to engage with stakeholders and to support them will be coordinated by the 
Service Manager Learning Disability, who reports to the Head of the Adults, 
Health and Well-being Department and the Corporate Director.  
 
Should the recommendation to commence a consultation process be 
approved, the Engagement Manager, along with relevant officers from the 
Adults, Health and Well-being Department, will collaborate to co-ordinate the 
consultation process and support key stakeholders throughout the period.   
 
The officers will report to the Accommodation Programme Board.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



APPENDIX 2 

 
12) ACTION PLAN 
 

The table noted below summarises the main actions associated with any 
consultation process.   

Main Actions  Date 

Obtain guidance and decision from 
Cabinet for formal consultation on 
future of Y Frondeg, and which 
options to consider. 

 
14 July 2015 

Consult formally on the chosen 
option(s) following Cabinet decision . 

 
September / October 2015 
 

Analyse consultation results and 
prepare a report to the Cabinet 
along with recommendations on the 
way forward. 

 
November 2015 

Submit report and recommendations  
to the Cabinet 

 
December 2015 
 

Receive guidance from the Cabinet 
on the way forward. 

 
December 2015 
 

 

 
 
13)  DECISION  
 

This assessment was accepted and approved by  
 
 

 Service Manager Learning Disability 

 Head of Adults, Health and Well-being Service 
 
 



REPORT TO THE CABINET 

14  July 2015 

 

 

Cabinet Member:     Councillor Gareth Roberts 

 

Subject:                      The future of Y Frondeg Registered Residential Home, 

Maesincla, Caernarfon and consider developing 

accommodation for adults with Learning Disabilities. 

 

Contact officer:         Olwen Ellis Jones 

 

 

Decision sought 

 

This report is presented to the Cabinet in order to gain decisions on the 

following: 

 

• Permission to undertake a formal consultation on the future of Y 

Frondeg home, and identify option 5 as the favoured option within 

the consultation.   

 

 

Local member’s views – Cllr. Glyn Thomas (Cadnant) 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to respond. For many years the residents 

of Y Frondeg have lived in accommodation that is below standard of 

living in today’s society. I believe this would be the best step forward to 

give the residents a good standard of life, also the staff to work in a 

modern environment 

 

 

 

Introduction  

 

We are continuing with the direction set by the Council, to improve the 

quality of life of individuals with a Learning Disability. This will be carried out 

by implementing Gwynedd Council’s accommodation model 

transformation programme for adults with a Learning Disability, in 

accordance with the 2011-16 Learning Disabilities Commissioning Plan 

and the Welsh Government Strategy – ‘Policy and Practices for Adults with 

a Learning Disability’ 2007, which notes: 

 



Everyone who has learning disabilities is a complete citizen; they are 

equal with other citizens of the same age in terms of status and value.  

They have the same rights to:  

• live healthy, productive and independent lives and to develop to 

their full potential; 

• be individuals who make their own decisions on day to day matters  

• live their lives within their community. 

 

The North Wales Strategic vision: ‘Mobius UK Developing ‘Citizen Centred’ 

Services for People with Learning Disabilities (2008)’ gives a similar 

message: 

 

‘Propose reducing the use of residential and nursing home care; and an 

increase in the use of community living schemes, but with significant 

changes to how such schemes are managed.’ 

 

In North Wales, our vision for the future is that people with a learning 

disability will have a better lifestyle locally, where they feel safe and 

healthy, have access to effective personal support which promotes 

independence, choice and control. 

 

There is a need for a different model of care in order to respond to the 

needs of existing and future users as well as responding to the national 

strategy. 

 

Reasons for recommending the decision 

 

The current accommodation at Y Frondeg is a traditional model, which 

does not comply with CSSIW regulations, and does not conform to the 

Wales Strategy, and Gwynedd Council’s vision. The current situation is not 

sustainable for the future. 

 

The Council has a responsibility to secure the best facilities possible for 

present and future service users.  It is important that the facilities are of the 

highest standard possible, comply with the principles of the Learning 

Disability Strategy, are cost effective and sustainable for the future. 

Consideration also needs to be given to the financial challenges facing 

Gwynedd Council. 

 

Six options have been identified (see Appendix 1.) 

 

The first 4 options presented offer various adaptations to the current 

building at Y Frondeg, despite significant expenditure, these options to not 

comply with the Welsh Strategy and the Council’s long term vision. 



 

Whilst option 5 and 6 conform to the Strategy and Council vision, option 5 

offers a modern, purpose built provision for present and future service 

users. Option 5 responds to the financial challenges facing Cyngor 

Gwynedd. 

 

The main stakeholders, namely the residents of Y Frondeg, their families 

and the staff have been part of an engagement process in order for them 

to have an opportunity to add or propose different options to be included 

in this report. 

 

The stakeholders have not been asked formally to give observations as 

yet. There will be an opportunity to give observations and voice opinion if 

the Cabinet asks the service to consult formally on the future of Y Frondeg 

home and the way forward regarding new developments on the site. 

 

The service users, their families and the staff of Y Frondeg were asked to 

respond by 10 June 2015. A positive feedback was received from those 

who had responded stating that the options noted were comprehensive, 

and no different options were proposed. 

 

Further work has been undertaken noting the advantages and 

disadvantages of the six options.  (This work is included in Appendix 1.) 

 

 

Relevant considerations 

 

Based on the analysis of the six options up to now, it is apparent that 

option 5   is in accordance with the Strategy and the Council vision and 

provides the most benefits. (See Appendix 1) It is therefore recommended 

that option 5 is identified as the favoured option for consultation. 

 

The consultation will be with a range of stakeholders to include service 

users, their families and carers. Appropriate support will be offered as 

required, to include advocacy service. 

 

The final decision on the future provision at Y Frondeg will not be made 

until the results of the consultation have been received and evaluated by 

the Cabinet. 

 

The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on the Council to evaluate the effect 

of the decision on individuals and groups affected. A comprehensive 

Equality Assessment will be drawn up during and following the assessment, 



and will be part of the report and recommendations to the Cabinet in 

order to make a decision on the way forward. 

 

Next steps and timetable 

 

Timetable for consultation, analysis and submitting the findings to the 

Cabinet  

 

Consultation –September and October 2015 

Analysis – November 2015 

Report to the Cabinet – December 2015 

 

 

 

Views of the statutory officers 

 

The Chief Executive: 

As the report suggests, there is a clear need to improve the provision for 

individuals who have learning difficulties in Caernarfon.  By now, this 

requires a different care model which is more suitable for modern times. 

 

The Head of Finance has addressed the financial issues connected with 

the development in his remarks and the investment, and the repayment 

period for that investment has been highlighted there.  The decision of the 

Cabinet at this time is an important step in the process which will require 

further consultation on those options which the Cabinet wishes to be 

addressed in the consultation.   

 

 

The Monitoring Officer:  

The report identifies the need to review the provision at Y Frondeg and 

includes information on the range of options which have been assessed. 

When undertaking a consultation of this kind a favoured option may be 

identified in order to highlight the Councils initial views on the situation 

and the possible directions. Nevertheless it is also a requirement when 

conducting a consultation that this takes place when options are under 

consideration and that the results of the exercise form part of the 
considerations when coming to a final decision on the way forward. 

 

The Head of Finance Department: 

 

I confirm that due consideration has been given to the relevant business 

case and there are obvious financial advantages to choosing Option 5, 



with savings of £143,000 of the investment as prudent assessment.  We 

must venture in order to ensure savings, and this will require substantial 

capital investment by Gwynedd Council to develop a new supported 

accommodation close to Cartref Y Frondeg, and there is a financial risk 

involved. 

   

Achieving the savings will depend on the Learning Disabled Service filling 

the new units (16 places in all, with 10 already in Y Frondeg).  Doubtless 

the Cabinet will want to ask the Adult Section to take appropriate steps to 

reduce the risk of empty spaces.  Also, because the asset will be owned 

by our 'partner' in the venture, an investigation should be made into the 

possibility of a legal charge on the property to ensure its proper use as a 

condition of the 'grant' to the 'partner’. 

 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – List of Options for Y Frondeg 

Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment  



CABINET REPORT 

14th July 2015 

 

Cabinet Member: 

 

Councillor Peredur Jenkins 

Subject: 

 

The Ffordd Gwynedd Strategy 

Contact Officer: Dilwyn Williams, Chief Executive 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

The resolution sought 

 

To adopt the Strategy. 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

Views of the local member 

 

Not a local issue. 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Background 

 

1. I wish to present the Ffordd Gwynedd Strategy for adoption by the Council’s 

Cabinet.   In doing so, it is worth noting that the Corporate Scrutiny 

Committee at its meeting on 11th June, 2015 welcomed the strategy.   The 

Committee’s comments can be seen as an appendix to this report. 

 

2. In submitting the Strategy, you will note that the milestones for all the projects 

are incorporated within the appendices.   These are the milestones that the 

Delivery Panels will be monitoring to ensure that the expected progress for 

each project is achieved. 

 

3. One of the largest projects within the programme is “Implementing Ffordd 

Gwynedd”, changing culture and using the “systems thinking” way of 

working within the Council’s service units.   As a result of the current finance 

earmarked for this project, we are able to second 3 senior officers on a 

temporary basis for training purposes and to assist with the conduct of 

reviews.  This means that we could aim at completing approximately 22 

reviews by 2018/19.  But if we were able to second a further 6 senior officers 

(i.e. one from each department) then we could aim at completing 31 

reviews by the end of 2019/beginning of 2020 (and further increase the 

number of reviews being conducted thereafter).    It should be stressed that 

this is an estimated figure as it is difficult to forecast at present the exact time 

it would take to carry out each review.  There would be an additional cost of 

£150k for doing so but we could aim to increase the number of reviews from 

43%. 

 



4. In considering this issue in the context of the Strategic Plan, the Cabinet 

asked me to establish whether it would be possible to meet this cost from 

current earmarked reserves.  I shall report on this issue orally at the meeting. 

 

5. The Cabinet is asked to adopt the Strategy and to consider the benefits of 

the additional investment so as to increase the number of reviews we could 

complete over the next few years. 

 ________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The views of the Statutory Officers 

 

Chief Executive: 

Report author 

 

Monitoring Officer: 

No comments to add in terms of propriety. 

 

Head of Finance Department: 

I note that the cost of ‘backfilling’ some of the secondments under consideration 

has already been funded.   Also, having considered the level of some specific 

funds and the relevant commitments, and after discussing with the Chief Executive, 

I can confirm that there is a way of funding the additional ‘backfilling’ cost of 

£150,000 from reserves which the Chief Executive is responsible for, together with 

other funds previously ear-marked for Ffordd Gwynedd. 

 

 

Appendices: 

1. Minute of the Corporate Scrutiny Committee held on 11 06 15 

2. Ffordd Gwynedd Draft Strategy 

 



CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 11.06.15 

 1 

 

 

 

CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 11.06.15 

 
 

6. FFORDD GWYNEDD STRATEGY 
 Cabinet Member: Councillor Peredur Jenkins 

 

 Submitted – the report of the Cabinet Member for Resources inviting the committee’s 
observations on the latest version of the draft Strategy prior to submitting the final draft to 
the Cabinet for formal adoption. 

 
 The Cabinet Member set the context and a presentation was given by the Chief Executive 

which addressed several questions which had been raised at the Preparatory Meeting on 
23 April in relation to:- 

 

• The meaning of Ffordd Gwynedd 

• The general ambition of the Council for Ffordd Gwynedd, and was it achievable 
and realistic.  

• The adequacy of the resources in place and the capacity to realise the Ffordd 
Gwynedd Strategy vision and to implement it. 

• The likelihood that Ffordd Gwynedd would succeed. 

• Evidence that Ffordd Gwynedd had succeeded to improve services for residents 
and secure financial savings in the two pilot schemes in the fields of homelessness 
and property. 

• Methods of securing commitment and understanding across the Council to realise 
Ffordd Gwynedd.  

• The performance measures which could be put in place in order to ensure the 
change of culture within the Council. 

• Formal / informal engagement with stakeholders. 
 

Members were given an opportunity to ask further questions and offer their observations.   
During the discussion, the Cabinet Member and the Chief Executive responded to 
questions / observations regarding:- 

 

• How the Strategy would be intertwined with the concept of Managing Demand and 
the Savings Strategy? 

• The method of disseminating Ffordd Gwynedd down and across the 
establishment. 

• How Ffordd Gwynedd responded to legislation and the requirements of Welsh 
Government and various external bodies and was this Council brave enough to be 
reprimanded in order to keep the residents of Gwynedd happy? 

• The challenge of getting people to behave differently. 

• The feeling that the statement ‘Putting the People of Gwynedd at the Heart of 
Everything’ was a significant challenge because every area had strong voices 
which had their own agendas. 

• Lessons learned from the pilot schemes. 
 
 The committee’s desire to see the Ffordd Gwynedd Strategy succeeding was expressed, 

and it was noted that one of the most important points arising from the discussion was the 
question of risk and the need to equip all staff, from the top down, to practise common 
sense and to have the confidence to take small risks which might bring large rewards. 



CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 11.06.15 

 2 

 

 
 Concern was expressed that only half the committee members were present to participate 

in this discussion. The staff had committed to these changes and it was extremely 
important that they and the Leadership Team were given appropriate support by the 
members also. 

 
 The Cabinet Member and the Chief Executive were thanked for the discussion.  
 



1. What is Ffordd Gwynedd?

Ffordd Gwynedd is the name given to the “way” we
in Gwynedd Council will ensure that we place the
people of Gwynedd central to everything we do.

It is neither a process nor a theory, rather a collection
of working arrangements, behaviours and a culture
which, together, allow us to be confident that we
always place the people of Gwynedd central to
everything we do.

2. Why is this strategy needed?

As a body which exists to serve the people of
Gwynedd, our culture and working arrangements
should ensure that those people are at the heart of
everything we do. 

A large number of the Council's staff would consider
that we already do this.  However, there is
considerable evidence that suggests that this is not
always the case. 

However, very often this is not the fault of the staff.

The majority of the Council staff work hard to try to
achieve things that are of benefit to the people of
Gwynedd. However, things happen in their day to day
work which prevent them from realising this desire –
things which derive from working procedures and
arrangements developed over many years which have
been established for various reasons.

The Council's culture has also led us think at time that
we know better and not to consider what the real
needs of our residents are.

If we are going to ask the staff to really place the
people of Gwynedd central to everything we do, we
must ensure that we have the right conditions within
the Council to allow this to happen.

This means creating a culture which is consistent with
this objective and which tirelessly eliminates those
barriers which prevent our workforce from doing this.

It must be stressed that placing the people of
Gwynedd central to everything we do is not the same
as saying that we will satisfy everyone’s wishes. The
Council must work within significant financial
constraints and we cannot meet everyone’s
expectations.

However, within the resources we have, we should
ensure that every penny is spent to maximise the
value created for the people of Gwynedd and those
things that are important to them. The starting point
of all of this is to consider everything through the
eyes of the people of Gwynedd rather than through
the eyes of the establishment and its staff.

PUTTING THE PEOPLE OF GWYNEDD AT THE CENTRE OF EVERYTHING WE DO
FFORDD
GWYNEDD

June 2015

FFORDD
GWYNEDD
FFORDD
GWYNEDD



In the current financial climate, which is likely to last
for an extended period, Local Government will
receive much less money and this means that, if we
are going to be able to continue to ensure that the
most needy are looked after, we will also have to look
for other methods of achieving the requirements of
the people of Gwynedd.  

The people of Gwynedd must also face the fact that if
we are to continue to deliver those services which are
of the highest priority to them, then they must also
be willing to accept different methods of meeting
their needs – maybe even by asking some cohorts to
meet their own needs with different support from
the Council or from other organisations.

Many will object to these changes (change is never
popular) but it is an essential element of placing the
people of Gwynedd central ensuring that the value
gained from every pound spent delivers the greatest
possible benefits. 

3. What needs to be in place in order to
realise the vision?

All of this starts by understanding the basic business
model that the Council should be working to.

This business model can be summarised as follows -

PUTTING THE PEOPLE OF GWYNEDD AT THE CENTRE OF EVERYTHING WE DO
FFORDD
GWYNEDD



It starts by defining what requirements any service
team is providing for the people of Gwynedd (namely,
defining the "purpose" of the team); defining what is
important to the people of Gwynedd in meeting that
need; and then establishing which measures indicate
how good they are at achieving that purpose.

Teams should then be continually aiming to find ways
of improving their performance on those measures. 

Due to the significant financial constraints we are
facing, service teams will also have to consider
whether there are ways of preventing those needs
from arising in the first place (perhaps by investing
earlier and in preventative services) in order to
reduce the “needs” we are required to provide for
and in doing so ensuring that the resources we have
can serve more people.

When the time comes to prioritise the requirements
to be met, this will be a matter for the Council's
elected members.

However, an understanding of the business model
shown above and attempting to implement it in itself
will not be adequate. Ensuring that we place the
people of Gwynedd central to everything we do
means having a culture and working arrangements
within the Council which reiterate our ability to
realise that wish.

4. Ensuring appropriate working
arrangements and culture

A change in culture will not happen overnight and,
reaching the end of the journey will undoubtedly take
time. What is important is that we start on that
journey and assess from time to time whether we are
on the right track and how far we have travelled.

Several discussion sessions have been held with
members, managers and staff to assess what the
weaknesses are perceived in responding to the needs
of our residents.

In addition, an assessment was undertaken of the
existing governance arrangements (whilst preparing
for the Annual Governance Statement).

We also experimented with the Systems Thinking
concept as a method of ensuring that we focus on
genuinely meeting needs.

These experiences, along with the assessments
undertaken, led to the conclusion that the following
need to be in place,  if we are to succeed in having an
appropriate culture in order to realise our ambition. 

We must have -

PUTTING THE PEOPLE OF GWYNEDD AT THE CENTRE OF EVERYTHING WE DO
FFORDD
GWYNEDD



5. How will we achieve all of this? 

Past experience has shown that it is not through
training sessions and lecturing staff that we will
ensure that these elements fall into place.

We must have a development framework which
ensures that there is an opportunity for services to
reflect on what they are doing and to ask the
fundamental question "Are we placing the people of
Gwynedd at the heart of everything?"  

This framework must equip teams with the necessary
skills to be able to reflect on that, whilst also giving
appropriate support and assistance to implement any

necessary changes and offer continuous challenge
throughout the process to ensure that it happens.

Project No. 1 will do this.  This is the cornerstone
which will attempt to root the mind-set and relevant
behaviours within every service unit in the Council.  

It is an enormous task as we are trying to transform
decades of practices but it is only through this
method that we will be able to attempt to ensure
that the necessary behaviour change is rooted
together with enabling the workforce.

PUTTING THE PEOPLE OF GWYNEDD AT THE CENTRE OF EVERYTHING WE DO
FFORDD
GWYNEDD

Leadership
that highlights

the importance of
Ffordd Gwynedd and

maintains the
vision.

Managers who
are “in work”

empowering and equipping
staff to meet the needs of

customers and look for methods
of deviating the demand for
services; understanding the

needs of customers and
getting rid of

barriers.

Staff
that are

empowered to work
flexibly to address

customers' needs and to
go after opportunities to

eliminate demand for
services;

Suitable
Engagement

arrangements  to
ensure that we do the

right things in terms of
what matters to the

people of Gwynedd and
prioritising our

resources.

A
performance

framework  that
measures whether we
meet the needs of the

people of Gwynedd and
offer them value for

money.

➢

Service
provision

arrangements  that
create value for
the customer.

Policies that
promote supporting
meeting customer
needs rather than

creating
obstacles;

Employment
Arrangements

that equip staff and
reinforce behaviours to

place the people of
Gwynedd

central.

Governance
arrangements

that base decisions
on the basis of firm

evidence of the effect
on the people of

Gwynedd. 

FFORDD GWYNEDD

PUTTING
THE PEOPLE OF

GWYNEDD
CENTRAL TO
EVERYTHING

WE DO 



In itself, it will not be enough, however, as other
elements as noted above must pull in the same
direction if we are to succeed.

There is also a possibility that we have missed
something and we must be aware of this as we go on
the journey and change the strategy as and when
required.

There is one certainty; we must be uncompromising
about the implementation of this strategy, or it will
fail.  It is not enough to say that we will be
implementing it, our behaviours must support that.

6. Work Programme

The following notes the projects we will be
undertaking in order to ensure that we create an
appropriate culture within the Council and notes
which element of the circle above they will address.

An outline of the time table is also provided in
Appendix 1

Project 1 - Implementing Ffordd Gwynedd

The “Implementing Ffordd Gwynedd” project will
have two work streams

The first will be to immerse all Council managers in
the basic principles of Ffordd Gwynedd to ensure that
they have an understanding of the relevant concepts
and what they can do to disseminate the mind-set in
their units.  However, raising awareness in itself will
not lead to success. 

The second work stream will involve implementing a
programme which will equip service teams to be able
to reflect on their existing working arrangements;
challenge whether they are placing the people of
Gwynedd centrally, and consider whether there is
room for improvement; ensuring that every service
has the opportunity to implement the programme.

It is anticipated that this will involve a series of joint
learning sessions at work which will equip managers
and staff to:-

➢ Look at the service provided through the eyes
of the citizen every time.

➢ Agree together how best to go about things in
order to provide what is important to our
people.

➢ Challenge working methods which do not help
to deliver for our people.

➢ Be willing to experiment (with clear success
measures) in order to improve services.

➢ Take advantage of the opportunities provided
to suggest how services can be improved.

➢ Ensure a continuous dialogue between
managers and staff to see how managers can
help staff to do their work better and take
advantage of staff knowledge to improve
services.

➢ Ensure that the Unit’s performance ownership
is in everyone's hands (not just the managers).

➢ Ensure that performance information is used
to improve the service.

PUTTING THE PEOPLE OF GWYNEDD AT THE CENTRE OF EVERYTHING WE DO FFORDD
GWYNEDD

Managers who
are in work

empowering staff to meet
the needs of customers and

look for methods of deviating
the demand for services;

understanding the needs of
customers and getting

rid of barriers.

Staff
that are

empowered to work
flexibly to address

customers' needs and to
pursue opportunities to
eliminate demand for

services.



➢ Create a culture of continuous improvements
in the interests of the people of Gwynedd.

➢ Assess the roles required to deliver for our
people effectively

➢ Look for opportunities to ensure that the
demand for service is deviated.

Project 2 - Leaders’ Development Programme

The Leaders’ Development
Programme Project will ensure

that leaders within Gwynedd
Council understand the
principles of "Ffordd
Gwynedd"; that they are
aware of what they need to

do in order to reiterate the
“Ffordd Gwynedd” principles

through all tiers of the
establishment and that they are equipped to do so.

Project 3 - Engagement Strategy 

The Engagement Strategy
Project will ensure that

there is appropriate
support available to
help service teams and
members to improve
the Council's

engagement
arrangements whilst

ensuring that priority is
given to those priority fields

within the Strategic Plan.   

Project 4 - Implementing a Performance Framework

The Implementing a Performance Framework project
will develop and install a new

performance framework
which will ensure that
service teams measure
what matters to the
people of Gwynedd and
will use those indicators

to improve performance
and that the reporting

procedure will add value by

holding services to account.

Project 5 - Review of opening hours

The Review of Opening Hours Project will engage
with the people of Gwynedd to see
whether there is demand for
different opening hours and
consider whether this can be
realised within the financial
constraints.

Project 6 - Extending the use of
self-service

The Extending the Use of Self-Service project will
establish which fields we should be targeting to use
Information Technology to extend the use of self-
service in order to make it easier to access the
services with consideration of the benefits and cost
of doing so and realising the established business
plan. 

Project 7 - Change Management Arrangements

The Change Management Arrangements project will
assess where there is a need to strengthen our
change management arrangements and putting in
place  a programme to resolve this in order to achieve
the necessary changes.

Project 8 - Information Technology Strategy

The Information Technology Strategy will create a
strategy and work programme in order
to realise that strategy, which
will maximise the use of
information technology to
assist the Council's
workforce to deliver for the
people of Gwynedd in the
context of the financial
climate ahead.

Project 9 - The EDRMS Project will put a system in
place which will reduce our dependency on
paper and will save us time and costs.

PUTTING THE PEOPLE OF GWYNEDD AT THE CENTRE OF EVERYTHING WE DO FFORDD
GWYNEDD

Suitable
engagement

arrangements  to
ensure that we do the

things that matter to the
people of Gwynedd and
where to prioritise our

resources.

A
performance

framework that
measures whether we
meet the needs of the

people of Gwynedd and
offer them value for

money.

Service
provision

arrangements
that create value

for the
customer.

Policies that
support the

achievement of
customer needs

rather than creating
barriers.

Leadership
that highlights

the importance of
Ffordd Gwynedd and

maintains the
vision.



Integrating public services - Thus far, the efforts to
collaborate have had little impact. In order to
respond to this, we will establish the following
project - 

Project 10 - Redefining the role and remit of the
Gwynedd Local Services Board.

The Redefining the role and remit of the Gwynedd
Local Services Board project will

ensure that we undertake a
review of the role and remit
of the Local Services Board
ensuring that its activities
add value to the people of
Gwynedd for the future.

The Governance Statement
published by the Council in

Summer 2014 identifies several governance risks
which need to be addressed, with the following
identified as very high risks which need addressing - 

The Council’s Values - There is not much evidence
that the Council’s values are embedded as we would
have wished amongst Council staff and members.
Discussions with staff have highlighted that there are
other factors which are more important than values.
Project 1 above will be a method of responding to
this risk.

The “Achievement“ Framework - Lack of ownership
of performance information and its use for
improvement.  There is a need to be clearer about
what is management information and what is
performance indicator.  Project 4 above will be a

method of responding to this risk.

Engagement - The Council’s engagement
arrangements are not as good as they should be for
the new climate that lies ahead.  Project 3 above will
respond to this risk.

Project 11 - Information Governance 

As a result of recent failures, there is an element of
evidence that we need to improve our information
management arrangements.  Project no. 11 will be a
method of doing this.

Employment arrangements - No specific projects
have been identified at present for this field;
however, there are implications
deriving from Project No. 1
which will mean that there
will be work streams
within that project to
adapt our recruitment,
appraisal and induction
arrangements in line with
what will be needed as part of
that project.

PUTTING THE PEOPLE OF GWYNEDD AT THE CENTRE OF EVERYTHING WE DO
FFORDD
GWYNEDD

Governance
arrangements

that make decisions
on the basis of firm

evidence of the effect
on the people of

Gwynedd.

Employment
Arrangements

that equip staff and
reinforce behaviours to

place the people of
Gwynedd at the

centre.



7 Resources

In terms of resources, the Council has already
provided a resource to be able to achieve Project 1
and we have reiterated this by creating a Special
Programme Leader post for a period of three years in
order to ensure that we achieve the necessary
changes.

Therefore, it is anticipated that it can be achieved to a
specific level without the need for further funding in
addition to what is already available; however, we
cannot be certain that no other requirements will
arise in the future.

The Council must consider any further needs that
could arise in the future based on their merits and
the financial situation at the time. 

It is questionable whether the existing resource
provided reflects the Council’s ambition.

It is recommended that the existing resource is
adequate to embed the principles in 21 service units
by the end of 2018/19. With a further one-off
investment of £150,000 this could be increased to 31.

8 How will we know if we have succeeded? 

At the end of the day, the success of Ffordd Gwynedd
will be a situation where individuals' experiences,
when they come into contact with the Council will be
positive ones that will meet their needs. In order for
this to happen, we must have services which can

show that they respond to what is important by
showing that they know what is important to the
people of Gwynedd; that they have appropriate
measures to show how well they respond to these
matters and can show that they have arrangements in
place to identify barriers and can respond in order to
get rid of those barriers.

The aim is for every Service Unit in the Council to
define clearly what needs they meet and the
measures which prove how well they meet those
needs (in line with the business model noted in
section 2 above). The true success of this strategy will
then be the assurances that those measures are in
place and that we see those measures improving.

In order to give an element of assurance that service
units within the Council work to these principles and
follow working arrangements and behaviours which
will allow this to improve for the future, it is intended
to establish a Ffordd Gwynedd charter mark.

We will, therefore, be measuring the following as an
indicator of success

• Percentage of business units within the
Council which have received a Ffordd
Gwynedd charter mark.

• Percentage of measures established when
following the route of Project 1 which shows
improvement.

Within a period of two years, we will undertake a
formal review of progress against the objective.

PUTTING THE PEOPLE OF GWYNEDD AT THE CENTRE OF EVERYTHING WE DO FFORDD
GWYNEDD



Project Number 1: Implement Ffordd Gwynedd (Programme underway which will equip service 

teams to reflect on their current working arrangements and challenge whether they are placing the 

people of Gwynedd at the centre of everything.) 

Main Milestones By the end of   

Start to train ANO and three further advisors on the 

internal system. 

 

Quarter 2 2015  

Assess lessons to be learned from the Support Unit 

service review (Review 3) 

 

Quarter 3 2015  

Hold a review of the continuous benefits of what is 

happening in Maintenance (Review 1) 

  

Quarter 3 2015  

Start a review in the Education Department (Review 6) Quarter 2 2015  

 

Start service reviews amongst one further unit. (Review 

7) 

 

Quarter 3 2015  

Consider what is happening within Homelessness 

(Review 2) and the lessons to be learned. 

 

Quarter 3 2015  

Complete and assess the results of the Support Unit 

Service review (Review 3) 

 

Quarter 4 2015  

Define and establish the proposed charter mark 

 

Quarter 4 2015  

Assess results and lessons to be learned from Review 5 

(programmed maintenance) 

 

Quarter 4 2015  

Start to train three further advisors on the internal 

system. 

 

Quarter 1 2016  

Complete and assess the results of review 7. 

 

Quarter 2 2016  

Assess lessons to be learned and the results of the 

Alltwen Unit experiment (Review 4) 

 

Quarter 2 2016   

Start service reviews amongst one further unit. 

  

Quarter 2 2016  

Hold a review and progress in Review 6 Education 

Department. 

 

Quarter 3 2106  

Start to train three further advisors on the internal 

system. 

  

 

Quarter 4 2016  

Complete and assess the results of reviews 8, 9, 10, 11 

and 12. 

 

Quarter 1 2017  

Start service reviews amongst eight further units 

(Reviews 13,14,15,16,17,18,19 and 20). 

 

Quarter 2 2017   



 

Complete and assess the results of reviews of Units 13, 

14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19 and 20. 

 

Quarter 1 2018  

Start reviews of Units 21 – 31. 

 

Quarter 2 2018   

Hold a review of the programme as a whole to see 

whether it has led to the expected results. 

 

Quarter 3 2018  

 

 

Index of Ffordd Gwynedd Reviews 

 

1. Responsive Maintenance 

2. Homelessness  

3. Support Services 

4. Social Care (Alltwen)  

5. Programmed Maintenance  

6. Education  

7. Highways and Municipal 



Project Number 1b: Implement Ffordd Gwynedd (Programme underway which will develop 

managers and staff to the new roles in order for them to put the people of Gwynedd at the centre of 

everything) 

Main Milestones By the end of   

Complete Phase 3 – How are we doing? 

At the end of this phase we will have managers who 

•         emphasise the importance of identifying the needs 

of their users 

•         are aware of the purpose of their services 

•         have a series of measures which measure how well 

the services meet their purposes 

•         have the ability to analyse and interpret the 

performance measures data 

 and teams which  

•         are aware of the importance of identifying the 

needs of their users 

•         have contributed to finding the purpose and 

measures of their services  

•         are aware of their performance 

Quarter 3 2015  

Complete Phase 4 – Give it a go? 

At the end of this phase we will have managers who 

•         are aware of the team’s performance and discuss 

how to improve it with them regularly 

•         have empowered their staff with a number of 

responsibilities 

•         promote and support innovations, 

experimentation and lead on learning from experiences  

•         are proactive in filling developmental gaps  

 and teams which  

•         are aware of the performance of their Service by 

taking ownership of their measures 

•         discuss how to improve performance with their 

teams 

•         understand the level of decisions within their 

ability and implement that 

•         innovate, experiment and learn from experiences 

Quarter 2 2016   

Complete Phase 5 – How did it go? 

At the end of this phase we will have managers who 

•         assist their teams to assess the impact of 

changing implementation methods  

•         lead people 

and teams which 

•         assess the impact of changing implementation 

methods 

Quarter 1 2017  

Complete Phase 6 - Our way of working 

At the end of this phase we will have managers who 

•         fulfill the role in full 

and teams which  

•         fulfill the role in full 

Quarter 4 2017  

 



Project Number 2: Developing Leaders Programme (Programme created and implemented which 

will equip Leaders within Gwynedd Council to play their part to support the new culture) 

 

 

Ensure Insights profiles for every Head of 

Department 

 

Quarter 1 2015  

Hold a feedback meeting on the findings of the 

profiles with every Head of Department  

 

Quarter 1 2015  

Establish appraisal arrangements for the Heads 

of Departments/Management Team 

 

Quarter 1 2015  

Hold initial appraisal with Heads of 

Departments/Management Team  

 

Quarter 2 2015  

Coaching Meeting - Heads of 

Departments/Management Team 

 

Quarter 2 2015  

Review development needs of Cabinet members 

 

Quarter 3 2015  

Hold a 360 exercise for all Heads of 

Departments/Management Team 

 

Quarter 3 2015  

Provide individual feedback on the results of the 

360 and hold a coaching meeting 

 

Quarter 3 2015  

 

Hold a review of the appraisal with all Heads of 

Departments/Management Team 

 

Quarter 3 2015  

Establish and hold “Action Learning Sets” based 

on the findings of the feedback and reviews 

(with a facilitator) 

i) Management Group  

ii) Cabinet 

 

Quarter 4 2016  

Annual appraisal meeting (to include a review of 

training and development needs) 

 

Quarter 4 2016  

 

Hold focus groups amongst members of the 

Management Group and Cabinet as part of 

developing the engagement plan  

 

Quarter 1 2016  

Review progress and success of leadership 

development arrangements  

 

Quarter 2 2016  

Appraisal meeting with all Heads of 

Departments/Management Team 

 

Quarter 2 2016  

Introduce and hold “master-classes” based on 

the findings of the feedback and focus groups. 

Quarter 3 2016  



(themes arising from this reviews)  

 

Individual appraisal review for all Heads of 

Departments/Management Team 

 

Quarter 3 2016  

 



 

Project 3 and 7: Consultation and Supporting Change  (Order in place to ensure appropriate support for 

Service teams and members  to improve the Council’s consultation arrangements.)  

 

Milestones By end of 

Establish a process of logging all of the Council’s engagement activities to 

avoid duplication of work. 

 

Quarter 2 2015 

Raise departments’ awareness of corporate support available to facilitate 

their engagement activities. 

 

Quarter 2 2015 

Establish an understanding on how to extend the use of new communication 

platforms (social media sites). 

 

Quarter 2 2015 

Develop a library of good practice consultation examples in order to 

promote an effective consultation culture across the Council. 

 

Quarter 3 2015 

Review the Corporate Consultation Handbook and the practical tool box.  

 

Quarter 4 2015 

 

Amend the Corporate Consultation Handbook and the practical tool box on 

following theReview. 

 

Quarter  1 2016 

Promote the newly transformed handbook and tool box by hosting practical  

training sessions according to requirements.  Arrange focus groups assess 

the usefulness and worth of handbook.  

 

Quarter  2 2016 

React locally to proposals by the Equality Commission and Human Rights on 

the consultation arrangement within local authorities. 

 

Quarter  2 2016 

Review members’ roles and their satisfaction on the consultation 

arrangements following the Democratic Services Committee. 

 

Quarter  3 2016 

Make use of the Council’s Internal Communication Departments to raise 

awareness and celebrate good practice within the consultation field – video 

clips of case studies, category for effective  consultation at  the Council at  

It’s Best awards etc.  

 

Quarter  3 2016 

Review the arrangements and support for the Facilitators Group 

 

Quarter  3 2016 

Review the Supporting Change arrangements  

 

Quarter  4 2016 

 

 

 

 



Project Number 4: Implementation of Performance System (Develop and implement a performance 

system which ensures that service teams measure what is important to the people of Gwynedd and 

use the measures to improve). 

  

Managers’ Colleges – Stage 3 have been held Quarter 2 2015-16  

Performance Module Training underway Quarter 3 2015-16  

The Council’s measures series showing change to 

better reflect what is important to the people of 

Gwynedd 

Quarter 1 2016-17  

Project reporting arrangements and Cabinet 

Members’ measures are embedded 

Quarter 3 2016-17  

Performance overview report of all Council 

services are presented four times a year to the 

Cabinet 

Quarter 4 2016-17  

  

Project Number 5: Review of Opening Hours (Establish whether there is demand for different 

opening hours and whether this can be realised within the financial constraints) 

  

  

Project Number 6: Extend the use of self-service (Establish in which fields the principle should be 

extended; create a business case for it and implement) 

  

Project Number 7: Arrangements for Supporting Change  

  

  

Project Number 8: Information Technology Strategy (Create a strategy and work programme in 

order to maximise the use of information technology to assist the Council’s workforce to deliver) 

  

Project Number 9: EDRMS (Implement the EDRMS system in order to reduce the departments’ 

dependency on paper and save on effort and costs as a result). 

  

  

Project Number 10: Redefine the role and remit of the Gwynedd Local Services Board (Ensure that 

a review of the role and remit of the Local Services Board is held to ensure that it adds value for the 

future)  

  

  

 



Project Number 6: Extend the use of self-service (Establish in which fields the principle should be 

extended; create a business case for it and implement) 

Main Milestones By the end of   

Present a business case to combine the Council’s 

communication channels 

 

Quarter 1 2015 / 16  

Receive approval of the business case 

 

Quarter 2 2015 / 16  

Establish a team which includes three new 

resources and divert half the time of a technical 

leader 

  

Quarter 2 2015 / 16  

Establish the core system which will be the basis 

to the solution 

 

Quarter 3 2015 / 16  

Quarter 4 2015 / 16  

Collect statistics on service use in the following 

fields: 

• General complaints  

• School meals grants 

• School uniforms grants 

• School admission register 

• Application for free transport 

• Enquiries about protected trees 

• Building Control 

 

Quarter 3 2015 / 16  

Collect statistics on service use in the following 

fields: 

• Trading Standards 

• Applications for grants (Economy and 

Community) 

• Freedom of Information Requests 

• Housing register applications 

• Adults enquiries and assessments 

Quarter 4 2015 / 16  

“General complaints” solution to go live on the 

re-launch of the Gwynedd digital channel 

Quarter 4 2015 / 16  

Implement agile development programme which 

will introduce several services along the 

communication channels.  Agile programme will 

be two weeks long, and will be a series of six 

agile runs with a week of reflection.   

Quarter 1 2016 / 17  

Implement agile development programme which 

will introduce several services along the 

communication channels.  Agile programme will 

be two weeks long, and will be a series of six 

agile runs with a week of reflection.   

Quarter 2 2016 / 17  

Implement agile development programme which 

will introduce several services along the 

communication channels.  Agile programme will 

be two weeks long, and will be a series of six 

agile runs with a week of reflection.   

Quarter 3 2016 / 17  



Implement agile development programme which 

will introduce several services along the 

communication channels.  Agile programme will 

be two weeks long, and will be a series of six 

agile runs with a week of reflection.   

Quarter 4 2016 / 17  

Approximately 18 services introduced on the 

communication channels. 

Quarter 4 2016 / 17  

A “wait and review” period.  Assess whether the 

solutions introduced reach the expected aim and 

adapt as required. 

Quarter 4 2016 / 17  

Implement agile development programme which 

will introduce several services along the 

communication channels.  Agile programme will 

be two weeks long, and will be a series of six 

agile runs with a week of reflection.   

Quarter 1 2017 / 18  

Implement agile development programme which 

will introduce several services along the 

communication channels.  Agile programme will 

be two weeks long, and will be a series of six 

agile runs with a week of reflection.   

Quarter 2 2017 / 18  

The period of the Sub-programmer (temporary – 

2 years) comes to an end.  

Quarter 2 2017 / 18  

Implement agile development programme which 

will introduce several services along the 

communication channels.  Agile programme will 

be two weeks long, and will be a series of six 

agile runs with a week of reflection.   

Quarter 3 2017 / 18  

Implement agile development programme which 

will introduce several services along the 

communication channels.  Agile programme will 

be two weeks long, and will be a series of six 

agile runs with a week of reflection.   

Quarter 4 2017 / 18  

Approximately 32 services introduced on the 

communication channels. 

Quarter 4 2017 / 18  

A “pause and review” period.  Assess whether 

the solutions introduced reach the expected aim 

and adapt as required. 

Quarter 4 2017 / 18  

Implement agile development programme which 

will introduce several services along the 

communication channels.  Agile programme will 

be two weeks long, and will be a series of six 

agile runs with a week of reflection.   

Quarter 1 2018 / 19  

Implement agile development programme which 

will introduce several services along the 

communication channels.  Agile programme will 

be two weeks long, and will be a series of six 

agile runs with a week of reflection.   

Quarter 2 2018 / 19  

Approximately 38 services introduced on the 

communication channels. 

Quarter 4 2017 / 18  

A “pause and review” period.  Assess whether 

the solutions introduced reach the expected aim 

Quarter 2 2018 / 19  



and adapt as required. 

The period of the Business analyst/project 

manager (temporary – 3 years) comes to an end.  

Quarter 2 2018 / 19  

Hold a review of the programme as a whole to 

see whether it has led to the expected results. 

 

 

 



Project Number 8: Information Technology Strategy (Create a strategy and work programme in 

order to maximise the use of information technology to assist the Council’s workforce to deliver) 

Main Milestones By the end of   

Introduce comprehensive documentation for the 

Council's Information Technology Strategy for 

the next three years: 

• IT Strategy (2015/2017 – The Vision 

• IT Strategy (2015/2017 – Realising the 

Vision 

• IT Strategy (2015/2017 – Timetable and 

Effort 

Corporate Organisation Delivery Panel 

Quarter 2 2015 / 16  

30 July, 2015 

Present the IT Strategy as well as the 

recommendations of the Corporate Organisation 

Delivery Panel to members of the Information 

Technology Governance Group. 

Quarter 2 2015 / 16  

Receive approval of the Strategy from the 

Corporate Organisation Delivery Panel 

 

Quarter 2 2015 / 16  

21 September, 2015 

Receive approval of the Strategy from the 

Council Cabinet 

 

Quarter 3 2015 / 16  

6 October, 2015 

3 November, 2015 

 

Implementation of the Strategy  

 

Quarter 3 2015/16 until Quarter 4 2017/18 

Monitor the development of the Strategy and 

report back to the Corporate Organisation 

Delivery Panel and the Information Technology 

Governance Group. 

 

Quarter 3 2015/16 until Quarter 4 2017/18 

 



Project Number 9: EDRMS (Implement the EDRMS system in order to reduce the departments’ 

dependency on paper and save on effort and costs as a result). 

Build and develop the SharePoint system; the 

software which will be used for iGwynedd 

Quarter 1 and 2 2015  

Introduce the iGwynedd system to Corporate 

Support  

Quarter 3 2015  

Prepare and introduce the system to Economy 

and Community.   

Quarter 4 2015/ Quarter 1 2016  

Prepare and introduce the system to the 

Leadership Team  

 

Quarter 1 2016  

Prepare and introduce the system to Education  

 

Quarter 2 2016  

Prepare and introduce the system to Finance  

 

Quarter 3 2016  

Prepare and introduce the system to Regulatory  

 

Quarter 4 2016  

Prepare and introduce the system to Adults  

 

Quarter 1 2017  

Prepare and introduce the system to Children  

 

Quarter 2 2017  

Prepare and introduce the system to Highways  

 

Quarter 3 2017  

Prepare and introduce the system to 

Consultancy  

 

Quarter 4 2017/ Quarter 1 2018  

 



REPORT TO THE CABINET  

14 JULY 2015 

 

Cabinet Member: COUNCILLOR PEREDUR JENKINS, 

 CABINET MEMBER - RESOURCES 

 

Subject:  REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 – IDENTIFYING EARLY RISKS 

  

Contact Officer: DAFYDD L EDWARDS, HEAD OF FINANCE 

 

 

1. The decision sought 

 

1.1 To note the financial risks which have been identified early in 2015/16 

and ask the Cabinet Members and relevant heads of department to take 

appropriate steps regarding the matters under their management. 

 

 

2. Early Conclusions regarding Departments’ Budgets 

 

2.1 The quarterly report of the latest review of the revenue budget for 

2015/16 is presented here.   

 

2.2 There is an outline of each department’s position in Appendix 1, with 

brief comments relating to the main issues and areas where significant 

variances are forecast (budgets where overspending in 2015/16 is 

forecast on the basis of experience during the first quarter). 

 

2.3 Since it is so early in the year, not all of the expenditure trends are clear, 

and therefore the report for the first quarter tends to concentrate on 

matters that have become apparent since preparing the budget and 

any significant problems identified in the meantime. 

 

2.4 Consequently, this report, which has been compiled on an exceptions 

basis, identifies financial risks, rather than predicting a total overspend by 

the Council in 2015/16.  Doubtless, other budget heads will underspend 

and counterbalance some of the problems identified here. 

 

2.5 It is too early to come to a definite conclusion about the probable 

financial performance by the end of the financial year.  Nevertheless, 

there is already a tendency towards overspending on some expenditure 

headings, which suggests a risk of quite substantial overspending in 

several departments, including Adults, Education, Economy and 

Community, Highways, and Consultancy, but the assessment of the 

2015/16 budget projected here is early, on an exceptions basis.  I 

confirm that the relevant departments are taking steps to try to manage 

this year’s budget. 

  



3. Next steps and timetable 

 

3.1 The Cabinet Members and relevant heads are expected to continue to 

keep an eye on the matters highlighted in Appendix 1. 

 

3.2 It will be reported further in more detail and with more basis to our 

projections having learnt from the experience of the second quarter, 

whilst keeping in mind that the content of this report was prepared 

before the end of the first quarter.  

 

 

 

Local member’s views 

Not relevant 

 

 

Opinion of the Statutory Officers 

 

Chief Executive: 

As the report states, it is very early in the year to identify any significant trends, 

but it is vital that heads and Cabinet Members keep a close eye on any early 

suggestions of overspending in order to bring the matter under control. 

 

Monitoring Officer: 

Nothing to add from a propriety perspective.     

 

Head of Finance:  

I have collaborated with the Cabinet Member in the preparation of this report 

and I confirm the content. 

 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Outline of each department’s position 



APPENDIX 1

Budget 

2015/16

Estimated 

Final Position 

2015/16

Estimated 

Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

2015/16

Use of Other 

Sources

Revised 

Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Area:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

10,292 9,816 (476) 0 (476)

5,920 6,125 205 0 205

2,904 2,914 10 0 10

19,116 18,855 (261) 0 (261)

434 454 20 0 20

1,019 1,089 70 0 70

648 648 0 0 0

2,101 2,191 90 0 90

13,817 13,817 0 0 0

1,192 1,342 150 0 150

2,154 2,104 (50) 0 (50)

3,346 3,446 100 0 100

406 406 0 0 0

2,852 2,852 0 0 0

3,258 3,258 0 0 0

41,638 41,567 (71) 0 (71)Adults Services Total

Residential and Nursing

Other

Other Services (Adults)

Managers

Older People and Physical Disability Team

Residential and Nursing

Home Care

Other

Learning Disability Services

Mental Health Services

Other

Physical Disability Services

REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 - FIRST QUARTER REVIEW

Adults, Health and Wellbeing Department Summary Position

Adults Services

Older Peoples Services

Residential and Nursing - Homes

Home Care



APPENDIX 1

Budget 

2015/16

Estimated 

Final Position 

2015/16

Estimated 

Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

2015/16

Use of Other 

Sources

Revised 

Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Area:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Provider Services

(97) (97) 0 0 0

0 50 50 0 50

(97) (47) 50 0 50

Other Services

4,989 4,954 (35) 0 (35)

223 223 0 0 0

3,300 3,742 442 0 442

8,512 8,919 407 0 407

50,053 50,439 386 0 386

Total Provider Services

Housing Services

Customer Care Services

Departmental Central Services

Total Other Services

Adults, Health and Wellbeing Total

REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 - FIRST QUARTER REVIEW

Adults, Health and Wellbeing Department Summary Position

Management and Administration

Residential Care Services



APPENDIX 1

Adults, Health and Wellbeing Department Summary 

Main Issues:-

Older Peoples Services:-

- Residential and Nursing - Homes - a possible underpend of (£476k) is foreseen for the time being and is a combination 

of an underspend of (£176k) on Independent Homes and reflects a substantial reduction in the number of placements 

over recent months, together with an increase of (£300k) in Contributions, but includes the presumption of receipt of an 

Intermediate Grant (I.C.F) of (£200k).

- Home Care - a risk of overspending £205k on this heading, mainly due to the continuing pressure for the provision.

Mental Health Services:-

- Residential and Nursing - due to the forecasted new cases, for the time being, an overspend situation of £150k is likely.

Other Services:-

- Departmental Central Services - included within this heading is the 'Savings Schemes to be Realised' position. The work 

on realising the target for this year continues, with the Cabinet Member already considering the matter and the Head 

identifying alternative ways to realise this years savings. Despite this, there is a risk of not fully achieveing this year, with a 

risk of failing to realise up to £442k of savings.

Summary:-

I am confident that the Cabinet Member and Head will succeed in improving the situation during 2015-16 but, if this early 

trend continues, there is a risk that the Department will face a £386k overspend.



APPENDIX 1

Budget 

2015/16

Estimated 

Final Position 

2015/16

Estimated 

Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

2015/16

Use of Other 

Sources

Revised 

Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Area:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

405 362 (43) 0 (43)

1,826 1,926 100 0 100

140 556 416 (200) 216

2,233 2,184 (49) 0 (49)

1,020 1,054 34 0 34

1,809 1,709 (100) 0 (100)

1,500 1,438 (62) 0 (62)

6,702 6,941 239 (200) 39

991 991 0 0 0

1,543 1,493 (50) 0 (50)

255 255 0 0 0

108 108 0 0 0

1,897 1,865 (32) 0 (32)

13,727 13,941 214 (200) 14

Post-16 Service

Specialist Services/Derwen

Youth Justice Services

Early Years Services

Other Services

Children and Families Total

Residential Unit

Out of County Placements

Agency Fostering

Internal Fostering

Other

REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 - FIRST QUARTER REVIEW

Children and Families Department Summary Position

Service Management

Operational Services

Placement Service



APPENDIX 1

Children and Families Department Summary

Main Issues:-

Operational Services:-

Field staff situation continues to create an overspend on this heading.

Placement Service:-

- Residential Unit - included here is the failure to realise a savings scheme relating to a childrens residential home, and if 

this situation continues, is likely to create an overspend of £416k this year. Due to the substantial financial implication, it 

is expected that the Department takes all possible steps to try to realise this scheme as soon as possible.

- Internal Fostering - very early forecast in the year suggests that the underspend on this heading continues.

Summary:-

These early trends suggest the possibility of a £214k gross overspend, and if this situation continues to the year end, it is 

intended that (£200k) of funds in reserves be used to alleviate the position.



APPENDIX 1

Budget 

2015/16

Estimated 

Final Position 

2015/16

Estimated 

Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

2015/16

Use of Other 

Sources

Revised 

Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Area:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

68,367 68,367 0 0 0

4,232 4,234 2 0 2

358 1,608 1,250 (1,218) 32

96 96 0 0 0

982 982 0 0 0

356 461 105 (105) 0

606 606 0 0 0

686 686 0 0 0

1,874 1,874 0 0 0

1,725 1,969 244 (230) 14

348 318 (30) 0 (30)

24 24 0 0 0

118 118 0 0 0

0 50 50 0 50

1,566 1,566 0 0 0

7,488 7,488 0 0 0

88,826 90,447 1,621 (1,553) 68

Other

Education Total

Additional Learning Needs Units

Inclusion Strategy

Further Education

Schools Reserves

Support to Under Performing Schools

Education Contribution to Joint-Committees

Integration

Out of County

Catering and Cleaning

Nursery Education

School Improvement Grant

Management

REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 - FIRST QUARTER REVIEW

Education Department Summary Position

Delegated Schools

Transport

Redundancy and Early Retirement



APPENDIX 1

Education Department Summary

Main Issues:-

Redundancy and Early Retirement:-

Due mainly to the effects of demography in the secondary sector, with a reduction in pupil numbers, and also partly, the 

effect of the loss of the 6th form grant, and the implications of the savings programme on the secondary sector, a 

substantial gross overspend position of £1,250k is foreseen in Early Retirement / Redundancy costs this year. If the 

forecast position subsists by the financial year end, the Department proposes using a specific reserve fund of £270k, 

together with a provision of £948k from a combination of other reserves, to alleviate the position.

Catering and Cleaning:-

An overspend position of £105k is forecast for the time being, including an overspend of £55k on the Free Breakfast 

provision, together with an overspend of £50k on School Catering. It is expected the the Department will take appropriate 

steps to ensure that this heading operates within the budgeted provision by the end of the financial year.

Additional Learning Needs Units:-

Due to the present situation relating to two centres and the need to make appropriate arrangements, if the situation 

continues to the end of the financial year there will be additional costs of £196k which is included in the possible £244k 

overspend on this heading. It is expected that the department will secure new related arrangements as soon as possible, 

and reduce the possible overspend accordingly. Perhaps the Cabinet will wish to consider additional financial support 

later in the year.  Additionally, a £50k overspend is forecast by the Autistic Unit. The Department is undertaking an urgent 

review of the provision with the intention of operating within the budget by the end of the year.

Summary:-

A combination of using reserves, and specific measures by the Department to respond to the situation, intends to reduce 

the early forecasted position to an overpend of approximately £68k.



APPENDIX 1

Budget 

2015/16

Estimated 

Final Position 

2015/16

Estimated 

Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

2015/16

Use of Other 

Sources

Revised 

Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Area:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

816 816 0 0 0

255 255 0 0 0

992 992 0 0 0

541 541 0 0 0

67 67 0 0 0

596 596 0 0 0

158 158 0 0 0

435 425 (10) 0 (10)

180 185 5 0 5

63 63 0 0 0

249 264 15 0 15

265 265 0 0 0

116 126 10 0 10

194 224 30 0 30

1,303 1,283 (20) 0 (20)

3,821 3,944 123 (80) 43

249 249 0 0 0

1,930 1,945 15 0 15

12,230 12,398 168 (80) 88

Maritime

Youth Service

Healthy Communities Service - Leisure Centres

Sports Development

Libraries

Economy and Community Total

Archives

Museums

Galleries

Halls

Arts

Country Parks

Business Support

Marketing and Customer Care

Community Regeneration

Enterprise and Skills

Strategic Programme Team

Strategy and Development

CYLLIDEB REFENIW 2015/16 - ADOLYGIAD CHWARTER CYNTAF

Economy and Community Department Summary Position

Management



APPENDIX 1

Economy and Community Department

Main Issues:-

Healthy Communities Service - Leisure Centres:-

A £123k gross overspend risk is noted on this heading, including a number of variances and in particular a reduction of 

£50k in the swimming grant and restructuring costs of £20k, and a reduction in income from healthy areas in centres. By 

a combination of measures, it is forecasted that the risk of an overspend is reduced to £43k .

Summary:-

Early trends suggest a net £88k Departmental overspend for the time being, but the Department is working to try to keep 

within the budget provision by the end of the financial year.



APPENDIX 1

Budget 

2015/16

Estimated 

Final Position 

2015/16

Estimated 

Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

2015/16

Use of Other 

Sources

Revised 

Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Area:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

10,389 10,389 0 0 0

510 510 0 0 0

2,262 2,262 0 0 0

1,321 1,521 200 0 200

1,295 1,295 0 0 0

3,681 3,681 0 0 0

388 388 0 0 0

87 87 0 0 0

9,034 9,234 200 0 200

4,468 4,468 0 0 0

13,502 13,702 200 0 200

(17) (17) 0 0 0

24,384 24,584 200 0 200

Other Waste

Waste Sub-Total

Other Municipal

Municipal Work Units

Highways and Municipal Department Total (including Trunk 

Roads Agency)

Waste

Waste Disposal

Treatment and Transfer Sites

Recycling Centres

Waste Collection and Recycling

Disposal Sites

REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 - FIRST QUARTER REVIEW

Highways and Municipal Department's Summary Position 

(including Trunk Roads Agency)

Highways Services (including Trunk Roads)

Engineering Services

Municipal Services



APPENDIX 1

Highways and Municipal Department's Summary (including Trunk Roads Agency)

Main Issues:-

Highways Services:-

- Waste - Treatment and Transfer Sites - Last year the income from the sale of recycled materials showed a deficit in the 

receipt of income, and to date, would appear to continue this year, and a reduction of approximately £200k in income 

receipts is forecasted. As this is a national problem, five North Wales councils (including Gwynedd Council), are working 

together to seek out better prices for the materials sold.

Meanwhile, the Department are looking to modify arrangements and processes to reduce costs.



APPENDIX 1

Budget 

2015/16

Estimated 

Final Position 

2015/16

Estimated 

Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

2015/16

Use of Other 

Sources

Revised 

Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Area:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

470 470 0 0 0

406 406 0 0 0

26 26 0 0 0

432 432 0 0 0

2,058 2,058 0 0 0

1,242 1,242 0 0 0

402 402 0 0 0

654 654 0 0 0

(835) (835) 0 0 0

2,135 2,119 (16) 0 (16)

474 474 0 0 0

6,130 6,114 (16) 0 (16)

1,275 1,275 0 0 0

284 284 0 0 0

1,772 1,772 0 0 0

11 11 0 0 0

(106) (105) 1 0 1

10,268 10,253 (15) 0 (15)

Joint Planning Policy Services

Public Protection Services

Catering, Cleaning and Care Services

Property Services

Regulatory Total

Traffic and Statutory Arrangements

Parking Services

Transport

Other

Countryside and Access Services

Other

Street Works and Transport Services

Forward Planning

Structures Maintenance

Road Safety

REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 - FIRST QUARTER REVIEW

Regulatory Department Summary position

Department Management

Planning Service

Development Control



APPENDIX 1

Budget 

2015/16

Estimated 

Final Position 

2015/16

Estimated 

Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

2015/16

Use of Other 

Sources

Revised 

Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Area:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(291) (125) 166 0 166

865 865 0 0 0

287 287 0 0 0

861 1,027 166 0 166

Consultancy Department's Summary Position

Roads and Engineering Services

Flood Risk Management Unit Services

Building Services

Consultancy Total

Main Issues:-

Early trends suggest an overspend of £166k by the Department, mainly as a result of a reduction in fee income this year, 

and in particular where some clients expect the same work at a lower cost.

The Department continues to consider measures to try to operate within the budget target this year.

REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 - FIRST QUARTER REVIEW



APPENDIX 1

Budget 

2015/16

Estimated 

Final Position 

2015/16

Estimated 

Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

2015/16

Use of Other 

Sources

Revised 

Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Area:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

646 646 0 0 0

1,162 1,213 51 (51) 0

568 578 10 0 10

2,376 2,437 61 (51) 10

Finance - a slippage in the Information Technology savings programme is forecasted for this year relating to the VOIP 

scheme. It is proposed that departmental resources will be used to bridge the position this year.

REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 - FIRST QUARTER REVIEW

Central Departments Summary Position

Chief Executive's Department

Finance

Corporate Support

Central Departments Total



APPENDIX 1

Budget 

2015/16

Estimated 

Final Position 

2015/16

Estimated 

Overspend / 

(Underspend) 

2015/16

Use of Other 

Sources

Revised 

Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Area:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(503) (439) 64 0 64

(503) (439) 64 0 64

REVENUE BUDGET 2015/16 - FIRST QUARTER REVIEW

Corporate Summary Position (Only reflects headings where 

an overspend/(underspend) position is forecasted

Net Interest Receipt

Corporate Total

Net Interest Receipt - it is now forecasted that related interest rates will not increase this year in line with the previous 

forecast, and consequently is likely to lead to a reduction in the receipt of income on this heading this year.



Page 1 

REPORT TO THE CABINET  

14 JULY 2015 

 

Cabinet Member: COUNCILLOR PEREDUR JENKINS - RESOURCE CABINET MEMBER 

  

Subject: CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2015/16 – FIRST QUARTER REVIEW 

(30 JUNE 2015) 

  

Contact Officer: DAFYDD L EDWARDS - HEAD OF FINANCE 

 

  

The decision sought / Purpose of the report 

 

A report on the first quarter review (30 June 2015 position) of the capital programme, 

and the Cabinet of 14 July 2015 is asked to approve the revised funding. 

 

 

Introduction / Summary 

 

This technical report is presented as part of the 2015/16 budget monitoring process. 

The main purpose of the report is to present the revised programme and to approve 

the relevant financing sources. The report is in 2 parts:  

 

Part 1: Analysis by Department of the £76.1m capital programme for the 3 years 

2015/16 – 2017/18. 

  

Part 2: An explanation of the sources of finance for the net increase of 

approximately £9.7m since the opening budget, with £4.3m of the increase 

due to slippages from 2014/15 (already reported on 2 June 2015). 

 

The Cabinet has the authority to adapt the capital programme. Approval is sought for 

the programme (part 1) and financing (part 2).   

 

 

Main Findings: 

 

The main conclusions that arise from the final position are: 

  

 There are definite projects in place to invest approximately £41m in 2015/16, with 

£13m being financed by attracting specific grants. 

 

 The Council succeeded in spending just over £8.9m, which is almost 22% of the 

budget on capital projects during the first quarter of 2015/16, compared to 10% in 

the same period last year.  

 

 No loss of funding was caused to the Council where schemes have slipped. 

 

 



Page 2 

Reasons for recommending the decision 

 

It is necessary to ensure appropriate financing arrangements for the Council’s plans to 

spend on capital, and the Cabinet must approve the capital programme and its 

sources of funding.  

 

Incorporating funding via grant is a point of order, but it is also necessary to deal with 

situations where there has been a change in expenditure profiles between years and 

the value of capital receipts and contributions.   

 

These are recommendations to ensure definite sources of funding for the 2015/16 – 

2017/18 capital schemes.  

 

 

Relevant considerations 

 

These are technical issues regarding the financing of schemes and relevant 

implications and debates have already been addressed when the individual schemes 

were adopted.  

 

 

Next steps and timetable 

 

To implement the recommendations to finance the programme. 

 

 

 

View of the Local Member 

Not relevant. 

 

 

Views of the Statutory Officers 

 

Chief Executive: 

I approve the report and the recommendations therein. 

 

Monitoring Officer: 

Nothing to add from a propriety perspective. 

 

Head of Finance:  

I have collaborated with the Cabinet Member in the preparation of this report and I 

confirm the content. 

 

 

Appendix 

Detailed report, parts 1-2, on pages 3-5. 

 



Page 3 

1 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2015/16 to 2017/18            

 

1.1 The table below shows a comparison of the capital programme up to the end of June 2015 against the opening budget 

situation. 
 

COMPARISON OF THE MOVEMENT FROM THE OPENING BUDGET TO THE END OF THE FIRST QUARTER 

 

6  
OPENING BUDGET END OF JUNE REVIEW 

IN
C

R
E
A

S
E
/ 

(D
E
C

R
E
A

S
E
) 

S
IN

C
E
 T

H
E
 

O
P

E
N

IN
G

 

B
U

D
G

E
T 

A
D

J
U

S
TM

E
N

TS
 

F
O

R
 S

LI
P

P
A

G
E
S
 

O
TH

E
R

 

C
H

A
N

G
E
S
 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 TOTAL 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 TOTAL  

DEPARTMENT £'000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Education 
          

16,374    14,659  

             

5,703     36,736  

          

14,869    16,449  

             

5,703     37,021          285          244  

                

41  

Finance 
               

894         448                     -         1,342  

               

804         560  -       1,364            22          250  (228)  

Economy and Community  
            

4,217         610                     -         4,827  

            

5,147         656  -       5,803          976          854  

              

122  

Housing 

            

2,283      2,237                     -         4,520  

            

3,153      2,238  -       5,391          871  (31)  

              

902  

Adults, Health and 

Wellbeing 

            

1,545           96  

                

155       1,796  

               

775         397  

                

155       1,327  (469)          103  (572)  

Children and Families 
                  

-             -                       -               -    

                 

10           -    

                   

-              10            10             -    

                

10  

Highways and Municipal 

 

            

3,430      1,519  

             

1,992       6,941  

            

4,378      1,979  

             

2,702       9,059       2,118          727  

           

1,391  

Corporate Support 

               

160        -                       -            160  

                 

61         105            166              6            29  (23)  

Regulatory 
            

6,228      3,620  

                  

18       9,866  

          

12,013      3,619  

                  

18     15,650       5,784       2,141  

           

3,643  

Consultancy 
                 

58           -                       -              58  

               

128           -    

                   

-            128            70             -    

                

70  

Corporate 
- 

       202  -          202  

                  

-           202  

                   

-            202             -    -  

                 

-    

            

TOTAL 35,189 23,391 7,868 66,448 41,338 26,205 8,578 76,121 9,673 4.317 5,356 



Page 4 

1.2 As at the end of June 2015, the actual expenditure position was £8.9million (which 

is nearly 22% of the total budget for 2015/16), as compared to 10% for the same 

period in 2014/15. 

 
 

2. CHANGES TO THE SOURCES OF FINANCE 

 

2.1 The budget for the three year programme shows an increase of £9.673m since the 

opening budget position. The proposed sources of financing for this are noted 

below: 
 

 OPENING BUDGET END OF JUNE REVIEW 

IN
C

R
E
A

S
E
/ 

(D
E
C

R
E
A

S
E
) 

S
IN

C
E
 T

H
E
 

O
P

E
N

IN
G

 

B
U

D
G

E
T 

A
D

J
U

S
TM

E
N

TS
 

F
O

R
 

S
LI

P
P

A
G

E
S
 

O
TH

E
R

 

C
H

A
N

G
E
S
  

SOURCE OF FINANCE 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 £000 £000 £000 £’000 £’000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

          

Supported Borrowing 6,637 6,637 2,817 6,637 6,637 2,817                -    -  

                  

-    

Unsupported Borrowing 5,858 5,775 0 7,392 7,424     0 

         

3,183  269 

             

2,914  

Grants and Contributions 10,205 8,017 2,886 13,210 8,027 2,886 

         

3,015  2,878 

                

137  

Capital Receipts 1,519 468 0 1520 514     0 

              

47  9 

                  

38  
 

Departmental & Corporate 

Revenue 4,440 1245 0 4,484 1,245     0 

              

44  10 

                  

34  

Capital Fund 3,874 200 155 3,353 859   155 

            

138  711 (573)  

Renewals & Other Funds 2,656 1,049 2,010 4,742 1,499 2,720 

         

3,246  440 

             

2,806  

                

TOTAL 
35,189 23,391 7,868 41,338 26,205   8,578 9,673          4,317  

             

5,356  

3 YEAR TOTAL     66,448     76,121    

 

2.2 Actual Slippages from 2014/15 
This year’s opening budget included estimated slippage figures to 2015/16 which were 

based on 2014/15’s third quarter projection position. As was reported to the Cabinet 

meeting on 2 June the final position for 2014/15 included an increased actual level of 

slippage, as detailed in the ‘Adjustments for Slippages’ column above. Again, as 

reported on 2 June, the slippage has not resulted in a loss of funding to the Council. 

The rest of the changes are explained below. 

 

2.3 Unsupported Borrowing 

An increase of £2,914,000 in 2015/16 in this source of funding mainly due to: 
 Loan Fund for Home Improvements Schemes (Housing Service) £900,474 

2015/16  

A loan from the Welsh Government for a period of 15 years to be used to 

improve housing standards in Gwynedd (Cabinet report 17 March 2015). 

 21st Century Schools Schemes (Education Department) £2,000,000 2015/16 – 

A technical adjustment to the source of finance to exchange Government 

grant with a loan (see also 2.4 below).  This will not have an effect on the 

schemes at all. 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 5 

 

2.4 Grants and Contributions 

A net increase of £137,000 in this source of funding is mainly due to the following: 
 

  21st Century Schools Schemes (Education Department) Reduction of £2,000,000 

in 2015/16 

A technical adjustment to exchange grant with a loan (see also 2.3 above).   

 Pont Briwet (Regulatory Department) £900,881 2015/16 

Network Rail’s contribution towards additional costs on this scheme in 

accordance with the original contract. 

 Local Transport Fund Schemes (Regulatory Department) - £735,760 in 2015/16 

Additional financing was received from the Welsh Government towards 

expenditure on the main schemes below: 

o Britannia Bridge Railway Crossing, Porthmadog £332,960 

o Access road to Llanbedr Airport £206,000 

o Safe Routes to Schools – Friars School and Cae Top School £189,800 

 Bangor Pool Diving Facilities Scheme (Economy and Community Department) 

£184,940 in 2015/16 

A grant was received from Sports Council for Wales to upgrade the diving 

facilities in Bangor Pool. 

 Coastal Paths Scheme (Phase 2) (Regulatory Department) £138,000 in 2015/16 

A grant was received from Natural Resources Wales for schemes to extend 

access to the coastline. 

 

2.5 Capital Receipts 

 A net increase of £38,000 in this source of funding mainly due to the purchase of a 

piece of land near the school in Cefn Coch, Penrhyndeudraeth (Education 

Department) for £40,000 in 2015/16. 
 

2.6 Departmental and Corporate Revenue 

 A net increase of £34,000 in this source of funding on a variety of small schemes.  

 

2.7 Capital Fund 

 A decrease of £572,500 in this source of funding following a decision by the 

Government to fund the Community Care Management Systems (Adults, Health 

and Wellbeing Department) themselves.  

 

2.8 Renewals and Other Funds 

 The net increase of £2,806,000 in this source of funding is mainly on Carbon 

Management schemes (Highways and Municipal Department, and Regulatory 

Department). Approval has been given to: 

 upgrade all street lighting to LED (£1,410,000 over 3 years) which is funded 

from the Invest to Save fund (Cabinet report 5/5/15), and 

 Carbon Plan Two (Cabinet report 23/6/15), and this is part of the relevant 

funding package from the Carbon Management Fund. 
 

 

2.9 Recommendation 

 

 The Cabinet is asked to accept the 2015/16 to 2017/18 revised programme and 

approve the relevant sources of finance (para. 2.2 to 2.8 above). 
 



1 

 

REPORT TO THE CABINET 

(14 July 2015) 

 

Cabinet Member: Mandy Williams-Davies 

 

Subject:  Bangor and Caernarfon Business Improvement Districts    

 

Contact officer: Rhys A Williams 

 

 

Decision sought 

 

To approve the intention to hold a vote amongst the businesses in the city 

centre of Bangor and town centre of Caernarfon on the intention to establish 

Business Improvement Districts within both areas. 

 

 

Local member’s views 

 

To be confirmed  

 

 

Introduction  

 

The Business Improvement Districts (BID) is a partnership which is led by a 

business community which is established through a formal voting process in 

order to provide additional services to local businesses. The BID is a specific 

area, and within its boundaries, non-domestic ratepayers will pay an additional 

levy to the business rates. This additional levy is used to develop projects in the 

interests of the businesses in that area. 

 

Gwynedd Council received assistance from Welsh Government (originally 

through the Môn Menai Regeneration programme) to research the 

opportunities to establish BID in the commercial centres of Bangor and 

Caernarfon. In 2014, consultants were appointed to undertake a feasibility 

study, working with business groups to develop outline proposals. 

 

In November and December 2014, a consultation was arranged with 

businesses, and from the responses received, 83% of businesses in Caernarfon 

and 77% of businesses in Bangor stated that they were supportive of the 

intention and that a vote should be held. As a result of this initial support, work 

commenced to establish steering groups, awareness raising sessions and to 

develop proposals packs in accordance with the requirements of the process 

of establishing a BID. 

 



2 

 

Reasons for recommending the decision 

 

BID regulations note that local authorities need to manage the voting process. 

Local authorities have the veto right if it considers that BID proposals would be 

likely to conflict significantly with existing policy, would place a financial burden 

on taxpayers or that the levy was too high. 

However, the intention to hold a vote is supported because: 

 

• The proposals to establish BID in Bangor and Caernarfon are a response 

to challenges which have been identified by the business community 

• In In holding a vote, the business community receives the opportunity 

to support the establishment of the BID in order to give them the ability 

to realise the objectives which have been noted within the business 

plans. 

• The proposed BID could attract additional investment and maximise 

the profile of Bangor and Caernarfon and what they have to offer. 

• The BID would be a medium to collaborate with the Council and 

provide additional services. 

 

Relevant considerations 

 

Business Improvement District Proposals  

As part of the BID process, it is a requirement to prepare proposals together with 

a business plan. The proposals must include information about services that are 

to be provided along with the size of the proposed BID. It should also include 

the size of the levy and the arrangements for collecting it. 

 

The BID Proposals for Bangor and Caernarfon have been included in Appendix 

1 and 2.  

 

The main issues of these proposals have been developed in accordance with 

three main themes, namely: 

Influential and Integrated – including appointing Town Centre Co-

ordinators and interventions to support and promote businesses 

Clean and Green, Tidy and Safe – including additional cleaning, 

information and interpretation, improving shop-fronts and creating a safe 

environment 

Proud to promote – including an events programme, establishing a ‘town / 

city centre challenge’ to promote mentoring and marketing opportunities 

 

It is anticipated that the proposed BID would charge a levy of 1.5% against non-

domestic rates, with the exception of properties with a taxation value of less 

than £2,000. It is estimated that the BID would charge up to £127,000 per annum 

(namely £635,000 over five years) in Bangor and £86,000 per annum (namely 

£430,000 over five years) in Caernarfon.  

 



3 

 

The proposals have been developed through the medium of steering groups 

before including representatives from the business community. Letters of 

support have been received from the Bangor Business Forum and Caernarfon 

Chamber of Commerce. 

 

At the beginning of July, workshops have been arranged for businesses which 

will be an opportunity for national BID experts to share information and 

experiences of developing and supporting BID in other areas. Also, information 

events are to be held in order to raise awareness of the proposals. 

 

Operating and Baseline Agreements  

 

As part of the BID process, local authorities are required to prepare Operating 

and Baseline Agreements. Proposed agreements were created in collaboration 

with the Finance, Regulatory and Highways and Municipal Departments and 

have been included as Appendices 3 and 4. 

 

The purpose of the Operating Agreement is to set out collaboration and 

financial management arrangements between the BID and Gwynedd Council 

as it collects the levy and transfers vouchers to the new entity.   

 

The Baseline Agreement highlights Gwynedd Council’s current standard 

services and activities within the proposed BID areas. The agreement sets out 

arrangements within which the BID could collaborate with Gwynedd Council to 

establish additional activities or services. 

 

Implications for Gwynedd Council 

 

It is anticipated that the following implications will arise for the Council as the 

relevant local authority: 

Holding the vote – Subject to Cabinet approval, Gwynedd Council will hold a 

vote with the business community within the designated area to test 

support to establishing the BID in Caernarfon and Bangor. It is intended for 

the vote to be undertaken by Gwynedd Council’s Electoral Services and 

£1100 has been allocated by the BID development project to meet any 

costs incurred.    

Set-up Support – If the vote is successful, Gwynedd Council will support the 

steering groups to establish new companies limited by guarantee.  

Gwynedd Council will also establish additional arrangements to establish 

new systems to collect the levy with a cost of approximately £15,000 to 

be paid by the BID over the period. 

Legal Agreements – With the BIDs established, the attached proposed 

agreements will set out arrangements for them to collaborate with 

Gwynedd Council   

Collecting the levy – If a BID is established, Gwynedd Council will be responsible 

for collecting the levy on behalf of the new entity.  It should be borne in 



4 

 

mind that the BID is also expected to pay a fee to Gwynedd Council for 

collecting the levy. Gwynedd Council’s costs for collecting the levy will 

be £24.48 per business unit with the total in Bangor being £5,749 and 

£5,923 in Caernarfon. The collection costs have been included within the 

relevant business plans.  

As a ratepayer –   If a BID is established, the Council would have to pay the 

additional levy for a non-domestic property in Council ownership within 

the BID boundaries e.g. based on a levy of 1.5%, it is anticipated that 

there would be an additional cost of approximately £16,411 per annum 

(£3,346 in Bangor and £13,065 in Caernarfon).  

 

Should a vote be arranged, there would be an opportunity for the Council to 

vote as a non-domestic property rate payer within the boundaries of the 

proposed BID. It is recommended that decision(s) regarding voting is in addition 

and separate to the recommendation of this report. 

 

Next steps and timetable 

 

Subject to Cabinet approval, it is intended to announce the vote by the end of 

July 2015. Once notice has been given, this would allow the voting papers to be 

issued as well as the details of the proposals (with explanatory notes) during 

August. 

 

In accordance with this timetable, the closing date of a postal vote would be 

24 September, with the results announced on 25 September. 

 

If the vote is in favour of establishing BIDs, it is intended to proceed to establish 

relevant governance arrangements (including establishing a 

company/companies) in order to launch them and start to collect the first levy 

in April 2016. 

 

 

 

Views of the statutory officers 

 

The Chief Executive: 

 

Clearly these proposals have been the subject of wide discussion and 

consultation over the last few months. It is also clear, that there are implications 

to the Council, but the conclusion is that the possible benefits may outweight 

such implications. 

 

The Monitoring Officer:  

 



5 

 

A detailed statutory process exists to deal with the application for ballot. This 

also means there is limited discretion regarding the decision whether or not to 

hold a ballot and implement the result. Further guidance on this will be provided 

to the Cabinet during the meeting. It is also noted that the Council will have a 

right to vote as a non-domestic ratepayer in Bangor and Caernarfon, and 

consideration should be given to delegating appropriate authority to 

implement this as part of the decision. 

 

The Head of Finance Department: 

 

As noted on page 4 of the report, under "Implications for Gwynedd Council as 

a ratepayer", if the ballot result is in favour of establishing a Business 

Improvement District, the Council itself will be responsible for paying additional 

levy, at an approximate cost of £3,346 in Bangor and £13,065 in Caernarfon.  

This also means that the Council will have votes, as a ratepayer, and the 

Cabinet must resolve who will cast those votes. 

 

Further, if the vote goes in favour of establishing a Business Improvement District 

in Bangor and / or Caernarfon, the Finance Department’s Taxation Unit will 

have additional work collecting the levy.  Finance officers have discussed this 

with the Economy and Community Department, and I can confirm that we are 

satisfied with the content of the agreements.  I believe that the administrative 

costs identified in the report are a fair reflection of the investment and 

additional work that will be involved in administering the Business Improvement 

District. 

 

 

Appendices 

1. Bangor Business Improvement District Proposal   

2. Caernarfon Business Improvement District Proposal 

3. Draft Operating Agreements (Bangor and Caernarfon) 

4. Draft Baseline Agreements (Bangor and Caernarfon) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

i 

  

Proposal for a Business Improvement District 

(BID) in Bangor 

 

DRAFT 29/6/15 
 

Bangor BID (BID Proposer) 

June 2015 



 

2 

1 Introduction 
 

Foreword 
 

Why do we need a BID in BANGOR? 

 

A Business Improvement District, which is business led, will bring together all those who rely 

on the city centre for their own economic prosperity, to work collaboratively on projects, 

that enhance the city centre, and make a difference to their own trading environment. 

 

There is a widespread desire to improve the appearance of the city and the surrounding 

area, and an enthusiasm to pursue a more effective and co-coordinated approach to the 

management of retail, tourism and cultural activities and events. ENSURING THAT THESE 

SECTORS WORK IN PARTNERSHIP IS INSTRUMENTAL TO A SUCCESSFUL AND WELL 

MANAGED DESTINATION. 

 

Having listened to businesses during our consultation over the past year, your views have 

been integrated into this proposal. A BID is a business led initiative that gives businesses the 

power to manage their own operating environment, so that it directly benefits their 

business, their employees, and their customers. Together, businesses identify priorities and 

services that they think are needed to add value to existing services, and agree through a 

formal ballot process, to a level of investment to ensure the delivery of these. 

 

There are currently 187 BIDs across the UK, These BIDs are designed to suit the needs of 

their businesses in a local area, and generally focus on: 

 

• Improving the trading conditions for businesses, 

• Increasing the competitiveness of their local area, and 

• Reducing the operating costs for businesses. 

 

From August you will be asked to vote on this proposal. If the majority of businesses support 

the proposal, then a Business Improvement District will be established in Bangor, and will 

commence from April 1st 2016. This is our opportunity to take control of the key drivers for 

a successful city centre, and our opportunity to make the decisions which will directly 

impact on your business, and make a real difference. 

 

Haydn Davies 

 

Chairperson Bangor Business Forum 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

3 

A BID for Bangor 
 

What is a Business Improvement District (BID)? 

 

A BID is a specific area where businesses work together and invest in agreed services, 

projects and special events. 

 

The remit of Bangor’s BID has been determined and will be controlled by you, the 

businesses involved.  As you control the BID, you play a key role in deciding which projects 

and initiatives go ahead for the BID’s five-year term.  The BID is financed by a levy of 1.5% 

made on the basis of your rateable value and the agreement to set up a BID is made on the 

basis of a postal ballot. You must vote to have your say.  A BID cannot replace core public 

sector services and must offer clear return on investment for the levy payers. 

 

Website: www.agbbangorbid.com  

Email address: bid@gwynedd.gov.uk  

 

Bangor BID is led by the BID Board that includes volunteer representatives from the 

different business sectors and organisations in the city.  After consultation the group has 

created a five-year business plan across three key areas of activity.  

 

The vote 

Approximately 330 businesses in Bangor are being asked to vote on paying a 1.5% additional 

levy on business rates into a fund that will be used for activities and initiatives to deliver a 

more vibrant and economically successful city.  The time is right for all businesses and the 

public sector to come together in order to provide a busier and more attractive city centre. 

The YES vote is supported by Gwynedd Council whose commitment to the Bangor BID is 

demonstrated both as a major rate payer and by supporting the development and set-up of 

the BID.  

 

The businesses will have the ownership, as well as the responsibility, to ensure that money 

is well spent and the BID will be overseen by its Board and evaluated independently. Every 

penny will count.  We know Bangor is a fantastic city that offers much to do, see and 

experience. We also know there is much that needs to continually improve, especially in the 

city centre. Bangor BID can make this happen. 

 

The BID: Why? 

The BID’s purpose is to enable collaboration and working together to create improvement. 

We will work together to make our vision possible, and with Bangor BID over the next five 

years, the city centre will receive an investment of  £635,000  as well  as benefits from 

guaranteed levels of service delivered by Gwynedd Council. 

 

• Over £127,000 will be raised by the BID through its levy per year. 

• That’s £635,000 of additional investment in the city centre over five years. 

 

 

 



 

4 

Picture what our future could look like: 

 

By 2020, Bangor City Centre will have gone from strength to strength. Visitor numbers will 

have gone up. Our businesses will be thriving and the city centre will be positioned as one of 

the best centres for visitors, local and neighbouring communities alike. 

 

A key part of making this happen is a “Yes” vote for Bangor BID. 

 

 

 



 

5 

2 BID pledges 
 

The key attractors to Bangor are Heritage and Culture, Entertainment and Shopping. This 

historic Cathedral and University City is investing in its unique cultural character, with the new 

Pontio Arts and Innovation Centre and Gwynedd Museum and Art Gallery developments.  With 

its virtually unaltered Victorian pier and the longest high street in Wales, Bangor has much to 

offer residents, visitors and students alike, from its diverse shopping, leisure and nightlife offer, 

to its rich heritage and culture.  

 

In winter 2014, 84 Bangor businesses were surveyed about the city centre and a BID
1
.  Key 

issues and priorities voiced by businesses during consultation included reducing the price of 

parking, improving the look of the city centre, and increasing footfall through events and 

promotion.   

 

Therefore the BID’s vision for Bangor as a place for visiting, working, living and enjoying, is for 

the city to be: 

 

• Clean & Green, Smart & Safe: Enhancing Bangor’s image by making it a more attractive 

and welcoming city through managing its cleanliness, and the general ambience.  

Monitoring and action by a rapid response street team will ensure Bangor is significantly 

cleaner and flowers and greenery will bring colour to the streets.  This will open up the 

High Street to complement other significant attractions such as the Cathedral, the Bishop’s 

Palace, the University, the new Pontio Arts and Innovation Centre and the Pier. The BID will 

also make Bangor City Centre a more welcoming place by supporting the day time and 

night time economy through crime reduction initiatives.  Partnering with the University, 

the police and the Bangor and District PubWatch Scheme will help address anti-social 

behavior, littering and nuisances in the day and night.  

 

• Proudly Promoted: Promoting Bangor as a great place to visit for Heritage and Culture, 

Entertainment, Shopping and Learning. Delivering high quality events and promotional 

marketing platforms will drive increased footfall and will also attract businesses to invest in 

the city.  With an exceptional location at the head of Snowdonia and the mouth of the 

glorious Menai Strait, Bangor is a city that should be proudly promoted.  This is our 

opportunity as a business community, to raise the standards and presentation of Bangor as 

a business, retail, and tourist destination. 

  

                                                      
1
 See section 11 for more information on the research with businesses. 



 

6 

Bangor 
BID

Clean & 
Green, 

Smart & Safe

Proudly 
Promoted

Influential 
and 

Integrated

• Influential and Integrated:  This is a fantastic opportunity for the business community to 

directly influence how the monies raised through the levy and other streams of funding, 

can best be utilised, to make the biggest impact, and where visitors will see the biggest 

difference. By having a budget to deliver targeted advertising, and promotional activities, 

Bangor will be able to compete with any competitor in North West Wales. The BID will be 

the voice of Bangor’s business community so that businesses have a real say in the 

development of the city and the region. This will include working with Gwynedd Council on 

issues such as parking and cleaning as well as strategic development priorities.  The BID will 

develop mutually beneficial relationships between businesses, the university and local 

communities, to deliver what’s best for Bangor and grow opportunities for new and 

established businesses.   

 

The BID proposes to focus on these three areas of activity.  It will produce a detailed action 

plan with quarterly milestones and monitoring and an annual evaluation of progress towards its 

targets. Once the BID is established members will be able to influence the focus of the BID in 

order to deliver projects under these themes that best suit the changing needs of the city 

centre. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

7 

3 Clean & Green, Smart & Safe 
 

Projected BID investment over 5 years: £212,500 

 

Improving the first impressions that shoppers, visitors and residents have of Bangor was a 

common theme raised in the consultation with businesses. With attractive alternatives such 

as Llandudno and Chester being popular destinations for shoppers, several businesses 

commented that there is a need for Bangor to better compete with such towns and cities to 

attract shoppers and visitors from across Gwynedd, Anglesey, Conwy and further afield.  

With the exciting Pontio development to open imminently, it is time that the city centre 

capitalises on the visitors the arts centre is likely to attract.  

 

The BID will focus on the following activities under the Clean & Green, Smart & Safe theme: 

 

• New and additional cleaning  

 

We will establish a rapid response street team focused on monitoring the management and 

cleansing of the city centre. The aim is to ensure that the cleansing of the streets is kept to 

an acceptable standard, and that issues such as litter bin placements are agreed upon by all 

parties.  The BID will provide more effective street cleaning to what is being undertaken at 

present e.g. more and regular cleaning as well as deep cleaning initiatives.  Gwynedd 

Council have provided a baseline schedule of cleaning services and will sign a Baseline 

Agreement with the BID to ensure that BID activities are in addition to existing services.  

 

• Additional greening  

 

We will develop and improve the hanging baskets and planters that have been a feature of 

Bangor in the summer months in order to make the city a more attractive place to visit, live 

and work.  

 

• City centre information and landing areas 

 

The BID will concentrate on establishing attractive and welcoming entry and gateway points 

to the city by focusing on landing areas and key routes into the city e.g. the train station, bus 

station, Pontio, the University and Upper Bangor, taxi ranks and car parks. This will be via 

branded signage, high-quality maps and interactive Apps to direct visitors to local sites and 

services.   

  



 

8 

• Shop fronts 

 

We will seek to improve shop fronts, including installing attractive destination marketing 

vinyl on empty shop windows. This would capitalise on the array of premier heritage sites 

that are in the Bangor area from the bridges across the Menai, Bangor Pier, Penrhyn Castle, 

Bangor Cathedral and Bangor University. Destination marketing would also capitalise on 

Bangor’s excellent location to explore the northern and north eastern areas of the 

Snowdonia National Park.  

 

• A Safe Environment 

 

The BID will endeavour to make Bangor City Centre more welcoming for visitors, residents 

and students alike. By partnering with the University, the police and the Bangor and District 

PubWatch Scheme to tackle anti-social behaviour, littering and nuisances in the day and 

night,  

 

The proposed BID will work with Gwynedd Council to support the delivery of its standard 

services as efficiently and effectively as possible. Working with the Authority, the BID will 

seek to deliver the complementary services and activities as noted above. 



 

9 

4 Proudly Promoted 
 

Projected BID investment over 5 years: £107,500 

 

Events and Activities 
 

The BID will support and oversee a key events programme for the city centre. Events and 

activities will be run in partnership with local community groups and others who will work 

together to engage residents and visitors, animate the streets and encourage everyone to 

spend time in the city centre.  

 

The BID will aim to develop new high quality events, support and enhance existing events 

and maximise the benefit for the city centre.  New events and activities proposed by the BID, 

for support and delivery by partners, may include the following:  

 

• St. David’s Day Celebrations and High Street Race: A full day of cultural celebrations 

engaging the whole community featuring plenty of Welsh music, folk dancing and food 

and drink. The day will culminate in the St David’s Day High Street Race which will see 

runners in traditional Welsh costume race from one end of the High Street to the other, 

an event which we expect will put Bangor on the map.  

 

• #Bangorock Music Festival – A city centre music festival capitalising on the number of 

rock bands that are based in the Bangor, Dyffryn Ogwen and North Wales, with live 

music events held in both Welsh and English throughout the week at different times and 

different venues in the BID area. This would include street music during the day. 

 

• Freshers’ Week: A week that truly welcomes new and returning students in to the City 

of Bangor.  Designed and delivered in partnership with Bangor University, the week of 

activities will get students engaged with the best of what the city has to offer. 

 

Other ideas we have included: 

 

• Classic Cars on the High Street  

• Christmas Market 

• Lantern Parade 

• St. Dwynwen’s Day 

• Real Ale Trail 

• Outdoor Theatre 

• Food and Drink Week 

 

 

 

 

 



 

10 

The BID will also establish a “City Centre Challenge” to engage school, college and university 

students from a variety of disciplines, from geography to business, music to mathematics, 

with their local High Street.  This will include shopping and economic studies, consumer 

behaviour projects and supplying entrepreneurship opportunities through pop-up shops, 

bringing education and skills to the city centre.   The BID will sponsor awards, work 

experience and training opportunities for all ages.  

 

Marketing and PR 
 

The BID will design and implement marketing and promotional activities according to plans 

tailored to the BID area’s various audiences. To promote the business community within 

Bangor, the new BID will seek to coordinate marketing activities to increase the profile of 

Bangor locally and further by working with local and regional partners.  Where possible, the 

BID will seek to support, add value to existing marketing activities, and deliver new initiatives 

by working with partners locally and regionally.  It will also look to engage with empty 

property owners to explore occupancy opportunities for businesses. 

 

Visitor Welcome Plan “Warm Welcome / Croeso Cynnes”  

 

The Visitor Welcome Plan will include a Visit Bangor website, with an accommodation and 

dining directory, including graduation specials.  Bangor is situated in a location that is on the 

doorstep of an array of sites from Llandudno and Conwy to the east, Anglesey to the north, 

Caernarfon and Pen Llŷn to the west and Snowdonia National Park to the south.  Through 

alignment with the wider regional destination management plan, the Bangor Visitor 

Welcome Plan will exploit its central location to be a base for wider regional exploration.   

 

We will work with existing websites such as www.explore-bangor.wales to ensure that there 

is a comprehensive shopping and sights map (and App) of Bangor that will make it much 

clearer to find everything that Bangor has to offer from hidden boutiques, historic pubs, big 

high street names and those places for a bite to eat. With Explore-Bangor being an exciting 

new development for the city the BID does not want to duplicate the existing support, but 

aim to complement and enhance it. Bangor BID will explore ways of maximising the benefits 

to Bangor businesses from such websites.  

 

BID website with a local business directory “I Love Bangor / Rwy’n Caru Bangor”  

 

The BID will facilitate and support development of a dedicated city website for local 

audiences with local business information, a shopping, leisure and services directory, deals 

and vouchers, job vacancies noticeboard, news and events listings. The website will also 

provide information and updates on the progress of the BID in the city. 

 

For BID businesses there will be a members section, including a noticeboard and forum for 

BID businesses. The members section will allow all businesses to discuss and raise topics and 

the BID manager will moderate this forum, responding to any questions, suggestions and 

problems. The reach of the BID website will be maximised by exposure on social media such 

as Facebook, Twitter and Instagram. 

 



 

11 

5 Influential and Integrated  
 

Projected BID investment over 5 years: £168,600 

 

The BID will seek to work with partners on both a local and regional level to represent the 

interests of the Bangor business community for the benefit of its members.  It is anticipated 

that the BID will work with Gwynedd Council, Bangor University and Bangor Town Centre 

Partnership to raise the profile and interests of Bangor and its business community.   

 

City Centre Liaison 
 

Bangor BID will have an active and visible BID manager that will act on behalf of BID 

members to ensure that it is serving their needs. He or she will be appointed and employed 

by Bangor BID on a part-time basis.  The BID manager will be the key point of contact for BID 

member businesses. The successful candidate will be a self-motivated individual possessing 

plenty of initiative, PR skills, social media skills, relationship management skills. He or she 

will coordinate the delivery of projects across all three themed areas as well as manage its 

day to day activities, which will include the following: 

 

• Project Management: The manager will also lead on projects as well as a longer-term 

strategic development plan for the city.  The manager’s work will be overseen by the 

BID Board. 

 

• Advocate: The manager will represent and be an advocate for BID area businesses. 

Engaging with external stakeholders and partners in and around the BID area, always 

promoting the interests of the BID and its business members  

 

• Liaison: The manager will liaise with the Local Authority, City Council, Welsh 

Government, community organisations and other bodies, to lobby on the BID’s behalf 

and exploit partnership opportunities. The BID manager will work with the Town 

Centre Partnership to ensure that their areas of activity are well integrated, add value 

to one another and to avoid any duplication.    

 

• Additional funding generation: The manager will be responsible for attracting 

additional sources of income for the BID, over and above the BID levy, including 

negotiating sponsorship and preparing funding bids.    

 

  



 

12 

Growing Business 
 

Bangor businesses and organisations have a wealth of knowledge and experience in trading 

and operating in the city. The BID aims to develop this and bring new knowledge and 

experience that is pertinent for the needs of businesses in Bangor.   

 

 

• Helping existing businesses grow and improve: The BID will host skills and training 

events, including business development and training and information seminars, on 

topics such as law, finance, digital and social media, PR and marketing, customer 

insights, local supply chains and sustainability. Through its network of businesses the 

BID will be able to signpost members and help them access support via relevant 

agencies, including Business Wales. 

 

• New Businesses and Start-up Mentoring: The BID will help attract and establish new 

successful businesses to complement the existing offer of the BID area and not duplicate 

existing businesses by creating more competition. This will enhance Bangor’s offer to 

locals and visitors.  It will also coordinate a mentoring scheme for retail start-ups. The 

mentoring scheme will offer individual support to BID area start-ups with the relevant 

information that they need to run their business effectively, from IT support to 

managing accounts. 

 

• Collective Purchasing: The BID will investigate opportunities for helping businesses get 

better deals, by purchasing commonly bought goods and services together in order to 

save time and money. This could include things such as purchasing stationery and 

equipment, or procuring cleaning, advertising or shop improvement services.  This 

approach has been very successful in other BIDs and will benefit BID businesses. 
 

• Awards: The BID will host an awards programme.  The awards will celebrate successful 

BID area businesses in a variety of categories such as small business of the year, 

entrepreneur of the year to best customer service of the year. Promotion of the awards 

will raise awareness of the high-quality businesses operating in Bangor. There will also 

be awards for local school pupils and students at colleges and the University to come up 

with new ideas for the city centre.  

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

13 

6 How will the BID deliver these changes? 
 

Since the project to develop a BID in Bangor started over a year ago businesses have been 

consulted regarding the fundamental issues that are affecting Bangor City Centre.  

 

A programme of ambitious improvements has been developed with the key aims being to 

make Bangor a more prosperous trading environment and to boost footfall by better 

competing against other successful commercial centres. Creating a BID will provide the most 

effective way of delivering these aims as well as to develop a united business voice.  

 

A BID is business-led, business-funded and offers businesses the opportunity to take control 

of the commercial centre that they are situated in to drive positive change in the area. BIDs 

are not-for-profit enterprises that are funded by businesses through a levy. The levy amount 

that we propose is 1.5% of the rateable value of a business unit (known as a hereditament). 

The aim is to match the levy income with additional and alternative sources of income, 

including grant funding.  

 

In order for a BID to be established, a ballot must be held whereby businesses in the BID 

area are given the opportunity to vote for or against the proposal. If successful at ballot the 

BID term lasts for a period of five years, when a re-ballot is required and the process starts 

again. Since the UK’s first BID was established in 2005, over 180 BIDs have now been 

formed. Currently there are three BIDs in Wales in Swansea, Merthyr Tydfil and most 

recently in Newport with a further 11 Welsh BIDs in development.  

 

Success of the BID model is perhaps best illustrated by the success rate at ballot: 85% at first 

term, and higher still at renewal ballots. Now is the opportunity for change. Support Bangor 

BID. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

14 

6.1 The BID Area 
 

The map below shows the boundary for the city centre BID. All hereditaments (properties) 

within the boundary are included in the BID.  Addresses are taken from the National Non-

Domestic Rates Database. 

 



 

15 

Streets included in full or in part within the proposed BID area are as follows:  

 

- High Street / Stryd Fawr 

- Station Road / Stryd yr Orsaf 

- Ffordd Gwynedd 

- Deiniol Road / Ffordd Deiniol 

- Tan-y-Fynwent 

- Waterloo Road / Stryd Waterloo 

- Garth Road / Ffordd Garth 

- Glanrafon 

- Dean Street / Stryd y Deon 

- Ashley Road 

- Brick Street 

- Mount Street 

- Plas Llwyd Terrace  

- Tan y Fynwent 

- Ebenezer Place 

- York Place 

- Ffordd y Ffynnon 

- Sackville Road / Ffordd Sackville 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

16 

6.2 Projected BID Budget 
 

Bangor BID will be financed through an additional, annual levy of 1.5% of the rateable value 

of the business.  The levy will apply to all business rate payers with a rateable value of over 

£2,000. 

 

Through its levy Bangor BID would generate an income of £127,000 per 

year, or £635,000 over the five-year term of the BID to invest in 

projects and services to benefit businesses. 

 

This would also help to leverage in additional funds from other sources including: securing 

grant funding and sponsorship, voluntary contributions from businesses outside the 

boundary and landlords. Businesses with rateable values below £2,000 may contribute 

voluntarily in order to be included as voluntary members of the BID. 

 

As a levy payer you will be required to pay one annual payment towards the BID each year 

for five years. This annual payment will be calculated at 1.5% of the rateable value for your 

individual property (hereditament). So if you own a business that has a rateable value of 

£20,000 you will pay £300 a year to the BID. 

 

 

Business Rates 

2015/16 

Rateable Value Annual Levy Daily Equivalent 

Cost 

£2,410 £5,000 £75 21p 

£4,820 £10,000 £150 41p 

£9,640 £20,000 £300 £2.05 

£24,100 £50,000 £750 £4.10 

£48,200 £100,000 £1,500 £8.22 

 

The levy is an investment.  In return for their investment, businesses will benefit from 

projects that they would not get without the BID.  The BID company will be accountable for 

all monies received or generated and will be able to tell businesses what they are receiving 

for their investment.   

 

• Only 33% of businesses will contribute more than £1 per day and only 10% of 

businesses will contribute more than £2.50 per day. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

17 

This is a draft budget.   
 

 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Levy income at 1.5% of rateable value (based on 95% 

collection rate) 

£ £ £ £ £ 

127,000 127,000 127,000 127,000 127,000 

Core costs 

Levy collection 8,148 8,148 8,148 8,148 8,148 

Management and co-ordination 5,443 5,443 5,443 5,443 5,443 

Administrative costs 3,550 3,550 3,550 3,550 3,550 

 

17,141 17,141 17,141 17,141 17,141 

Clean & 

Green, Smart 

& Safe 

New and additional cleaning 15,500 15,500 15,500 15,500 15,500 

New and additional greening 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 

Wayfinding and Landing Areas 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Shop fronts 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 

A safe environment 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 

    42,500 42,500 42,500 42,500 42,500 

Proudly 

Promoted 

Events and activities 12,500 12,500 12,500 12,500 12,500 

Visitor Welcome Plan 6,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 

Local Directory 4,000 5,500 5,000 4,500 4,000 

    24,000 23,500 23,000 22,500 22,000 

Influential 

and 

Integrated 

BID Manager costs 14,225 14,725 15,225 15,725 16,225 

Capacity building 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 

New businesses & start-up 

mentoring 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 

Collective purchasing 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Awards 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 

 

32,725 33,225 33,725 34,225 34,725 

Total Expenditure 114,866 114,866 114,866 114,866 114,866 

Total Income 127,000 127,000 127,000 127,000 127,000 

Surplus / Contingency / Bad Debt 12,134 12,134 12,134 12,134 12,134 

Surplus / Contingency / Bad Debt (%) 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 

 

 

The core costs include the purchase and maintenance of levy collection software, BID 

manager line management and office overheads  

 

BID income 

 

The above budget is based on the income from the BID levy only.  It is anticipated that 

additional income will come from voluntary contributions from smaller businesses and 

businesses outside the BID boundary wishing to become members of the BID, possible 

landlord contributions, accessing grant funding and through seeking match funding from 

both the public and private sector.  

 

 

Projected levy collection rate and budget contingency 



 

18 

 

Gwynedd Council has a business rates collection rate of 97.7% based on the last three 

financial years.  It is recognised however that the following sources state that a lower 

collection rate is more prudent.  The British Retail Consortium advises budgeting to be 

based on a 95% collection rate with a contingency of no less than 5% on all items of 

expenditure.  For this reason, the BID levy income in the table above is based upon a levy 

collection rate of 95%, close to the actual Gwynedd Council rate, but still prudent.  A 

contingency for bad debt or surplus is included at 10%, as recommended by the Association 

of Town Centre Management.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

19 

7 Your Questions Answered 
 

Why are we running a BID ballot?  

 

To create a BID, we need to run a ballot of eligible businesses. The ballot will ask a simple 

question: ‘Are you in favour of the proposals for the Bangor Business Improvement District? 

(BID)’. In order for the BID to come into existence, a simple majority of those voting must 

vote in favour. But their votes must also represent a majority of the aggregate rateable 

value of the properties that vote. 

 

Am I eligible to vote in the BID ballot? 

 

If your business premises falls within the proposed BID area and has a rateable value above 

£2,000 you are eligible to vote in the BID ballot 

 

How will Bangor BID be funded? 

 

If the ballot is successful, Bangor BID will be funded by an annual levy of 1.5% of the 

rateable value of all eligible business units situated in the BID area, regardless of whether a 

business voted for or against the BID. For example, if the rateable value on your premises is 

£10,000 you will pay £150 per annum.  The BID levy will be mandatory for all eligible 

businesses and other bodies, including the local authority.  

 

Levy collection  

 

The BID levy will be collected on an annual basis and will be collected by the local authority 

with the business rates. Bangor BID will be clear and transparent about how it is spending 

the money. There will be regularly updated information about income and expenditure 

available to all members of the BID. 

 

Ensuring that any BID services are additional  

 

A BID in Bangor City Centre will be a business-led initiative with funds that will be collected 

and managed by you. It must provide services over and above those offered by the local 

authority and other statutory agencies. The Bangor BID will sign a Baseline Agreement with 

Bangor City Council that will establish what the local authority already delivers and will 

monitor this agreement. 

 

How long will the BID last?  

 

The BID will last for five years, meaning guaranteed investment over that period. If 

businesses want the BID to continue beyond five years you will make this decision through a 

further ballot process. 

 

How can I be represented?  



 

20 

 

If the BID ballot is successful, Bangor BID will be reconstituted as a new not-for-profit 

company limited by guarantee. The first AGM is proposed to take place in September 2016 

after the BID starts its work on 1
st

 April 2016. All businesses that pay the levy can become 

members of the company in order to be eligible to vote.  Any member can stand for election 

to the board.  Business premises with rateable values below £2,000 may contribute 

voluntarily on the basis of £30/annum minimum in order to be included as voluntary 

members of the BID, however only members who are mandatory levy payers will have full 

voting rights 

 

How is this proposal funded? 

 

Funding was received from the Welsh Government, Bangor City Council, through the Bangor 

Business Forum and Gwynedd Council.    Consultants were appointed to conduct a feasibility 

study on whether a BID for Bangor would be feasible and, if found to be feasible, to develop 

a proposal to be put to ballot.   The costs that will be incurred in holding the ballot will be 

covered by Gwynedd Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

21 

8 BID Governance 
 

The development of our proposed BID in Bangor has been led by an enthusiastic group of 

representatives from Bangor City Council and Bangor Business Forum. If the BID receives a 

‘yes’ vote, these individuals have agreed to take the newly formed BID company forward to 

the first AGM.  Directors will be elected at the first AGM which will be held September 2016. 

 

All businesses with a rateable value of £2,000 or above will be eligible to be members of the 

BID and can stand as a director.  Those businesses who fall within the BID boundary but with 

a lower rateable value can make a voluntary contribution of £30 per annum in order to 

become members.  We will establish a not-for-profit company limited by guarantee 

 

The proposed AGB Bangor BID Cyf. Board will have the following representation: 

 

• Small Business 

• Medium Business 

• Large Business 

• Night Time Economy Business 

• Bangor Business Forum 

• Bangor University 

• Community Organisation 

• Gwynedd Council (non-executive board member) 

 

Board directors will serve voluntarily.  All BID levy payers will be entitled to become 

members of the company and may stand to be elected as members of the BID Board at its 

AGM.  All levy payers will be asked to apply to become members of the BID company.   

 

All levy payers will have a stake in the BID company, and can hold the BID company to 

account.  The BID will also employ a manager to ensure projects are delivered effectively 

and efficiently, seek additional funding and be the main point of contact between levy 

payers and the Board. 

 

The levy will be collected by Gwynedd Council on behalf of the BID. 

  



 

22 

Alterations to BID Arrangements 
 

Only minor amendments can be made to the BID arrangements without seeking formal 

approval from the BID members. BID arrangements may be altered without an alteration 

ballot, as long as there is no proposal to alter: 

 

• The geographical area of the BID 

• The BID levy in such a way that would: 

o cause any person to be liable to pay the BID levy, who was not previously liable to 

pay; or 

o increase the BID levy for any person other than for inflation purposes as set out 

above. 

 

Where BID arrangements may be altered without an alteration ballot, the alteration will be 

made by a decision of the full Bangor BID Board. 

 

Performance measurement 
 

The Bangor BID will be transparent and accountable to its members.  The BID manager, in 

conjunction with the management board, will develop a monitoring and evaluation 

framework with annual targets against key performance indicators.  Performance against 

these targets and the impact of the BID’s improvement programme will be regularly 

monitored and reports regarding progress will be communicated to levy payers and the 

wider business community.  There will be a clear focus on performance management, visible 

impacts and the ability to show excellent value for money. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

23 

9 Bangor BID Timeline 
 

There are a number of stages to establishing a BID. Below are proposed timescales for the 

next steps, however the website will be kept updated with more precise dates. 

   

 

 

 

  

Notification of the postal ballot 

 

31
st

 July 2015 

Receive voting pack  

 

By 27
th

 August 2015 

Postal ballot closes & ballot results announced 

 

5pm Thursday 24
th

 September 2015 

Ballot results announced 

 

Friday 25
th

  September 2015  

Establish the BID company  

 

October 2015 – March 2016 

BID company goes live & first levy collected 

 

April 2016 

BID AGM 

 

September 2016 

Year 2 AGM September 2017 

 

Year 3 AGM September 2018 

 

Year 4 AGM September 2019 

 

Year 5 AGM September 2020 

  

BID renewal ballot   

 

December 2020 

  

  

 

 

Bangor BID will run for 5 years from 1
st

 April 2016 until 31
st

 March 2021.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



 

24 

Ballot rules 
 

Each business rate payer will have a vote provided they are listed on the Non-Domestic 

Ratings List when notice of ballot is given by Gwynedd Council and sit within the BID 

boundary with a rateable value over and inclusive of £2,000. 

 

• In August 2015 the voting pack will be sent to the address of the hereditament 

(property). 

• All votes must be returned by Thursday 24th September 2015 by 5pm. 

• For the BID to go ahead two conditions must be met: 

o More than 50% of businesses that vote must vote in favour. 

o The aggregate of the rateable values of the “yes” votes must represent more 

than 50% of the total rateable value of all votes cast. 

• Under the legislation, if these conditions are fulfilled payment of the 1.5% levy 

becomes mandatory for all eligible businesses, regardless of how they voted. 

• A “yes” vote for Bangor BID will mean that the additional activities promised will 

start happening in April 2016. The first invoices will be sent in March 2016 in order to 

prepare for this. 

• The BID area, the BID levy percentage and the criteria of businesses eligible cannot 

be altered at any stage during the five-year lifetime of the BID without a full 

Alteration Ballot. This is to protect ratepayers and provide certainty of BID levy costs. 

• It is the intention of the BID company to trade as a not-for-profit company who will 

run the BID.  

 

 



 

25 

10 Your vote counts! 
 

Over the past year city centre businesses have shown a great deal of enthusiasm for a 

Business Improvement District in Bangor. Now is the time to take a sustainable and 

successful approach to managing our city centre for years to come. BACK THE BID - VOTE 

FOR BANGOR 

 

 

 



 

26 

11 Research and Feasibility 
 

The research and development of Bangor BID has been funded by the Welsh Government, 

Bangor City Council, through the Bangor Business Forum and Gwynedd Council.  A feasibility 

study was produced in December 2014 to ascertain whether BIDs would be an effective 

mechanism to address current city centre issues with a focus on improving trading 

conditions.   

 

Based on an analysis of rateable values and a survey of businesses within the proposed BID 

boundary, the feasibility study concluded that establishing a successful BID is not only an 

exciting and valuable prospect for businesses and the wider community of Bangor, but it 

also concluded that it is a feasible reality.  There is support and demand for the BID, it will 

be financially viable, it can act on the specific needs of BID businesses over the long-term 

and it can add value to the levy on businesses through integration, partnerships, leverage 

and influence.  

 

Surveys were completed by 84 businesses, of which 65 (77%) stated that they thought a BID 

for Bangor was a good idea in principle and should be tested in a ballot.  Only one person 

answered no and the remainder were not sure.   

 

The 84 completed surveys represent a response rate of 25% of business premises within the 

BID boundaries.  By disregarding duplicate owners, city and county council buildings, car 

parks, banks and ATMs, police stations, libraries, bus depots and other premises without a 

direct phone number or invalid contact details, the response rate was 39%.   Half of those 

surveyed represented independent businesses. 

 



 

27 

12 Supporting Documents 
 

Other documents related to the BID can be found on the BID website www.bangorbid.co.uk.  

  

These include: 

• The draft Baseline Agreement between the BID and Gwynedd Council, including a 

statement of the existing baseline services provided by Gwynedd Council. 

• The draft Operating Agreement between the BID and Gwynedd Council, stating the 

terms how Gwynedd Council will operate as the billing and ballot authority on behalf 

of the BID. 

 

Other resources include: 

• The Welsh Government’s BIDs Handbook  

• Case studies and links to other UK BIDs 

 

 

For more information on Bangor BID and to find out how you can get involved, please 

contact the BID chairman: 

 

(name and contact details here) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

28 

Appendix 1: Essential Information 
 

Who is involved? 
 

1. The liable person to pay the BID levy is the ratepayer responsible for non-domestic 

rates in respect of the hereditament.  

2. The BID levy will apply to all hereditaments with an NNDR (National Non-Domestic 

Rates) address located within the Bangor BID boundary area.  

3. Businesses with a rateable value that is below £2,000 will not be eligible to pay the BID 

levy but may contribute voluntarily in order to become voluntary members of the BID.  

 

Key Dates 
 

1. The proposed BID will last five consecutive financial years from April 2016. 

2. All eligible businesses will be entitled to vote for the BID proposal in a 28 day postal 

ballot which will commence on 27
th

 August 2015 and voting will close on Thursday 24
th

 

September 2015 at 5pm with the results announced on Friday 25
th

 September on the 

BID website. 

 

The Levy 
 

1. The BID levy will be 1.5% of each hereditament’s rateable value for the full five years as 

detailed in the NNDR list 2010. 

2. There is no distinction to be made between occupied or unoccupied hereditaments. 

3. The BID levy will not be affected by the small business rate relief scheme. 

4. The local authority shall collect the BID levy and hold such sums in the BID Revenue 

Account. 

5. The levy will be calculated for each hereditament on an annual basis and billed in time 

for the start of each year of the BID. 

6. The levy will be charged according to chargeable day procedures. It will be based on the 

2010 ratings list records for each hereditament in the BID area taken at the date when 

notice of ballot is given. This will ensure the completeness and accuracy of the rateable 

value listing used for generating bills each year. 

7. The Operating Agreement will be made available on request by a potential levy payer. 

8. Businesses may become liable to pay the levy where they were not previously, for 

example where a hereditament in the BID area that was absent from the ratings list is 

subsequently added.  

9. The chargeable period will be the BID term of five years from 1
st

 April 2016. No account 

will be taken of the rating revaluation in 2017, unless a hereditament is shown in that 

list for the first time, in which case the rateable value shown in that list will be used.  

The exception will be any change of use or a physical change to a property or 

hereditament.  

10. The non-payment of the BID levy will be pursued via all available mechanisms. 

 



  

Proposal for a Business Improvement District 

(BID) in Caernarfon 

 

DRAFT 29/6/2015 
 

AGB Caernarfon BID (BID Proposer) 

June 2015 



 

2 

 

1 Introduction 
 

“Ardal Gwella Busnes Caernarfon Business Improvement District”, also known as “AGB 

Caernarfon BID”, which will be established as a not for profit company limited by guarantee. 

 

Foreword by the Chair of Caernarfon BID 
 

Caernarfon is a unique town for many reasons such as its culture, the Welsh language, 

heritage, history and its diverse shopping offer. But while it has many advantages and 

strengths, more can be made to take advantage of what Caernarfon has to offer to local 

residents and visitors. The proposed Business Improvement District will bring together 

Caernarfon’s business community as one voice to improve the town’s economic prospects. 

 

A Business Improvement District or BID is an organisation led and funded by the business 

community. If established, it will work to deliver new and additional improvements and 

activities within Caernarfon which will seek to improve the prosperity of the business 

community and the profile of the town centre. BIDs are funded by a levy raised against the 

rateable value of each business unit within a defined area. 

  

We have consulted with many members of the business community over the last year and 

their feedback and views have been included and used as the foundation to this BID 

proposal. As a result the pledges within this BID proposal respond to the themes identified 

from listening to the business community of Caernarfon.  

 

If established, the BID will be led by a board made up of elected members of the business 

community, representative of the rich cross section of businesses within Caernarfon, along 

with representatives from the third and public sectors. The actions and spending will be 

totally transparent throughout the five-year BID period.  

 

Although relatively new to Wales, BIDs are not new in the UK. With over 180 BIDs across the 

UK, they have proven to be an effective way of giving business communities the means to 

implement change in order to improve the profitability of a BID area, increase its 

competitiveness and reduce costs for businesses.  

 

In August, you will be asked to cast your vote on the Caernarfon BID proposal. If the 

majority of businesses vote in favour then a Business Improvement District will be 

established in Caernarfon and will be launched on April 1st 2016. This is a unique 

opportunity for the business community in Caernarfon to generate funding through a levy 

and lead on improvements which will make a real difference to Caernarfon and its 

businesses.  

 

Chris Stuhlfelder  

Caernarfon BID Steering Group 

  



 

3 

 

A BID for Caernarfon 
 

What is a Business Improvement District (BID)? 

A BID is a specific area where businesses work together and invest in agreed services, 

projects and special events. 

 

The remit of Caernarfon’s BID has been determined and will be controlled by you, the 

businesses involved.  As you control the BID, you play a key role in deciding which projects 

and initiatives go ahead for the BID’s five-year term.  The BID is financed by a levy of 1.5% 

made on the basis of your rateable value and the agreement to set up a BID is made on the 

basis of a postal ballot. You must vote to have your say.  A BID cannot replace core public 

sector services and must offer clear return on investment for the levy payers. 

 

Website: www.agbcaernarfonbid.com  

Email address: bid@gwynedd.gov.uk  

 

Caernarfon BID is led by the BID Board that includes volunteer representatives from the 

different business sectors and organisations in the town.  After consultation the group has 

created a five-year business plan across three key areas of activity.  

 

The vote 

Approximately 340 businesses in Caernarfon are being asked to vote on paying a 1.5% 

additional levy on business rates into a fund that will be used for activities and initiatives to 

deliver a more vibrant and economically successful town.  The time is right for all businesses 

and the public sector to come together in order to provide a busier and more attractive 

town centre. The YES vote is supported by Gwynedd Council whose commitment to the 

Caernarfon BID is demonstrated both as a major rate payer and by supporting the 

development and set-up of the BID. 

 

The businesses will have the ownership, as well as the responsibility, to ensure that money 

is well spent and the BID will be overseen by its Board and evaluated independently. Every 

penny will count.  We know Caernarfon is a fantastic town that offers much to do, see and 

experience. We also know there is much that needs to continually improve, especially in the 

town centre. Caernarfon BID can make this happen. 

 

The BID: Why? 

The BID’s purpose is to enable collaboration and working together to create improvement. 

We will work together to make our vision possible, and with Caernarfon BID over the next 

five years, the town centre will receive an investment of  £430,000  as well  as benefits from 

guaranteed levels of service delivered by Gwynedd Council. 

 

• Over £86,000 will be raised by the BID through its levy per year. 

• That’s almost half-a-million of additional investment in the town centre over five years. 

 

 

 

 



 

4 

 

Picture what our future could look like: 

 

By 2020, Caernarfon Town Centre will have gone from strength to strength. Visitor numbers 

will have gone up. Our businesses will be thriving and the town centre will be positioned as 

one of the best centres for visitors, local and neighbouring communities alike. 

 

A key part of making this happen is a “Yes” vote for Caernarfon BID. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

5 

 

2 BID pledges 
 

Caernarfon, with its impressive UNESCO designated 13
th

 century Castle and town walls 

attracts visitors from all over the world.  Set impressively on the Menai Strait, the 

regenerated waterfront walkway, Doc Fictoria marina and Galeri Caernarfon theatre, cinema 

and arts centre build on the leisure offer for local people also.  The regeneration and 

preservation of the historic Slate Quay and the Welsh Highland Railway terminus add to the 

depth and significance of Caernarfon’s history, heritage and culture through the ages, which 

is highlighted through the ubiquitous use of the Welsh language. 

 

In winter 2014, 83 Caernarfon businesses were surveyed about the town centre and a BID
1
. 

Key issues and priorities voiced by businesses during consultation included reducing the 

price of parking, improving the look of the town centre, and increasing footfall through 

events and promotion by leveraging and maximising the value of town assets to extend the 

visitor season.   
 

Therefore the BID’s vision for Caernarfon as a place for visiting, working, living and 

enjoying, is for the town to be: 

 

• Influential and Integrated: Raising the voice of Caernarfon’s business community so 

that businesses have a real say in the development of the town and the region. This will 

include working with Gwynedd Council to address parking and traffic management 

issues raised by BID members.  The BID will develop mutually beneficial relationships 

between businesses, local communities and heritage establishments to deliver what’s 

best for Caernarfon and grow opportunities for new and established businesses. 

 

• Proudly Promoted: Promoting Caernarfon as a great place to visit and invest in.  With 

such significant heritage and cultural assets, including its strong Welsh language 

identity, Caernarfon can draw on new and existing visitors and communities to promote 

the town as an excellent place to shop, spend time, and invest in and to do business.  

 

• Clean & Green, Smart & Safe: Enhancing Caernarfon’s image by making it a more 

attractive and welcoming town.  The BID area will be significantly cleaner and flowers 

and greenery will bring colour to the streets.  The BID area will enhance the physical 

connections between the town’s significant attractions, building on assets such as the 

Castle, the vastly improved waterfront area, Doc Fictoria, Galeri, Y Maes and the Welsh 

Highland Railway terminus.  The BID will also make Caernarfon town centre a more 

welcoming place by addressing anti-social behaviour, littering and nuisances in the day 

and night.   

 

 

 

 

 

                                                      
1
 See section 11 for more information on the research with businesses. 



 

6 

 

Caernarfon 
BID

Clean & 
Green, 

Smart & Safe

Proudly 
Promoted

Influential 
and 

Integrated

The BID proposes to focus on these three areas of activity.  It will produce a detailed action 

plan with quarterly milestones and monitoring and an annual evaluation of progress towards 

its targets. Once the BID is established members will be able to influence the focus of the BID 

in order to deliver projects under these themes that best suit the changing needs of the 

town centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

7 

 

3 Influential and Integrated  
 

Projected BID investment over 5 years: £128,600 

 

The BID will seek to work with partners on both a local and regional level to represent the 

interests of the Caernarfon business community for the benefit of its members.   

 

Town Centre Liaison 
 

Caernarfon BID will have an active and visible BID manager that will act on behalf of BID 

members to ensure that it is serving their needs. The BID manager will be the key point of 

contact for BID member businesses. He or she will be appointed and employed by 

Caernarfon BID and will be contracted to work 18.5 hours a week which ensures a greater 

degree of flexibility and value for money for Caernarfon businesses than other part-time 

arrangements which could result in no BID manager presence for consecutive days. The 

successful candidate will be a self-motivated individual with a high level of initiative and 

experience and effective skills in PR, social media, management and relationship building. 

The BID manager will coordinate the delivery of projects across all three themed areas as 

well as manage its day-to-day activities, which will include the following: 

 

• Project Management: The manager will also lead on projects as well as a longer-term 

strategic development plan for the town.  The manager’s work will be overseen by the 

BID board. 

 

• Additional funding generation: The manager will be responsible for attracting 

additional sources of income for the BID, over and above the BID levy, including 

negotiating sponsorship and preparing funding bids.    

 

• Parking: The BID manager will be responsible for working with Gwynedd Council to 

address the parking and traffic management issues that are of great concern to many 

BID area businesses.  This will include identifying root causes, exploring potential actions 

and piloting innovative solutions to mitigate the impact of these issues on trade in the 

town, e.g. flexible charging during key events.   

 

• Dealing with empty shops: The manager will explore options and opportunities to make 

positive use of empty properties in the town.  This is likely to include installing window 

vinyls for destination marketing spaces, business advertising, local community 

exhibitions and displays, as well as facilitating pop-up opportunities for schools and 

other groups.  

 

• Liaison: The manager will liaise with the Local Authority, Town Council, Welsh 

Government, community organisations and other bodies, to lobby on the BID’s behalf 

and exploit partnership opportunities.   This includes, in particular, working with Cadw in 

order to exploit opportunities, to link in with events and activities at the Castle and 

enhance the visitor experience.  



 

8 

 

• Advocate: The manager will represent and be an advocate for BID area businesses. 

Engaging with external stakeholders and partners in and around the BID area, always 

promoting the interests of the BID and its business members  

 

Growing Business 
 

Caernarfon businesses and organisations have a wealth of knowledge and experience in 

trading and operating in the town. The BID aims to develop this and bring new knowledge 

and experience that is pertinent for the needs of businesses in Caernarfon.   

 

• Helping existing businesses grow and improve: The BID will host skills and training 

events, including business development and training and information seminars, on 

topics such as law, finance, digital and social media, PR and marketing, customer 

insights, local supply chains and sustainability. Through its network of businesses the 

BID will be able to signpost members and help them access support via relevant 

agencies, including Business Wales. 

 

• New Businesses and Start-up Mentoring: The BID will help attract and establish new 

businesses to complement the existing offer of the BID area. This will enhance 

Caernarfon’s offer to locals and visitors and avoid duplicating the offer from existing 

businesses. There will be a mentoring scheme for retail start-ups that will be 

coordinated by the BID. The mentoring scheme will offer individual support to BID area 

start-ups with the relevant information that they need to run their business effectively, 

from IT support to managing accounts. 

 

• Collective Purchasing: The BID will investigate opportunities for helping businesses get 

better deals, by purchasing commonly bought goods and services together in order to 

save time and money. This could include things such as purchasing stationery and 

equipment, or procuring cleaning, advertising or shop improvement services.  This 

approach has been very successful in other BIDs and will benefit BID businesses. 

 

• Awards: The BID will host an awards programme.  The awards will celebrate successful 

BID area businesses in a variety of categories such as small business of the year, 

entrepreneur of the year to best customer service of the year. Promotion of the awards 

will raise awareness of the high-quality businesses operating in Caernarfon. There will 

also be awards for local schools for pupils with the best ideas for the town that will be 

part of an annual outreach project with schools and colleges in the Caernarfon area. 

 



 

9 

 

4 Proudly Promoted 
 

Projected BID investment over 5 years: £67,500 

 

Events and Activities 
 

The BID will support an events programme for the town. Events and activities will be run in 

partnership with local community groups and others who will work together to engage 

residents and visitors, animate the streets and encourage everyone to spend time in the 

town.  

 

Caernarfon Castle is a huge asset for the town but the potential positive impact on town 

businesses has not been realised. The BID will forge stronger links between businesses and 

the Castle to reap mutual benefits. This will include fringe events to music, arts, comedy 

events at the Castle being held at different locations around the town such as pubs, cafes, 

shops and squares.  

 

The BID will look to support groups within Caernarfon which are organising events and 

provide support to enhance existing events and bring them out into the streets of the BID 

area. New events and activities proposed by the BID, for support and delivery by partners, 

include the following:  

 

• Cadw Events: The BID will integrate with and build on opportunities created by 

Caernarfon Castle.  It will promote castle events and activities and support fringe events 

around the BID area in order to maximise their impact on the town.  

 

• Caernarfon Food Festival: Caernarfon BID will support the group that are developing a 

food festival in the town by offering the required support for it to be a success. 

 

• Medieval Fayre: A full weekend of celebrations engaging the whole community 

featuring plenty of medieval music, dancing, entertainment and food and drink. There 

will be extravagant medieval costumes too that will bring the walled town to life. 

 

• St. Dwynwen’s Day: The week leading up to St. Dwynwen’s Day will see Caernarfon 

getting all romantic with businesses being encouraged to decorate their shop fronts and 

putting on special offers to celebrate and encourage customers to purchase gifts for 

their lovers.  

 

• Cwrw Cofi Real Ale Trail: With an array of historic inns that serve a range of often local 

real ales there is an opportunity to celebrate the pubs of Caernarfon. Several of these 

pubs have featured in Welsh poetry and music and have exceptionally interesting 

histories. The trail will be advertised and marketed and maps will be available at all the 

participating BID area pubs.  

 

 



 

10 

 

Other ideas proposed through the consultation also included: 

 

• Classic Cars on Y Maes  

• Christmas Market 

• Easter Parade 

• Outdoor Theatre 

• Food and Drink Week 

• Seafood Festival 

• Street Music Festival 

 

The BID will also establish a “Town Centre Challenge” to engage school, college and 

university students from a variety of disciplines, from geography to business, music to 

mathematics, with their local High Street.  This will include shopping and economic studies, 

consumer behaviour projects and supplying entrepreneurship opportunities through pop-up 

shops, bringing education and skills to the town centre.   The BID will sponsor awards, work 

experience and training opportunities for all ages. 

 

Marketing and PR 
 

The BID will design and implement marketing and promotional activities according to plans 

tailored to the BID area’s various audiences.  It will promote Caernarfon’s businesses by 

emphasising their complementary offer to the existing historical, heritage and cultural offer 

to both local residents and visitors. Where possible the BID will work with local partners to 

support and add value to existing marketing and PR activities and deliver new initiatives.  It 

will also look to engage with empty property owners to explore occupancy opportunities for 

businesses. 

 

• Visitor Welcome Plan “Warm Welcome / Croeso Cynnes” 

 

Caernarfon has a unique offer as a World Heritage Site with a rich historical and industrial 

heritage and a strong identity as a vibrant centre for the Welsh language. It is situated in a 

location that is on the doorstep of an array of sites in north west Wales with Anglesey to the 

north, Pen Llŷn to the west and Snowdonia National Park, Porthmadog and Criccieth to the 

south.  

 

A Caernarfon Visitor Welcome Plan led by the BID will exploit the town’s unique offer to 

attract additional visitors to strengthen and lengthen the tourism seasons. A Visitor 

Welcome Plan will include a Visit Caernarfon website, with an accommodation and dining 

directory.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

11 

 

• A BID website with a local business directory “I Love Caernarfon / Rwy’n Caru 

Caernarfon”   

 

For local audiences the BID will manage a dedicated town website, with a shopping, leisure 

and services directory, deals and vouchers, job vacancies noticeboard, news and events 

listings. The website will also provide information and updates on the progress of the BID in 

the town. 

 

For BID businesses there will be a members section, including a noticeboard and forum for 

BID businesses. The members section will allow all businesses to discuss and raise topics 

and the BID manager will moderate this forum, responding to any questions, suggestions 

and problems.  

 

The reach of the BID website will be maximised by exposure on social media such as 

Facebook, Twitter and Instagram where regular posts will build and develop interest in the 

Caernarfon BID and the town itself by informing people of news, activities and promotions 

via links to the website. 

 



 

12 

 

5 Clean & Green, Smart & Safe 
 

Projected BID investment over 5 years: £105,000 

 

Improving the first impressions that shoppers, visitors and residents have of Caernarfon was 

a common theme that was raised in the consultation with businesses. With attractive 

alternatives such as Llandudno and Chester as well as Bangor’s Caernarfon Road out of town 

shops being popular destinations for shoppers several commented that there is a need for 

Caernarfon to better compete with such towns and cities to attract shoppers and visitors 

from across Gwynedd, Anglesey, Conwy and further afield. With ongoing heritage and 

regeneration developments in Caernarfon it is time that the town centre better capitalises 

on the visitors and surrounding communities that come to the town.    

 

The BID manager as part of their responsibility to explore for match funding possibilities will 

explore the opportunity presented by Vibrant and Viable Places funding to assist in the work 

under the Clean & Green, Smart & Safe theme. 

 

The BID will focus on the following activities under the Clean & Green, Smart & Safe theme: 

 

• New and additional cleaning  

 

Providing more effective street cleaning to what is being undertaken at present e.g. more 

and regular cleaning, deep cleaning, addressing the bird mess that plights parts of the town 

and reviewing the positioning of litter bins to optimise locations.  Gwynedd Council have 

provided a baseline schedule of cleaning services and will sign a Baseline Agreement with 

the BID to ensure that BID activities are in addition to existing services.  

 

• New and additional greening  

 

We will develop and improve the hanging baskets, planters and other green areas of 

Caernarfon in order to make the town a more attractive place to visit, live and work.  

 

• Discover Caernarfon information points and Gateway Areas 

 

The BID will concentrate on establishing attractive and welcoming entry and gateway points 

to the town by focusing on landing areas and key routes into the town e.g. the Welsh 

Highland Railway train station, bus station, Galeri, taxi ranks and car parks. This will be via 

branded signage, high-quality maps and interactive Apps to direct visitors to local sites and 

services.  We will create a comprehensive shopping and sites map (and App) of Caernarfon 

that will make it much clearer to find everything that the town has to offer from hidden 

boutiques, historic pubs, high street names and those places for a bite to eat.  

 

 

 

 



 

13 

 

• Shop Fronts  

 

We will seek to leverage in additional funding to boost the allocated BID funding to 

improve shop fronts, both occupied and empty.  Caernarfon has recently attracted town 

centre funding for tackling poverty and with the BID will continue to work with partners to 

attract further investment.  Improvement projects will include maintenance and cleaning 

as well as installing window vinyls for destination marketing spaces, business advertising, 

local community exhibitions and displays. 

 

• A safe environment 

 

The BID will endeavour to make Caernarfon Town Centre more welcoming for visitors and 

residents alike by partnering with the Caernarfon and District PubWatch Scheme and the 

police to tackle anti-social behaviour, littering and nuisances in the day and night. 

 

The proposed BID will work with Gwynedd Council to support the delivery of its standard 

services as efficient and effectively as possible. Working with the Authority, the BID will 

seek to deliver the complementary services and activities as noted above. 



 

14 

 

6 How will the BID deliver these changes? 
 

Since the project to develop a BID in Caernarfon started over a year ago businesses have 

been consulted regarding the fundamental issues that are affecting Caernarfon Town 

Centre.  

 

A programme of ambitious improvements has been developed with the key aims being to 

make Caernarfon a more prosperous trading environment and to boost footfall by better 

competing against other successful commercial centres. Creating a BID will provide the most 

effective way of delivering these aims as well as to develop a united business voice.  

 

A BID is business-led, business-funded and offers businesses the opportunity to take control 

of the commercial centre that they are situated in and to drive positive change in the area. 

BIDs are not-for-profit enterprises that are funded by businesses through a levy. The levy 

amount that we propose is 1.5% of the rateable value of a business unit (known as a 

hereditament). The aim is to match the levy income with additional and alternative sources 

of income, including grant funding. 

 

In order for a BID to be established, a ballot must be held whereby businesses in the BID 

area are given the opportunity to vote for or against the proposal. If successful at ballot the 

BID term lasts for a period of five years, when a re-ballot is required, and the process starts 

again. Since the UK’s first BID was established in 2005, over 180 BIDs have now been 

formed. Currently there are three BIDs in Wales in Swansea, Merthyr Tydfil and most 

recently in Newport with a further 11 Welsh BIDs in development.  

 

Success of the BID model is perhaps best illustrated by the success rate at ballot: 85% at first 

term, and higher still at renewal ballots. Now is the opportunity for change. Support 

Caernarfon BID. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

15 

 

6.1 The BID Area 
 

The map below shows the boundary for the town centre BID. All hereditaments (properties) 

within the boundary are included in the BID.  Addresses are taken from the National Non-

Domestic Rates Database. 

 

 



 

16 

 

Streets included in full or in part within the proposed BID area where services are provided 

are as follows: 

 

Caernarfon  

Castle Square / Y Maes Castle Ditch / Pendeitsh 

Pool Street / Stryd Llyn Castle Hill / Allt y Castell 

Greengate Street / Tan y Bont Bridge Street / Bont Bridd 

Hole in the Wall Street / Stryd Twll yn y Wal Pool Side / Penllyn 

Palace Street / Stryd y Plas Bank Quay / Cei Banc 

Shirehall Street / Stryd y Jêl Glan Môr / Crown Street 

Bangor Road / Stryd Bangor Doc Fictoria  

Pool Hill / Penllyn Balaclava Road / Balaclafa  

St Helens Road / Ffordd Santes Helen Church Street / Stryd yr Eglwys 

Church Lane / Lôn yr Eglwys Market Street / Stryd y Farchnad 

Northgate Street / Stryd Pedwar a Chwech Pretoria Terrace / Rhes Pretoria 

High Street / Stryd Fawr  Castle Street / Stryd y Castell 

Lôn Crwyn Mill Lane / Lôn y Felin 

North Penrallt / Penrallt Uchaf South Penrallt / Penrallt Isaf 

Lôn Twthill Pool Lane / Pen y Graig 

Slate Quay / Cei Llechi Allt Pafiliwn 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

17 

 

6.2 Projected BID Budget 
 

Caernarfon BID will be financed through an additional, annual levy of 1.5% of the rateable 

value of the business.  The levy will apply to all business rate payers with a rateable value of 

over £2,000. 

 

Through its levy Caernarfon BID would generate an income of 

£86,000 per year, or £430,000 over the five-year term of the 

BID to invest in projects and services to benefit businesses. 

 

This would also help to leverage in additional funds from other sources including: securing 

grant funding and sponsorship, voluntary contributions from businesses outside the 

boundary and landlords. Businesses with rateable values below £2,000 may contribute 

voluntarily in order to be included as voluntary members of the BID. 

 

As a levy payer you will be required to pay one annual payment towards the BID each year 

for five years. This annual payment will be calculated at 1.5% of the rateable value for your 

individual property (hereditament). So if you own a business that has a rateable value of 

£20,000 you will pay £300 a year to the BID. 

 

 

Business Rates 

2015/16 
Rateable Value Annual Levy 

Daily Equivalent 

Cost 

£2,410 £5,000 £75 21p 

£4,820 £10,000 £150 41p 

£9,640 £20,000 £300 £2.05 

£24,100 £50,000 £750 £4.10 

£48,200 £100,000 £1,500 £8.22 

 

 

The levy is an investment.  In return for their investment, businesses will benefit from 

projects that they would not get without the BID.  The BID company will be accountable for 

all monies received or generated and will be able to tell businesses what they are receiving 

for their investment.   

 

• Only 12% of businesses will contribute more than £1 per day 

 

• Only half of businesses will pay more than 25p per day. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

18 

 

This is a draft budget.  Furthermore, this budget is based only on income from the levy on 

businesses and does not account for additional sources of funding that will be sought to 

boost the BID’s income. 
 

 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Levy income at 1.5% of rateable value (based on 95% 

collection rate) 

£ £ £ £ £ 

86,000 86,000 86,000 86,000 86,000 

Core costs 

Levy collection 8,322 8,322 8,322 8,322 8,322 

Management and coordination 5,443 5,443 5,443 5,443 5,443 

Administrative costs 3,550 3,550 3,550 3,550 3,550 

 

17,315 17,315 17,315 17,315 17,315 

Clean & 

Green, Smart 

& Safe 

New and additional cleaning 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 

New and additional greening 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000 

Wayfinding and Landing Areas 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 

Shop fronts 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 

A safe environment 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 

    21,000 21,000 21,000 21,000 21,000 

Proudly 

Promoted 

Events and activities 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 8,000 

Visitor Welcome Plan 3,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 1,500 

Local Directory 3,500 4,000 3,500 3,000 3,000 

    14,500 14,000 13,500 13,000 12,500 

Influential 

and 

Integrated 

BID manager costs 14,225 14,725 15,225 15,725 16,225 

Capacity building 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 

New businesses & start-up 

mentoring 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 

Collective purchasing 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 

Awards 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 

 

24,725 25,225 25,725 26,225 26,725 

Total Expenditure 77,540 77,540 77,540 77,540 77,540 

Total Income 86,000 86,000 86,000 86,000 86,000 

Surplus / Contingency / Bad Debt 8,460 8,460 8,460 8,460 8,460 

Surplus / Contingency / Bad Debt (%) 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 

 

The core costs include the purchase and maintenance of levy collection software, levy 

collection costs, BID manager line management and office overheads.  

 

BID income 

 

The above budget is based on the income from the BID levy only.  It is anticipated that 

additional income will come from voluntary contributions from smaller businesses and 

businesses outside the BID boundary wishing to become members of the BID, possible 

landlord contributions, accessing grant funding and through seeking match funding from 

both the public and private sector.  

 

Projected levy collection rate and budget contingency 



 

19 

 

 

Gwynedd Council has a business rates collection rate of 97.7% based on the last three 

financial years.  It is recognised however that the following sources state that a lower 

collection rate is more prudent.  The British Retail Consortium advises budgeting to be 

based on a 95% collection rate with a contingency of no less than 5% on all items of 

expenditure.  For this reason, the BID levy income in the table above is based upon a levy 

collection rate of 95%, close to the actual Gwynedd Council rate, but still prudent.  A 

contingency for bad debt or surplus is included at 10%, as recommended by the Association 

of Town Centre Management.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

20 

 

7 Your Questions Answered 
 

Why are we running a BID ballot?  

 

To create a BID, we need to run a ballot of eligible businesses. The ballot will ask a simple 

question: ‘Are you in favour of the proposals for the Caernarfon Business Improvement 

District?’ In order for the BID to come into existence, a simple majority of those voting must 

vote in favour. But their votes must also represent a majority of the aggregate rateable 

value of the properties that vote. 

 

Am I eligible to vote in the BID ballot? 

 

If your business premises falls within the proposed BID area and has a rateable value above 

£2,000 you are eligible to vote in the BID ballot 

 

How will Caernarfon BID be funded? 

 

If the ballot is successful, Caernarfon BID will be funded by an annual levy of 1.5% of the 

rateable value of all eligible business units situated in the BID area, regardless of whether a 

business voted for or against the BID. For example, if the rateable value on your premises is 

£10,000 you will pay £150 per annum. Once a ballot is successful the BID levy is mandatory 

for all eligible businesses and other bodies, such as the local authority.  

 

Levy collection  

 

The BID levy will be collected on an annual basis and will be collected by the local authority 

with the business rates.  Caernarfon BID will be clear and transparent about how it is 

spending the money. There will be regularly updated information about income and 

expenditure available to all members of the BID. 

 

Ensuring that any BID services are additional  

 

A BID in Caernarfon town centre will be a business-led initiative with funds that will be 

collected and managed by you. It must provide services over and above those offered by the 

local authority and other statutory agencies. The Caernarfon BID will sign a Baseline 

Agreement with Gwynedd Council that will establish what the local authority already 

delivers and will monitor this agreement. 

 

How long will the BID last?  

 

The BID will last for five years, meaning guaranteed investment over that period. If 

businesses want the BID to continue beyond five years you will make this decision through a 

further ballot process. 

 

How can I be represented?  



 

21 

 

 

If the BID ballot is successful, Caernarfon BID will be reconstituted as a new not-for-profit 

company limited by guarantee. The first AGM is proposed to take place in September 2016 

after the BID starts its work on 1
st

 April 2016. All businesses that pay the levy can become 

members of the company in order to be eligible to vote.  Any member can stand for election 

to the board.  Business premises with rateable values below £2,000 may contribute 

voluntarily on the basis of £30/annum minimum in order to be included as voluntary 

members of the BID, however only members who are mandatory levy payers will have full 

voting rights. 

 

How is this proposal funded? 

 

Funding was received from the Welsh Government, Caernarfon Town Council, through the 

Caernarfon Chamber of Trade and Gwynedd Council.  Consultants were appointed to 

conduct a feasibility study on whether a BID for Caernarfon would be feasible and, if found 

to be feasible, to develop a proposal to be put to ballot.   The costs that will be incurred in 

holding the ballot will be covered by Gwynedd Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

22 

 

8 BID Governance 
 

The development of our proposed BID in Caernarfon has been led by an enthusiastic group 

of representatives from Caernarfon Town Council and Caernarfon Chamber of Trade. If the 

BID receives a ‘yes’ vote these individuals have agreed to take the newly formed BID 

company forward to the first AGM. Directors will be elected at the first AGM which will be 

held in September 2016. 

 

All businesses who with a rateable value of £2000 or above will be eligible to be members of 

the BID and can stand as a director.  Those businesses who fall within the BID boundary but 

with a lower rateable value can make a voluntary contribution of £30 per annum in order to 

become voluntary members of the BID, however only members who are mandatory levy 

payers will have full voting rights.  We will establish a not-for-profit company limited by 

guarantee. 

 

The proposed AGB Caernarfon BID Cyf. Board seek representation across sectors and from 

businesses from within and outside of the Castle walls. It will include, for example, the 

following representation: 

 

• Small Business 

• Medium Business 

• Large Business 

• Night Time Economy Business 

• Caernarfon Chamber of Trade 

• Community Organisation 

• Gwynedd Council (non-executive board member) 

 

Board directors will serve voluntarily.  All BID levy payers will be entitled to become 

members of the company and may stand to be elected as members of the BID board at its 

AGM.  All levy payers will be asked to apply to become members of the BID company.   

 

All levy payers will have a stake in the BID company, and can hold the BID company to 

account.  The BID will also employ a manager to ensure projects are delivered effectively 

and efficiently, seek additional funding and be the main point of contact between levy 

payers and the Board. 

 

The levy will be collected by Gwynedd Council on behalf of the BID. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

23 

 

Alterations to BID Arrangements 
 

Only minor amendments can be made to the BID arrangements without seeking formal 

approval from the BID members. BID arrangements may be altered without an alteration 

ballot, as long as there is no proposal to alter: 

 

• The geographical area of the BID 

• The BID levy in such a way that would: 

o cause any person to be liable to pay the BID levy, who was not previously liable to 

pay; or 

o increase the BID levy for any person other than for inflation purposes as set out 

above. 

 

Where BID arrangements may be altered without an alteration ballot, the alteration will be 

made by a decision of the full Caernarfon BID board. 

 

Performance measurement 
 

The Caernarfon BID will be transparent and accountable to its members. The BID manager, 

in conjunction with the management board, will develop a monitoring and evaluation 

framework with annual targets against key performance indicators.  Performance against 

these targets and the impact of the BID’s improvement programme will be regularly 

monitored and reports regarding progress will be communicated to levy payers and the 

wider business community.  There will be a clear focus on performance management, visible 

impacts and the ability to show excellent value for money. 



 

24 

 

9 Caernarfon BID Timeline 
 

There are a number of stages to establishing a BID. Below are proposed timescales for the 

next steps, however the website will be kept updated with more precise dates. 

  

 

  

Caernarfon BID will run for 5 years from 1
st

 April 2016 until 31
st

 March 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notification of the postal ballot 

 

31
st

 July 2015 

Receive voting pack  

 

By 27
th

 August 2015 

Postal ballot closes  

 

5pm Thursday 24
th

 September 2015  

Ballot results announced 

 

Friday 25
th

  September 2015  

Establish the BID company  

 

October 2015 – March 2016 

BID company goes live & first levy collected 

 

April 2016 

BID AGM 

 

September 2016 

Year 2 AGM September 2017 

 

Year 3 AGM September 2018 

 

Year 4 AGM September 2019 

 

Year 5 AGM September 2020 

  

BID renewal ballot   

 

December 2020 

  

  



 

25 

 

Ballot rules 
 

Each business rate payer will have a vote provided they are listed on the Non-Domestic 

Ratings List when notice of ballot is given by Gwynedd Council and sit within the BID 

boundary with a rateable value over and inclusive of £2,000. 

 

• In August 2015 the voting pack will be sent to the address of the hereditament 

(property). 

• All votes must be returned by Thursday 24th September 2015 by 5pm. 

• For the BID to go ahead two conditions must be met: 

o More than 50% of businesses that vote must vote in favour. 

o The aggregate of the rateable values of the “yes” votes must represent more than 

50% of the total rateable value of all votes cast. 

• Under the legislation, if these conditions are fulfilled payment of the 1.5% levy becomes 

mandatory for all eligible businesses, regardless of how they voted. 

• A “yes” vote for Caernarfon BID will mean that the additional activities promised will 

start happening in April 2016. The first invoices will be sent in March 2016 in order to 

prepare for this. 

• The BID area, the BID levy percentage and the criteria of businesses eligible cannot be 

altered at any stage during the five-year lifetime of the BID without a full Alteration 

Ballot. This is to protect ratepayers and provide certainty of BID levy costs. 

• It is the intention of the BID company to trade as a not-for-profit company who will run 

the BID.  

 



 

26 

 

10 Your vote counts! 
 

Over the past year town centre businesses have shown a great deal of enthusiasm for a 

Business Improvement District in Caernarfon. Now is the time to create a sustainable and 

successful approach to managing our town centre for years to come. BACK THE BID - VOTE 

FOR CAERNARFON 

 



 

27 

 

11 Research and Feasibility 
 

The research and development of Caernarfon BID has been funded by the Welsh 

Government, Caernarfon Town Council, through the Caernarfon Chamber of Trade and 

Gwynedd Council. A feasibility study was produced in December 2014 to ascertain whether 

BIDs would be an effective mechanism to address current town centre issues with a focus 

on improving trading conditions.   

 

Based on an analysis of rateable values and a survey of businesses within the proposed BID 

boundary, the feasibility study concluded that establishing a successful BID is not only an 

exciting and valuable prospect for businesses and the wider community of Caernarfon, but it 

also concluded that it is a feasible reality.  There is support and demand for the BID, it will 

be financially viable, it can act on the specific needs of BID businesses over the long-term 

and it can add value to the levy on businesses through integration, partnerships, leverage 

and influence.  

 

Surveys were completed by 83 businesses, of which 69 (83%) stated that they thought a 

Business BID for Caernarfon was a good idea in principle and should be tested in a ballot.  

Only one person answered no and the remainder were not sure.   

 

The 83 completed surveys represent a response rate of 24% of business premises within the 

BID boundaries.  By disregarding duplicate owners, town and county council buildings, car 

parks, banks and ATMs, police stations, libraries, bus depots and other premises without a 

direct phone number or invalid contact details, the response rate was 42%.  Two-thirds of 

those surveyed represented independent businesses.  

 



 

28 

 

12 Supporting Documents 
 

Other documents related to the BID can be found on the BID website 

www.caernarfonbid.co.uk.   

 

These include: 

• The draft Baseline Agreement between the BID and Gwynedd Council, including a 

statement of the existing baseline services provided by Gwynedd Council. 

• The draft Operating Agreement between the BID and Gwynedd Council, stating the 

terms how Gwynedd Council will operate as the billing and ballot authority on behalf 

of the BID. 

 

Other resources include: 

• The Welsh Government’s BIDs Handbook  

• Case studies and links to other UK BIDs 

 

 

For more information on Caernarfon BID and to find out how you can get involved, please 

contact the BID chairman: 

 

(name and contact details here) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

29 

 

Appendix 1: Essential Information 
 

Who is involved? 
 

1. The liable person to pay the BID levy is the ratepayer responsible for non-domestic 

rates in respect of the hereditament.  

2. The BID levy will apply to all hereditaments with an NNDR (National Non-Domestic 

Rates) address located within the Caernarfon BID boundary area.  

3. Businesses with a rateable value that is below £2,000 will not be eligible to pay the BID 

levy but may contribute voluntarily in order to become voluntary members of the BID.  

 

Key Dates 
 

1. The proposed BID will last five consecutive financial years from April 2016. 

2. All eligible businesses will be entitled to vote for the BID proposal in a 28 day postal 

ballot which will commence on 27
th

 August 2015 and voting will close on Thursday 24
th

 

September 2015 at 5pm with the results announced on Friday 25
th

 September on the 

BID website. 

 

The Levy 
 

1. The BID levy will be 1.5% of each hereditament’s rateable value for the full five years as 

detailed in the NNDR list 2010. 

2. There is no distinction to be made between occupied or unoccupied hereditaments. 

3. The BID levy will not be affected by the small business rate relief scheme. 

4. The local authority shall collect the BID levy and hold such sums in the BID Revenue 

Account. 

5. The levy will be calculated for each hereditament on an annual basis and billed in time 

for the start of each year of the BID.   

6. The levy will be charged according to chargeable day procedures. It will be based on the 

2010 ratings list records for each hereditament in the BID area taken at the date when 

notice of ballot is given. This will ensure the completeness and accuracy of the rateable 

value listing used for generating bills each year. 

7. The Operating Agreement will be made available on request by a potential levy payer. 

8. Businesses may become liable to pay the levy where they were not previously, for 

example where a hereditament in the BID area that was absent from the ratings list is 

subsequently added.  

9. The chargeable period will be the BID term of five years from 1
st

 April 2016. No account 

will be taken of the rating revaluation in 2017, unless a hereditament is shown in that 

list for the first time, in which case the rateable value shown in that list will be used.  

The exception will be any change of use or a physical change to a property or 

hereditament.  

10. The non-payment of the BID levy will be pursued via all available mechanisms. 

 

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

Top of the Document 

 
 
 
THE CAERNARFON / BANGOR BID 
PROPOSED AGREEMENT 
 

 

 

 

  



EAD-0077 RG1  

Top of the Document 

 
 
 
DRAFT OPERATING AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Gwynedd Council 

(the Council) 

 

AGB Caernarfon BID / AGB Bangor BID 

(the BID Company) 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 1 

Contents 
 
 
1 Definitions 
 
2 Statutory Authorities 
 
3 Commencement 
 
4 Setting the BID Levy 
 
5 The BID Revenue Account 
 
6 Debits from the BID Revenue Account 
 
7 Collecting the BID Levy 
 
8 Procedures available to the Council for enforcing payment of the BID 

Levy 
 
9 Enforcement Mechanisms for non-collection of the BID Levy by the 

Council 
 
10 Accounting Procedures and Monitoring 
 
11 Termination 
 
12 Confidentiality 
 
13 Notices 
 
14 Miscellaneous 
 
15 Exercise of the Council’s powers 
 
16 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 
 
17 Arbitration 
 
18 Freedom of Information 
  



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 2 

Operating Agreement 

 

Dated 

 

(1) Gwynedd Council (the Council), Shirehall Street, Caernarfon, Gwynedd. 

 

(2) AGB Caernarfon BID / AGB Bangor BID BID (the BID Company) a company 

limited by guarantee with registered office address of 

 

Recitals 

A The Council is the billing authority for the purposes of the Local Government 

Act 2003 and is responsible for collecting the BID Levy and administering the 

BID Revenue Account which shall be used towards the operation of the BID 

within the area of the Council and the funding of the BID Arrangements. 

 

B The BID Company is responsible for the operation of the BID and for using the 

BID Levy for the purposes of achieving the objectives and aspirations set out 

in the BID Arrangements. 

 

C Both parties wish to confirm the arrangements by which the BID Levy shall be 

collected together with general arrangements as to the relationship to be 

established between the Council and the BID Company for the duration of the 

BID. 

 

D The purpose of this Agreement is to: 

 

• establish the procedure for setting the BID Levy; 

• confirm the basis upon which the Council will be responsible for 

collecting the BID Levy; 

• set out the enforcement mechanisms available for collection of the BID 

Levy; 

• set out the procedures for accounting and transference of the BID Levy; 

• provide for the monitoring and review of the collection of the BID levy; 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 3 

• Confirm the manner in which the Council’s expenses incurred in 

collecting the BID Levy shall be paid. 

 

IT IS AGREED: 

 

1 Definitions  

the Administrative Expenses means all costs incurred by the Council in the 

administration, collection and recovery of the BID Levy including but not limited to 

any staffing costs and any expenditure incurred by the Council in relation to software 

or other systems used in relation to the BID levy and any costs associated with this 

Agreement or any proposed termination thereof. 

 
the Annual Report means a report to be prepared by the Council which details the 
following:- 
 

(i) the total amount of the BID Levy collected during the relevant Financial 

Year; 

(ii) details of the success rate for the collection of the BID Levy; 

(iii) the Council’s proposals (if any) to help improve its efficiency in the 

collection and enforcement of the BID levy;  

(iv) details of those BID Levy Payers who have paid the BID Levy and 

those who have not paid the BID levy; and 

(v) the Council’s proposals for bad or doubtful debts 

 

the Appeal Notice means a notice to be served by the BID Company in accordance 

with clause 9.2. 

 

Bad or Doubtful Debts shall have the same meaning as described in Part 2 of 

Schedule 3 of the Regulations. 

 

The BID means the Business Improvement District which is managed and operated 

by the BID Company and which operates within and is covered by those streets set 

out below and shown on the map attached hereto. 

 

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 4 

The following streets are included in the BID area in whole or in part:- 

Caernarfon Bangor 

Castle Square / Y Maes High Street / Stryd Fawr 

Pool Street / Stryd Llyn Station Road / Stryd yr Orsaf 

Greengate Street / Tan y Bont Ffordd Gwynedd 

Hole in the Wall Street / Stryd Twll yn 

y Wal 

Deiniol Road / Ffordd Deiniol 

Palace Street / Stryd y Plas Tan-y-Fynwent 

Shirehall Street / Stryd y Jêl Waterloo Road / Stryd 

Waterloo 

Bangor Road / Stryd Bangor Garth Road / Ffordd Garth 

Pool Hill / Penllyn Glanrafon 

St Helens Road / Ffordd Santes Helen Dean Street / Stryd y Deon 

Church Lane / Lôn yr Eglwys Ashley Road 

Northgate Street / Stryd Pedwar a 

Chwech 

Brick Street 

High Street / Stryd Fawr  Mount Street 

Lôn Crwyn Plas Llwyd Terrace  

North Penrallt / Penrallt Uchaf Tan y Fynwent 

Lôn Twthill Ebenezer Place 

Slate Quay / Cei Llechi York Place 

Castle Ditch / Pendeitsh Ffordd y Ffynnon 

Castle Hill / Allt y Castell Sackville Road / Ffordd 

Sackville 

Bridge Street / Bont Bridd  

Pool Side / Penllyn  

Bank Quay / Cei Banc  

Glan Môr / Crown Street  

Doc Fictoria   

Balaclava Road / Balaclafa   

Church Street / Stryd yr Eglwys  

Market Street / Stryd y Farchnad  

Pretoria Terrace / Rhes Pretoria  

Castle Street / Stryd y Castell  

Mill Lane / Lôn y Felin  

South Penrallt / Penrallt Isaf  

Pool Lane / Pen y Graig  

Allt Pafiliwn  

 

the BID Arrangements means those arrangements to be put in place pursuant to 

the Regulations by the BID Company for the purpose of enabling the projects 

specified to be carried out for the benefit of the BID or those who live, work or carry 

on any activity in the district. 

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 5 

the BID Company’s Report means a report for each Financial Year to be prepared 

by the BID. 

 

Company which details the following:- 

 

 (a) the total income and expenditure of the BID Levy; 

(b) other income and expenditure of the BID Company not being the BID 

Levy; 

(c) a statement of actual and pending deficits; and 

(d) the various initiatives and schemes upon which the BID levy has been 

expended by the BID Company 

 

the BID Levy means the charge to be levied and collected within the BID area 

pursuant to the Regulations and this Agreement.  Details regarding the BID levy 

included within Schedule 1. 

 

the BID Company’s Termination Notice means a notice to be served by the BID 

Company on the Council pursuant to clause 11.8 and Regulation 18 of the 

Regulations. 

 

the BID Levy Payer(s) means the non-domestic rate payers who are liable for 

paying the BID levy as described in the Schedule. 

 

the BID Levy Rules means the rules set out in the Schedule which sets out how the 

BID Levy will be calculated, details of Exempt Properties and other requirements 

related to the BID Levy (as may be amended by a successful alteration ballot). 

 

the BID Revenue Account means the account to be set up in accordance with 

Regulation 14 and operated in accordance with Schedule 3 of the Regulations. 

 

the BID Term means the period from 1st of April 2016  to 31st of March 2021. 

 

the Council’s Termination Notice means the notice to be served by the Council on 

the BID Company pursuant to clause 11.1 and Regulation 18 of the Regulations. 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 6 

 

the Contributors means the BID Levy Payers or other Contributors making 

voluntary contributions to the BID Company. 

 

Demand Notice shall have the same meaning ascribed to it as set out in paragraphs 

2 and 3 of Schedule 4 of the Regulations. 

 

Hereditament shall have the same meaning as defined in the Regulations. 

 

Electronic Communications means a communication transmitted (whether from 

one person to another, from one device to another or from a person to a device or 

vice versa): 

 

(a) by means of a telecommunication system (within the meaning of the 

Telecommunications Act 1984); or 

(b) by other means but while in electronic form 

 

Enforcement Notice means a notice to be served on the Council as specified in 

clause 9. 

 

Enforcement Regulations means the Non-Domestic Rating (Collection and 

Enforcement)(Local Lists) Regulations 1989. 

 

the Exceptions means the circumstances in which the Council shall not be required 

to seek to enforce payment of the BID levy where a BID Levy payer has failed to 

make payment pursuant to a Demand Notice.  The exceptions shall be as agreed by 

the parties from time to time. 

 

the Exempt Properties means those class or classes of properties as identified in 

the BID Levy Rules which shall be exempt either from any requirements to pay the 

BID levy or are permitted a discount on the BID levy. 

 

the Financial Year means the financial year for the BID Company which runs from 

1st April to 31st March in the following year. 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 7 

 

the First Priority Expenses means the administrative expenses incurred by the 

Council in respect of all reasonable costs arising out of compliance with its 

obligations under this Agreement and the Regulations during each year of the 

duration of this Agreement. 

 

Liability Order means an order obtained from the Magistrates Court pursuant to 

Regulation 12 of the Enforcement Regulations. 

 

the Monitoring Group means the group to be set up to monitor the collection and 

enforcement of the BID levy (as referred to in clause 10) such group to consist of 

one Council officer from Gwynedd Council and one representative from the BID 

Company. 

 

the Operational Date means the date upon which the BID Arrangements come into 

force. 

 

the Public Meeting means the meeting to be held of all BID Levy Payers pursuant to 

the Public Meeting Notice and Regulation 18 of the Regulations. 

 

the Public Meeting Notice means a notice to be served pursuant to clause 11.1 or 

11.8 by either the Council of the BID Company which provides the following:- 

 

 (a) confirmation that either party is considering terminating the BID; 

 (b) details of the venue where the public meeting will be held; 

(c) confirmation that all BID Levy Payers who attend will be permitted to 

make representation 

 

the Regulations means the Business Improvement Districts (Wales) Regulations 

2005 and such amendments made by the National Assembly for Wales pursuant to 

Section 48 and Section 58 of the Local Government Act 2003 (from time to time). 

 

the Reminder Notice means the notice to be served pursuant to clause 8.1. 

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 8 

the Summons Notice means the notice to be served following a Reminder Notice 

and pursuant to clause 8.2. 

 

a Working Day means any day of the week other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a 

bank holiday. 

 

2 Statutory Authorities 

2.1 This Agreement is made pursuant to Part IV of the Local Government Act 

2003, Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 the Regulations and all 

other enabling powers. 

 

3 Commencement 

3.1 This Agreement shall be effective from  XXXXXXXX 

 

3.2 if, at the end of the BID Term a renewal ballot is held and is successful then 

the terms of this Agreement shall be reviewed prior to the start of the new BID 

Term. 

 

4 Setting the BID Levy 

4.1 As soon as is practicable and before commencement of the BID term, the 

Council shall calculate the BID levy due from each BID Levy Payer in 

accordance with the BID Levy Rules. 

 

4.2 As soon as practicable after the ballot result, Gwynedd Council confirm in 

writing to the BID Company the BID levy payable annually by each BID Levy 

payer. 

 

5 The BID Revenue Account 

5.1 Interest payments on money in the BID Revenue Account will be subject to 

the Council’s banking arrangements at the time of operating the account.  

Such interest, if any, will be paid to the BID Company as part of the BID Levy. 

 

6 Debits from the BID Revenue Account 

6.1 The Council may debit directly from the BID Revenue Account:- 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 9 

 

(i) the First Priority Expenses at the mid-point of each Financial year 

provided that they have been detailed in a valid VAT invoice delivered 

to the BID Company giving a detailed breakdown of the costs incurred. 

 

6.2 Notwithstanding the above provision the BID Company shall be responsible 

for ensuring that all VAT invoices delivered to the BID Company shall, if not 

debited from the BID Revenue Account, be paid within 28 days of delivery. 

 

7 Collecting the BID Levy 

7.1 The Council shall at the beginning of each Financial Year confirm in writing to 

the BID Company:- 

 

(i) the means by which the BID Levy Payer shall be billed for the BID Levy; 

and 

(ii) the date when the BID Levy shall first be collected. 

 

7.2 Pursuant to clause 7.1(ii) the Council shall serve the Demand Notices on each 

BID Levy Payer and thereafter shall continue to calculate the BID Levy and 

serve the Demand Notices throughout the BID Term. 

 

7.3 The Council shall maintain a list which identifies payment and/or non-payment 

of the BID Levy and shall make available to the BID Company at intervals of 

not less than once a month. 

 

7.4 The Council shall liaise with the BID Company in carrying out monthly reviews 

of each Hereditament within the BID Area in the event of any change in the 

occupier of each Hereditament or the merger or division of a Hereditament (or 

provision of an additional Hereditament) shall: 

 

 (a) serve and updated list of BID Levy Payers upon the BID Company; 

(b) serve a Demand Notice (or alter any existing Demand Notice if 

appropriate) on the relevant BID Levy Payer. 

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 10 

7.5 The Council shall use all reasonable endeavours to collect the BID Levy on 

the date specified (pursuant to clause 7.1(ii) above) and thereafter on an 

annual basis and in accordance with the procedure set out in Schedule 4 of 

the Regulations. 

 

7.6 The Council shall use all reasonable endeavours to take all reasonable steps 

for collecting the BID Levy which are consistent with its usual procedures for 

the collection of non-domestic rates. 

 

7.7 The Council shall notify the BID Company of the amounts credited to the BID 

Revenue Account and of the amount of the authorised debits in accordance 

with clause 6. Notifications will be made on the last working day of April and 

every second month thereafter. Upon receipt of an appropriate invoice from 

the BID Company shall transfer to the BID Company’s own bank account the 

amount due and provide written confirmation of the sum transferred. 

 

7.8 In the event of an overpayment by the Council to the BID in excess of £5,000 

for a period of more than three consecutive months, the BID will return the 

overpayment to Gwynedd Council within 14 days upon receipt of a valid 

invoice. 

 

8 Procedures available to the Council for enforcing payment of the BID 

Levy 

8.1 In the event that the BID Levy is not paid in whole within twenty eight days 

from the payment due date then (subject to the Exceptions or as may 

otherwise be agreed between the parties) the Council shall serve a Reminder 

Notice on such defaulting BID Levy Payer which shall:- 

 

 (i) identify the sum payable; 

 (ii) provide a further 14 (fourteen) days for payment to be made; 

(iii) confirm that if payment is not received in accordance with (ii) above the 

Council will make an application to the Magistrates Court for a Liability 

Order to recover the unpaid sum (together with costs).  For the 

avoidance of any doubt, it is agreed that the costs awarded and 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 11 

obtained by the Council arising from the making of any Liability Order 

shall be due to and retained by the Council and shall not be payable to 

the BID Company. 

 

8.2 In the event that the BID levy is not paid in whole within 14 (fourteen) days of 

the service of the Reminder Notice in accordance with clause 8.1 then the 

Council shall immediately inform the BID Company of such further failure to 

pay (subject to the Exceptions).  The Council will consider any comments 

made by the BID Company before deciding whether to make an application to 

the Magistrates Court for a Liability Order.  The Council will normally then 

make an application to the Magistrates Court for a Liability Order to recover 

the outstanding sum of the BID Levy as is permitted by the Regulations and 

the Enforcement Regulations (as amended). 

 

8.3 In the event that the Council’s application to the Magistrates Court for a 

Liability Order is awarded it shall immediately inform the BID Company.  The 

Council will consider any comments made by the BID Company prior to 

entering in to an enforcement payment arrangement or issuing recovery 

instructions to the Enforcement Agent.  The Council will endeavour to use 

external Enforcement Agents which it has arrangements with at the relevant 

time. 

 

9 Enforcement Mechanisms for non-collection of the BID Levy by the 

Council 

9.1 In the event that the Council is not taking appropriate steps to enforce 

payment of the BID Levy pursuant to clause 8 above the BID Company shall 

serve the Enforcement Notice on the Council requesting that:- 

 

 (i) it serve a Reminder Notice; or 

 (ii) a Further Reminder Notice; or 

(iii) it applies to Court to obtain a Liability Order pursuant to clause 8.3 

above; or 

(iv) enter in to an enforcement payment arrangement or issuing the 

account to the Enforcement Agent. 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 12 

 

and the Council shall thereafter provide written confirmation of the action 

taken to recover the unpaid BID Levy. 

 

9.2 If after being served an Enforcement Notice the Council fails to take the 

requested action within 28 days then the BID Company shall serve an Appeal 

Notice to the Chief Executive of the Council.  Such notice shall:- 

 

 (i) detail the sum which remains unpaid; 

(ii) confirm that the Council has failed to use the Enforcement Mechanisms 

available to it as referred to in this Agreement to recover the sum; and 

(iii) request a meeting take place between the Chief Executive, relevant 

officers of the Council and the BID Company to achieve a solution 

and/or agree a strategy to recover the outstanding sum, such meeting 

to take place in any event no later than 28 (twenty eight) days from 

service pf the Appeal Notice. 

 

10 Accounting Procedures and Monitoring 

10.1 Within 1 (one) month from the Operational Date the Council and BID 

Company shall form the Monitoring Group. 

 

10.2 In addition to the information outlined in 7.4, every month, during the BID 

Term the Council shall provide the BID Company with a breakdown of:- 

 

(i) the amount of BID Levy for each individual BID Levy Payer; 

(ii) the BID Levy collected in relation to each BID Levy Payer; 

(iii) details (together with the outstanding unpaid sum) of those BID Levy 

Payers who have not paid the BID Levy; 

(iv) details of the Reminder Notices issued throughout that period; and 

(v) details of any Liability Orders obtained or applied for by the Council. 

 

10.3 The Monitoring Group shall meet no less than once in any one Financial Year 

and on all other occasions further meetings of the Monitoring Group shall be 

arranged by the service of written notice by either party on the other, such 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 13 

notice to be provided no less that 28 (twenty eight) days prior to the date of 

the proposed meeting (or lesser if otherwise agreed or in cases of emergency) 

and provided further that such meetings can be dispensed with altogether 

upon the written agreement of both the Council and the BID Company. 

 

10.4 At each meeting the Monitoring Group shall:- 

 

(i) review the effectiveness of the collection and enforcement of the BID 

Levy; and 

(ii) if required, review and assess the information provided by the Council 

pursuant to clauses 10.2 above and make any recommendations for 

implementation as may be agreed (and which are permitted by the 

Regulations and the terms of this Agreement). 

 

10.5 Within 1 (one) month after the date of the end of the Financial Year the 

Council shall provide the Annual Report to the BID Company. 

 

10.6 The BID company shall provide the BID Company Report to the Council two 

weeks prior to their Annual General Meeting. 

 

11 Termination 

11.1 The Council shall not be permitted to terminate the BID Arrangements 

because:- 

 

(i) In its opinion there are insufficient finances available to the BID 

Company to meet its liabilities for the chargeable period for the 

purposes of the BID Arrangements; or 

(ii) the Council is unable, due to any cause beyond its control to provide 

the works or services which are secured as part of the BID 

Arrangements 

 

unless and until it first serves the Public Meeting Notice on the BID Levy 

Payers and the Council’s Termination Notice on the BID Company and within 

14 (fourteen) days from the date of service of such notice both parties shall 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 14 

arrange to meet where the purpose of such meeting shall be to discuss and/or 

agree all or any of the following set out in clause 11.2 or 11.3 (whichever is 

applicable). 

 

11.2 Where the BID Termination Notice relates to clause 11.1(i) both parties shall 

agree and/or discuss or review the following:- 

 

(a) the Council is concerned that the BID Company has insufficient 

finances to meet its liabilities for that period and details of such 

concerns should be made available to the BID Company; 

(b) insufficient funds; 

(c) alternative means by which the insufficiency of the funds can be 

remedied; and 

(d) an appropriate time frame to resolve this issue. 

 

11.3 Where the BID Termination Notice relates to clause 11.1(ii) both parties shall 

agree and/or discuss or review the following:- 

 

(a) the services or works which it is no longer able to provide together with 

confirmation and details as to why such works or services cannot be 

provided; 

(b) a review by both parties as to whether such works or services are of 

material importance to the BID so that termination of the BID 

Arrangements is the only option; 

(c) alternative means of procuring the said services or works by third 

parties or increased financial funding from the BID Company; 

(d) alternative replacement services or works which will be acceptable to 

the BID Company; 

(e) an appropriate time frame to resolve this issue. 

 

11.4 In the event that the parties cannot reach agreement in relation to the above 

the Council shall cause a Public Meeting to be held and subject to 

consideration of representations made by any BID Levy Payer at the Public 

Meeting the Council shall be permitted to terminate the BID Arrangements 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 15 

provided that notice by the Council to terminate the BID shall be provided to 

the BID Company no less than 28 days prior to termination taking place. 

 

11.5 Upon termination of the BID Arrangements the Council shall review whether 

there is a credit in the BID Revenue Account and in the event that there are 

sufficient funds in the BID Revenue Account amounting to a refund of at least 

£5 for each BID Levy Payer (having already deducted a reasonable sum for 

the administration of such refund) to:- 

 

 (a) calculate the amount to be refunded to each BID Levy Payer; 

(b) ensure that the amount to be refunded is calculated by reference to the 

amount payable by each BID Levy Payer for the last chargeable period; 

and 

(c) make arrangements for the amount calculated to be credited against 

any outstanding liabilities of each BID Levy Payer or, where there are 

no such liabilities refunded to the BID Levy Payer. 

 

11.6 Upon termination of the BID the Council shall notify the BID Levy Payers of 

such termination in accordance with Regulation 18(6) of the Regulations 

together with confirmation as to whether any part of the BID Levy is to be 

repaid to BID Levy Payers in accordance with clause 11.8. 

 

11.7 The BID Company shall not be permitted to terminate the BID Arrangements 

where:- 

 

(a) the works or services under the BID Arrangements are no longer 

required; or 

(b) the BID Company is unable, due to any cause beyond its control to 

provide works and services which are necessary for the BID to continue 

 

Unless and until it has served the BID Company’s Termination Notice on the 

Council and thereafter carried out a proper consultation with all relevant 

representatives of the BID Area as considered appropriate by the Council. 

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 16 

11.8 Upon termination of the BID Arrangements the BID Company shall notify the 

Council of such termination in accordance with Regulation 18(5) and the 

Council shall notify the BID Levy Payers pursuant to Regulation 18(6) together 

with confirmation as to whether any part of the BID Levy is to be repaid to BID 

Levy Payers in accordance with clause 11.5. 

 

12 Confidentiality 

12.1 Both the Council and the BID Company agree to keep confidential and not to 

divulge to any person without the prior written consent of the other party all 

information (written or oral) concerning the business affairs of the other nor 

any information which has been exchanged about the BID Levy Payers or 

Contributors or about other third parties which it shall have obtained or 

received as a result of operating the BID.  This obligation shall survive the 

termination or lapse of the BID Arrangements.  For the avoidance of doubt 

nothing in this clause shall prevent the Council from using or divulging such 

information as is necessary for the purpose of complying with its obligation 

under this Agreement. 

 

  



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 17 

13 Notices 

13.1 Any notices or other written communication to be served or given to or upon 

any party to this Agreement to the other shall be in writing and shall be sent to 

the address provided for above or such substitute address in England and 

Wales as may from time to time have been notified by that Party. 

 

13.2 A Notice may be served by:- 

 

13.2.1 delivery to the Uwch Reolwr A Risg , Gwynedd Council; 

13.2.2 delivery to the Company Secretary at the BID Company’s address 

specified above; 

13.2.3 registered or recorded delivery post; 

13.2.4 Electronic Communication (provided that it is in legible form and is 

capable of being used for subsequent reference); 

 

13.3 Any notice served shall be deemed to have been validly served or given at the 

time when in the ordinary course of business it would have been received. 

 

14 Miscellaneous 

14.1  For the avoidance of doubt where any part of this Agreement is incompatible 

with the Local Government Act 2003 or Regulations or any other regulations 

which the Welsh Ministers or National Assembly for Wales may issue 

pursuant to Part IV of the Local Government Act 2003 in so far as they relate 

to Wales then such part shall be struck out and the balance of this Agreement 

shall remain. 

 

14.2 The headings appearing in this Agreement are for ease of reference only and 

shall not affect the construction of this Agreement. 

 

14.3 For the avoidance of doubt the provisions of this Agreement )other than those 

contained in this clause) shall not have any effect until this document has 

been executed and dated. 

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 18 

14.4 Where reference is made to a Clause, Part or Recital such reference (unless 

the context requires otherwise) is a reference to a clause, part, plan or recital 

attached to this Agreement. 

 

14.5 References to the Council include any successors to its functions as relevant 

billing authority. 

 

14.6 References to statutes, bye laws, regulations, orders, delegated legislation 

shall include any such instrument re-enacting or made pursuant to the same 

power. 

 

15 Exercise of the Council’s Powers 

 Nothing contained in this Agreement or implied in it shall prejudice or affect 

the rights discretions powers duties and obligations of the Council under all 

statutes bye-laws statutory instruments orders and regulations in the exercise 

of its functions as a local authority. 

 

16 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 

 The provisions of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 shall not 

apply to this Agreement. 

 

17 Arbitration 

 The following provisions shall apply in the event of a dispute: 

 

17.1 Any dispute or difference of any kind whatsoever arising between the parties 

hereto out of or in connection with this Deed shall be referred to arbitration 

before a single arbitrator. 

 

17.2 The parties shall jointly appoint the arbitrator not later than 28 (twenty eight) 

days after service of a request in writing by either party to do so and each 

party shall bear its own costs. 

 

17.3 If the parties are unable to agree within 28 (twenty eight) days as t the 

appointment of such arbitrator then such arbitrator (hereinafter referred to as 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 19 

“the Tribunal”) shall be appointed on the application of either party to the 

President for the time being of the Law Society. 

 

17.4 In the event of a reference to arbitration the parties agree to: 

 

• Prosecute any such reference expeditiously; and 

• Do all things or take all steps reasonably necessary in order to enable 

the Tribunal to deliver any award (interim, final or otherwise) as soon as 

reasonably practicable. 

 

17.5 The award shall be in writing signed by the Tribunal and shall be finalised 

within 21 (twenty one) days from the date of such award. 

 

17.6 The award shall be final and binding both on the parties and on any persons 

claiming through or under them. 

 

18 Freedom of Information 

18.1 The BID Company accepts that the Council is obliged to comply with the 

Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Code of Practice on the Act, and will 

assist the Council to comply with these obligations.  This includes helping the 

Council comply with its obligation to respond to a request for information 

within 20 days of receipt; and providing information to the Council where the 

Council requests. 

 

18.2 The Council is entitled to disclose information unless it believes that the 

information is exempt under the Act.  Exemption may apply where, for 

example, information is provided in confidence, where the information is a 

trade secret; or where release is likely to prejudice commercial interests.  The 

Council will decide, acting reasonably, whether information requested under 

the Act is to be disclosed or not.  The Council will where reasonably 

practicable consult the BID Company and will consider any representations 

made by it. 

  



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 20 

The Council shall not be liable for any loss or other detriment caused by the 

disclosure of any information in response to a request for information under 

the Act. 

 

Signed by the parties or their duly authorised representatives 

 

 

 

Signed by   ) 

duly authorised for an ) 

on behalf of   ) 

Gwynedd Council )______________________________________ 

 

 

 

Signed by   ) 

duly authorised for an ) 

on behalf of   ) 

Gwynedd Council )______________________________________ 

 

 

 

Signed by   ) 

duly authorised for an ) 

on behalf of   ) 

************ BID  )______________________________________ 

  



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 21 

Schedule 1 – The BID Levy Rules / Arrangements 

 

This Schedule sets out in further detail the technical and budgetary information 

relating to how Caernarfon/Bangor (BID) in Caernarfon/Bangor Centre will operate, 

in so far as the arrangements between the BID Company and the Council are 

concerned in the event of any conflict between the body of this Agreement and this 

Schedule arising then the Agreement shall prevail over this Schedule. 

 

1 Definitions 

Definitions of words or terms referred to in these arrangements are those set out or 

referred to in The Business Improvement Districts (Wales) Regulations 2005, the 

Local Government Act 2003 and Local Government Finance Act 1988 unless 

expressly defined in this Agreement. 

 

2 The BID Proposer 

The BID Proposer is the Management Committee of the Caernarfon/Bangor BID 

Steering Group.  The BID body will be the Caernarfon/Bangor Business 

Improvement District (BID) Ltd.  It will be incorporated as a company limited by 

guarantee in the event of a positive ballot result in September 2015. 

 

3 Governance 

The BID will be run by the Caernarfon/Bangor BID Company. 

 

The proposed Board will reflect that of the businesses in the BID area to ensure a 

representative body to lead the development of the Caernarfon/Bangor BID.  This 

will include representatives from: 

 

 Large Business  

 Medium Business 

Small Business 

 Professional Services  

 Night time Economy  

 Business Forum / Chamber of Trade (voluntary levy contributor) 

 Statutory Body (e.g. the local authority) 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 22 

 Local City / Town Council.  

 Local Community group 

 Additional business who represent different geographical areas within the BID 

  

It is expected that the Steering Group will implement proposed Business Plan 

themes : Clean & Green, Smart & Safe; Proudly Promoted; Influential and 

Integrated..  These are themes led by the Board and/or any established sub-groups.  

Sub-groups are formed from BID Members, who are responsible for developing 

detailed budgets for their group, which are then passed to the Board for approval.  

All businesses are given the opportunity to be represented on these sub-groups and 

the Board.  Sub-groups will be set up as and when required. 

 

4 Membership of the Company 

All BID Levy Payers, will be invited to become a Member of the Company.  Company 

Members may subsequently nominate themselves for directorships or to sit on one 

of the BID Sub-Groups. 

 

The Board will manage the Executive Team, which will deliver the projects and 

services as set out in the BID Proposal. 

 

5 Duration of the BID 

The BID Term will be five years in duration from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2021.  

Before the end of this period, the BID Board may choose to seek renewal of the BID 

for a further term, through a renewal ballot. 

 

6. The BID area 

The area covered by the proposal comprises parts of Caernarfon/Bangor Town/City 

Centre as shown in the map below. 

  



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 23 

The BID area covers the following streets, either in whole or part: 

 

Caernarfon Bangor 

Castle Square / Y Maes High Street / Stryd Fawr 

Pool Street / Stryd Llyn Station Road / Stryd yr Orsaf 

Greengate Street / Tan y Bont Ffordd Gwynedd 

Hole in the Wall Street / Stryd Twll yn y 

Wal 

Deiniol Road / Ffordd Deiniol 

Palace Street / Stryd y Plas Tan-y-Fynwent 

Shirehall Street / Stryd y Jêl Waterloo Road / Stryd Waterloo 

Bangor Road / Stryd Bangor Garth Road / Ffordd Garth 

Pool Hill / Penllyn Glanrafon 

St Helens Road / Ffordd Santes Helen Dean Street / Stryd y Deon 

Church Lane / Lôn yr Eglwys Ashley Road 

Northgate Street / Stryd Pedwar a 

Chwech 

Brick Street 

High Street / Stryd Fawr  Mount Street 

Lôn Crwyn Plas Llwyd Terrace  

North Penrallt / Penrallt Uchaf Tan y Fynwent 

Lôn Twthill Ebenezer Place 

Slate Quay / Cei Llechi York Place 

Castle Ditch / Pendeitsh Ffordd y Ffynnon 

Castle Hill / Allt y Castell Sackville Road / Ffordd Sackville 

Bridge Street / Bont Bridd  

Pool Side / Penllyn  

Bank Quay / Cei Banc  

Glan Môr / Crown Street  

Doc Fictoria   

Balaclava Road / Balaclafa   

Church Street / Stryd yr Eglwys  

Market Street / Stryd y Farchnad  

Pretoria Terrace / Rhes Pretoria  

Castle Street / Stryd y Castell  

Mill Lane / Lôn y Felin  

South Penrallt / Penrallt Isaf  

Pool Lane / Pen y Graig  

Allt Pafiliwn  

 

 

7 Ensuring BID services are supplementary 

There is no link between the amount of business rate collected by the Council and 

the amount it receives back from Central Government to deliver services in the area. 

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 24 

A BID, in comparison, generates revenue that is ring-fenced for the area in which it is 

collected, to be spent on projects for the benefit of businesses that pay the BID Levy.  

All services provided by the BID will be additional to those provided by the Council.  

Additionally is ensured through the production of a ‘Baseline Agreement’ which sets 

out the standard level of statutory service that is already provided for the BID area.  

This ensures that the BID levy only funds services and projects over and above this 

level. 

 

8 the BID Ballot 

The ballot will be managed by the Legal Services within Gwynedd Council and will 

run between 1st of August and the 24th of September, 2015.  The Ballot will close at 

5pm on the 24th of September, 2015  The ballot will be a secret postal ballot of the 

eligible Hereditaments on the National Non-Domestic Ratings List at the time of the 

notice of ballot being issued.  Where the occupiers of individual Hereditaments have 

nominated in writing the name of the person who should vote on their behalf, the 

notice of ballot and ballot papers will be sent to them. 

 

9 Eligible businesses 

The following will not be eligible for the BID Levy, or for the vote: 

 

• Business units with a rateable value of less than £2,000; 

• Advertising rights, telephone masts, and kiosks; 

 

All other types of business are eligible to vote in the BID ballot and to pay the BID 

Levy.  Hereditaments (rated ‘units’ of business space) with a rateable value of less 

than £2,000 will be exempt from paying the Levy and therefore will not be eligible to 

vote in the ballot.  Currently this means approximately c. 330/340 rateable properties 

will be eligible for the vote and to pay the BID Levy within Caernarfon / Bangor  

 

Businesses with a rateable value of less than £2,000 will be welcome to take up 

some of the BID’s services by contributing on a voluntary basis at a rate to be 

agreed.   

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 25 

Where Hereditaments are unoccupied at the time of the notice of ballot, the owner 

will be entitled to vote in the BID ballot.  The BID Levy Payer in cases of unoccupied 

Hereditaments will be the owner of the whole of the Hereditament.  No three-month 

‘void’ period will be given and those Hereditaments which are exempt from empty 

property rates and will not be exempt from the BID Levy.  The BID levy is payable 

irrespective of part or all of the property being empty. The term ‘owner’ is defined in 

section 65(1) of the Local Government Finance Act 1998. 

 

Businesses who receive mandatory and / or discretionary relief from business rates 

will not have their BID Levy discounted at the same rate. The BID Levy will not be 

reduced by any discretionary relief. 

 

10 The BID Levy 

The BID Levy is a daily charge.  Occupiers and owner-occupiers will pay the Levy at 

the rate of 1.5% of rateable value, based upon the 2010 Rating List.  The BID Levy 

will be charged at 1.5% of the rateable value of each Hereditament listed in the 

Ratings List.  In the first instance this is likely to generate around £86,000/127,000 

per annum for the Caernarfon / Bangor area. 

 

New assessments brought into the Rating List will be liable to the BID levy as from 

the effective date provided in the Rating List. In the event that a hereditament is 

removed from the Rating List, liability for the BID levy will apply up to the day of 

deletion of the assessment from the Rating List” 

 

The table below sets out the indicative Levy at 1.5% payable for businesses 

depending on their rateable value: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 26 

Indicative rateable value (£) Indicative BID Levy (£) 

5.000 75 

10.000 150 

50,000 750 

100,000 1,500 

500,000 7,500 

 

  

What if I already pay rates and services charges as part of my rent? 

Where the occupants of Hereditaments pay an inclusive rent or other charge for 

occupying space that includes the rates charge, the owner is liable to pay the BID 

Levy and, consequently, is eligible to vote in the ballot. 

 

I’m thinking of taking on more premises in the BID area.  Will I have to pay a 
levy on those when I move in? 
Businesses which begin to occupy existing Hereditaments during the BID period will 

be liable to pay the Levy for their period of occupation, providing the Hereditament 

remains eligible for the BID Levy.  The BID Levy will be extended to occupiers of 

Hereditaments built or first occupied in the BID area during the life of the BID, 

assuming that they are otherwise eligible.  In these cases the Levy will be calculated 

on the rateable value entered in the most recent version of the Ratings List. 

 

Occupiers of Hereditaments in new developments located within the BID boundary 

will also be liable for the BID levy, assuming that they are otherwise eligible. 

 

11 Levy Collection – add collection costs  

The Council will be responsible for collecting the BID Levy on behalf of the 

Caernarfon/Bangor BID.  The BID Levy will be payable in one instalment per year.  

Bills will be raised in March and payment will become due on 1st April each year.  

Bills raised throughout the year will be periodically billed with payment due within 28 

days.  Enforcement measures for the collection of the BID Levy are detailed under 

clause 8 above titled ‘Procedures available to the Council for enforcing payment of 

the BID Levy’ 

 



EAD-0077 RG1  

P a g e  | 27 

The BID Levy is a mandatory charge and collection is enforceable in the same way 

as the business (non-domestic) rates.  After 28 days non-payment of the BID Levy, a 

reminder will be sent giving a further 14 days to pay.  If after a further 7 days from 

the payment date stated in the Reminder Notice the outstanding sum of the BID Levy 

has not been paid the Council shall make an application to the Magistrates Court for 

a Liability Order to recover the outstanding sum of the BID Levy.  The BID Company 

will strongly pursue collection of the BID Levy, using all available enforcement 

mechanisms.  Non-payment of the BID Levy will incur additional costs to the 

business in question. 

 

The Council will apply to the Magistrates Court to recover its reasonable costs 

incurred in obtaining any order (currently estimated as £70.00 costs per liability 

order). 

 

12 The cost of the BID ballot 

The costs of the BID ballot will be met by Gwynedd Council. 

 

13 Alterations to the BID arrangements 

Only minor amendments can be made to the BID arrangements without seeking 

formal approval from the BID Members.  BID arrangements may be altered without 

an alteration ballot, as long as there is no proposal at alter: 

 

• The geographical area of the BID; 

• The BID Levy in such a way that would: 

(i) cause any person to be liable to pay the BID Levy, who was not 

previously liable to pay; or 

(ii) increase the BID Levy for any person other than for inflation 

purposes as set out above. 

 

Where the BID arrangements may be altered without an alteration ballot, the 

alteration will be made by a decision of Caernarfon/Bangor BID Board, 

following consultation with Gwynedd Council. 



 

1 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

DRAFT BASELINE AGREEMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF STANDARD SERVICES 

 

 

 

Dated 

 

 

 

 

Gwynedd Council (the “Council”) 

 

and 

 

AGB Caernarfon BID – AGB Bangor BID 

(the “BID Company”) 

  



 

2 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

Contents          Page No. 

 

1  Definitions         4 

2  Statutory Authorities       7 

3  Commencement        7 

4  The BID Company’s Obligations     8 

5  The Council’s Obligations      8 

6  Performance Notice       11 

7  Licence         12 

8  Monitoring and Review       13 

9  Joint Obligations        14 

10  Termination         14 

11  Confidentiality        15 

12  Notices         15 

13  Miscellaneous        16 

14  Exercise of the Council’s Powers     16 

15  Contracts (Rights of Third Parties)     17 

16  Arbitration         17 

 

Schedule 1 The BID Area Map        20 

Schedule 2 The Standard Services       21 

Schedule 3 The Complementary Services 

  



 

3 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

Baseline Agreement for the Provision of Standard Services 

Dated:  

Between: 

 

1) NAME OF THE COUNCIL Gwynedd Council and 

2) NAME OF THE BID COMPANY AGB Caernarfon BID – AGB Bangor BID 

[registered as a company limited by guarantee in England and Wales]. 

 

Recitals 

A The Council is the local authority for the purposes of the Local 

Government Act 2003 and is responsible for providing the Standard 

Services within the BID Area. 

 

B The BID Company is responsible for the management and operation of 

the BID and for achieving the objectives and aspirations set out in the 

BID Business Plan. 

 

C The purpose of this Deed of Agreement is to set out for the avoidance 

of doubt 

 

(i) the Standard Services provided by the Council within the BID 

area; 

 (ii) the benchmark levels against which the provision of the 

Standard Services will be measured so as to ensure that 

whenever the BID Company wishes to provide any 

additional/complimentary services these services are not 

services which the Council should be providing pursuant to their 

existing statutory duties; and 

 (iii) the mechanism for the continued monitoring and review of the 

Standard Services. 

  



 

4 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

It is agreed: 

1. Definitions 

 

Ballot Result Date means the date upon which a successful ballot result has 

been declared in favour of putting in place the BID Arrangements. 

 

 Baseline Agreement sets out for the avoidance of doubt 

 

(i) the Standard Services provided by the Council within the BID area; 

(ii) the benchmark levels against which the provision of the Standard 

Services will be measured so as to ensure that whenever the BID 

Company wishes to provide any additional/complimentary services 

these services are not services which the Council should be providing 

pursuant to their existing statutory duties; and 

(iii) the mechanism for the continued monitoring and review of the standard 

Services. 

 

BID means the Business Improvement District which is managed and 

operated by the BID Company and has the meaning given in the Regulations. 

 

BID Area means that area within which the BID operates as shown in 

Schedule 1. 

 

BID Arrangements has the meaning given by section 41 of the Local 

Government Act 2003 

 

BID Business Plan means the plan voted for by the BID Levy Payers which 

sets out the objectives of the BID and for Financial Year 2015/16 is known as 

the BID Proposal. 

 

BID Levy means the charge levied and collected within the BID pursuant to 

the Regulations. 

 



 

5 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

BID Levy Payers means the non-domestic rate payers liable for paying the 

BID Levy. 

 

BID Proposal means the plan voted for by the BID Levy Payers in a ballot 

which sets out the objectives of the BID and identifies the various projects 

which will be undertaken using funds raised by the BID Levy and/or Voluntary 

Contributions to achieve those objectives and ‘Renewal Proposals’ has the 

same meaning save that ‘ballot’ shall be replaced with ‘renewal ballot’ and 

‘Alteration Proposals’ has the same meaning save that ‘ballot’ shall be 

replaced with ‘alteration ballot’. 

 

BID term means 1st of April 2016 to 31st of March 2021. 

 

Complementary Service(s) means those services secured or procured by 

the BID Company from the Council or other third party provider in addition to 

the Standard Services. 

 

Complementary Services Agreement(s) means an agreement entered into 

between the Council and the BID Company or such further agreements as 

may be entered into by the BID Company for the provision of the 

Complementary Services. 

 

Complementary Service Provider means the provider of a Complementary 

Service. 

 

Designated Officer means the officer appointed by the relevant Council 

Department to liaise directly with the BID on issues relating to the 

performance of the Standard Services and any Complementary Services 

provided by the Council. 

 

Financial Year means the financial year for the BID Company which runs 

from 1st April to 31st March 

 



 

6 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

Operating Agreement means the agreement to be entered into between the 

Council and the BID Company which sets out various procedures for the 

collection, monitoring and enforcement of the BID Levy. 

 

Performance Notice means a notice served by the BID Company which: 

 

(a) identifies the Standard Service to which the notice relates; 

 

(b) states how the Standard Service is not being provided in accordance 

with this Agreement; and 

 

(c) requests that the Council liaise directly with the department, service 

provider or contractor responsible for carrying out the Standard Service 

as soon as practicable for the purposes of securing compliance with 

this Agreement. 

 

Protocols means the informal procedures to be agreed by the Council and 

the BID Company the purpose of which is to assist in the provision of the 

Standard Services. 

 

Regulations means the Business Improvement Districts (Wales) Regulations 

2005 and such amendments to those regulations which may be made by the 

National Assembly for Wales pursuant to Section 48 of the Local Government 

Act 2003 (from time to time). 

 

Services Review Panel means the panel comprising nominated officer 

representatives from the BID Company and the Council Departments 

responsible for delivery of Standard Services. 

 

Standard Services means the services provided by the Council within the 

BID Area as set out in Schedule 2. 

 



 

7 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

Voluntary Contribution(s) means any contributions or funds paid or made 

available to the BID Company which do not form part of the BID Levy. 

 

2. Statutory Authorities  

 

2.1 This Agreement is made pursuant to Section 2 of the Local Government Act 

2000, Part IV of the Local Government Act 2003, the Business Improvement 

Districts (Wales) Regulations 2005, Section 111 of the Local Government Act 

1972 and all other enabling powers 

 

3. Commencement 

 

3.1 This Agreement shall commence on ********* 2016 and continue until 31st of 

March, 2021 subject to earlier termination or extension by mutual consent as 

hereinafter provided. 

 

3.2 This Agreement shall determine and cease to be of any further effect in the 

event that: 

 

(a) the BID Company fails to secure approval of the Proposals, Renewal 

Proposals or Alteration Proposals in a ballot, renewal ballot, alteration 

ballot or reballot; 

 

(b) the Welsh Ministers declare void a BID ballot, renewal ballot, alteration 

ballot or reballot; 

 

(c) the Council exercises its veto pursuant to Section 51(2) of the Local 

Government Act 2003 and paragraph 12 of the Business Improvement 

District (Wales) Regulations 2005 and there is no successful appeal 

against the veto; 

 

(d) the BID Term expires save where the BID Company secures approval 

of Renewal Proposals in a renewal ballot or Alteration Proposals in an 

alteration ballot or Proposals in a reballot in which event this 



 

8 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

Agreement shall continue until the expiry of the BID Term set out in the 

Renewal Proposals, Alteration Proposals or the Proposals set out in the 

reballot provided, in relation to Renewal Proposals and Alteration 

Proposals, the Council and the BID Company both consent to such 

continuation; 

 

(e) the Council exercises its discretion to terminate the BID Arrangements 

in exercise of its powers under Regulation 18 of the Regulations; and 

 

(f) the Council terminates this Agreement pursuant to clause 9 of this 

Agreement. 

 

4. The BID Company’s Obligations 

 

4.1 The BID Company agrees that it will provide the Council with any information 

the Council will reasonably require in relation to the carrying out of the 

Complementary Services. 

 

4.2 In the event that the BID Company intends to change the Complementary 

Services the BID Company shall serve notice on the Council for the purposes 

of arranging a meeting of the Services Review Panel and at such a meeting 

the BID Company shall consult with the Council in respect of the intended 

change to the Complimentary Services. 

 

5. The Council’s Obligations 

 

5.1 The Council agrees to the following: 

 

(a) to provide the Standard Services within the BID Area as its own cost for 

the duration of the BID term; and 

(b) will not use the BID Levy at any time to either fund or procure the 

Standard Services. 

 



 

9 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

5.2 In the event that the Council is unable to continue to provide all or any part of 

the Standard Services within the BID Area on account of it being statutorily 

barred from doing so in respect of any of those Standard Services set out in 

Schedule 2 or it does not have sufficient funds to secure the provision of any 

of those Standard Services set out in Schedule 2 it shall confirm the following 

to the BID Company: 

 

(a) identify which part or parts of the Standard Services it is unable to 

provide; 

 

(b) provide a detailed explanation of why such identified Standard Service 

is to be withdrawn; and 

 

(c) confirm the date upon which the Council will cease to operate the 

identified Standard Service. 

 

5.3 The Council may provide different Standard Services, delayed Standard 

Services or no Standard Services in the event that it is not reasonably 

practicable to provide the Standard Services by reason of the following: 

 

(a) adverse weather conditions in the BID Area; 

 

(b) an excessive number of pedestrians in the BID Area which would 

impede or inhibit the carrying out of the Standard Services; 

 

(c) restrictions by the Police as to the persons and/or number of persons 

permitted access in the BID Area; 

 

(d) a traffic accident or major spillage in the BID Area; 

 

(e) marches, parades, film and theatre premieres, festivals and visits by 

VIPs in or affecting the BID Area where such activities directly impede 

or inhibit the Standard Services from being provided; 

 



 

10 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

(f) any other reason in the BID Area or affecting the BID Area beyond the 

control of the Council; 

 

(g) neither party shall have any liability under or be deemed to be in breach 

of this Agreement for any delays or failures in performance of this 

Agreement which result from circumstances beyond the reasonable 

control of that Party.  The Party affected by such circumstances shall 

promptly notify the other Party in writing when such circumstances 

cause delay or failure in performance and when they cease to do so. If 

such circumstances continue for a continuous period of more than six 

months, either Party may terminate this Agreement immediately by 

written notice to the other Party. 

 

Provided always that the Council shall first and, if possible, provide the 

BID Company with reasonable notice in the event that the Council 

intends to provide different Standard Services, delayed Standard 

Services or no Standard Services as a result of any of the reasons 

mentioned in this clause and the Council shall, if possible, endeavour to 

recommence the Standard Service as soon as reasonably practicable 

to the same standard as it was immediately before the change. 

 

5.4 To use reasonable endeavours to liaise with the proposed BID to provide 

Complimentary Services or, and (where practicable) put in place such 

partnering arrangements (of formal or informal nature) with a Complimentary 

Service Provider where the Complementary Services are complementary to or 

are of a similar nature to the Standard Services and to liaise with the 

Complementary Service Provider (where appropriate). 

 

5.5 To implement such reasonable recommendations in the carrying out or 

provision of the Standard Services as may be made by the Services Review 

Panel, insofar as is reasonably practicable and affordable. 

 

5.6 2 months prior to conducting a review/reletting of a contract relating to the 

Standard Services to notify the BID Company informing it of the timescales for 



 

11 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

carrying out the review/reletting and update Schedule 2 with new details 

within 4 weeks of these being agreed. 

 

5.7 Pursuant to clause 5.6 above to review the provision of the Standard Services 

as part of the Services Review Panel process and where appropriate and 

agreed with the BID Company to update Schedule 2 in accordance with the 

conclusions reached by the Services Review Panel insofar as is reasonably 

practicable and affordable. 

 

5.8 In the event that the Council intends to change the Standard Services 

significantly and permanently the Council shall give the BID Company no less 

than 2 months prior to that change, if possible, and such notice shall include: 

 

(a) a description of the part or parts of the Standard Services the Council 

intends to change; 

 

(b) a detailed explanation of why the Council intends to change such 

Standard Services;  

 

(c) the date on which the Council intends to change the Standard Services. 

 

6. Performance Notice 

 

6.1 The Council shall not remove or change any contractor(s) responsible for 

providing the Standard Services without first serving no less than 28 days 

written notice on the BID Company confirming: 

 

(a) the removal or alteration of such contractor; 

 

(b) the Standard Services which such contractor is responsible for 

providing; and 

 

(c) the details of the new contractor appointed to provide the Standard 

Services 



 

12 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

 

PROVIDED THAT this requirement to give prior notice to the BID Company 

shall not apply in the event of a contract for the provision of any of the 

Standard Services terminating immediately on the grounds of fundamental 

breach of contract or insolvency on the part of the contractor. 

 

6.2 Upon receipt of a Performance Notice from the BID Company the Designated 

Officer shall inform the contractor or provider of the Standard Services of the 

lapse, carry out a review of the performance and the carrying out of the 

Standard Services by the contractor or provider of the Standard Services and 

to use their reasonable endeavours to secure the improvement of the 

Standard Services.  The Designated Officer in each case shall consult with 

the BID Company on the action plan arising from such review to secure such 

improvements, if possible, and keep the BID Company informed of the 

Council’s actions and progress in carrying out the action plan. 

 

7. Licence  

 

7.1 The BID Company, its agents or Complementary Service Provider shall not 

enter onto into or upon any land within the Council’s ownership or the highway 

for the purposes of the BID Company its agents or Complimentary Service 

Provider carrying out any function or service required or secured (or any 

ancillary function) for the operation of the BID proposal without first obtaining 

the Council’s licence and consent under Clause 7.2 and complying with all 

relevant statutory requirements. 

 

7.2 The BID Company shall give the Council reasonable notice in writing of its 

intention to carry out any function or service under Clause 7.1, stating when 

each such access will be required and the location and nature of the proposed 

works or services.  The Council reserves the right to refuse or reschedule 

such entry in the event that it considers (acting reasonably) it necessary to do 

so provided that such refusal shall be given promptly with an explanation and 



 

13 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

in writing to the BID Company.  Any such licence or consent may be given 

subject to such conditions as the Council may consider reasonably necessary. 

 

 

 

8. Monitoring and Review 

8.1 The Council and the BID Company shall set up the Services Review Panel 

within 28 (twenty-eight) days from the date of this Agreement the purpose of 

which shall be to: 

 

(a) review and monitor the carrying out of the Standard Services; 

 

(b) make any recommendations required pursuant to clause 5 to the 

Council and the BID Company; 

 

(c) where appropriate, review and monitor the provision of the 

Complementary Services and make such recommendations to the BID 

Company as are appropriate; 

 

(d) review any Performance Notices served by the BID Company and 

steps which should be taken to secure the proper carrying out of the 

Standard Services and to make recommendations to the Council 

including recommendations for an improvement in performance in the 

carrying out of the Standard Services and recommendations for the 

carrying out of the Standard Services in a manner that facilitates the 

carrying out of Complementary Services. 

 

8.2 Within 28 (twenty-eight) days from the date of this Agreement the parties shall 

agree the dates when there will be meetings of the Services Review Panel 

and there shall be at least two such meetings in each Financial Year 

(throughout the duration of the BID Term) and on all other occasions further 

meetings of the Service Review Panel shall be arranged by the service of 

written notice by either party on the other, such notice to be provided no less 

than 28 (twenty-eight) days prior to the date of the proposed meeting (or less 



 

14 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

if otherwise agreed or in cases of emergency) and provided further that such 

meetings can be dispensed with altogether upon the written agreement of the 

parties. 

 

8.3 The Services Review Panel will identify the need for any improvement or 

alteration to the Standard Services.  The Council will in any case formally 

respond to recommendations from the Service Review Panel within the 

standard response times, giving reasons for any decision not to implement 

recommendations in part or in full.  

 

9. Joint Obligations 

 

9.1 Both the Council and the BID Company agree: 

 

(a) for the purposes only of monitoring the Standard Services and the 

Complimentary Services to review and take account of any 

representations or recommendations made to them by the Services 

Review Panel and take such action as may be appropriate; 

 

(b) to agree appropriate Protocols as may be required in order to assist the 

carrying out or provision of the Standard Services (and thereafter to 

review them annually); 

 

(c) to operate the complimentary services in accordance with such agreed 

Protocols. 

 

10. Termination 

 

10.1 The Council may terminate this Agreement: 

 

(a) in the same circumstances in which it may terminate the BID 

Arrangements under Regulation 18 of the Regulations; 

 



 

15 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

(b) in the event that the BID Company commits a serious and irremediable 

breach of this Agreement; or 

 

(c) in the event that the Council terminates the Operating Agreement 

 

11. Confidentiality 

 

11.1 Both the Council and the BID Company agree to keep confidential and not to 

divulge to any person without the prior written consent of the other party all 

information (written or oral) concerning the business affairs of the other nor 

any information which has been exchanged about the BID Levy Payers or 

about other third parties which it shall have obtained or received as a result of 

operating the BID.  This obligation shall survive the termination or lapse of the 

provision of the BID. 

 

12. Notices 

 

12.1 Any notice or other written communication to be served or given to or upon 

any party to this Deed to the other shall be in writing and shall be sent to the 

address provided for above or such substitute address in the UK as may from 

time to time have been notified by that party upon 7 (seven) days’ notice in 

writing. 

 

12.2 A Notice may be served by registered or recorded delivery post and: 

 

(a) delivered to the Head of Law & Standards of the Council at the above 

address; 

 

(b) delivered to the BID Director of Operations at the BID Company’s office 

address; 

 

(c) or by electronic communication (provided that it is in legible form and is 

capable of being used for subsequent reference) to such addresses. 

 



 

16 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

12.3 Any notice served shall be deemed to have been validly served or given at the 

time when in the ordinary course of business it would have been received. 

 

13. Miscellaneous 

13.1 For the avoidance of doubt where any part of this Agreement is incompatible 

with the Regulations or any other regulations issued pursuant to Part IV of the 

Local Government Act 2003 then such part shall be struck out and the 

balance of this Agreement shall remain. 

 

13.2 The headings appearing in this Deed are for ease of reference only and shall 

not affect the construction of this Deed. 

 

13.3 For the avoidance of doubt the provisions of this Deed (other than those 

contained in this Clause) shall not have any effect until this document has 

been dated. 

 

13.4 Where reference is made to a Clause, Part, or Recital such reference (unless 

the context requires otherwise) is a reference to a clause, part, plan, or recital 

attached to this Deed. 

 

13.5 References to the Council include any successors to its functions as local 

authority. 

 

13.6 References to statutes, bye laws, regulations, orders, delegated legislation 

shall include any such instrument re-enacting or made pursuant to the same 

power. 

 

14. Exercise of the Council’s Powers 

 

14.1 Nothing contained in this Agreement or implied in it shall prejudice or affect 

the rights discretions powers duties and obligations of the Council under all 

statute byelaws statutory instruments orders and regulations in the exercise of 

its functions as a local authority. 



 

17 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

 

15. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 

 

15.1 The parties do not intend that the provisions of this Agreement may be 

enforced or varied by any other party pursuant to the Contracts (Rights of 

Third Parties) Act 1999. 

 

16. Relationship between the Parties 

 

16.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall constitute, or be deemed to constitute, any 

partnership agency or joint venture arrangements as between the Council and 

the BID Company. 

 

16.2 The BID Company is not and will not at any time hold itself out as the agent of 

the Council for any purposes and under no circumstances will the BID 

Company have the authority to bind the Council or hold itself out as having 

such authority. 

 

16.3 All contracts and agreements entered into or made by the BID Company 

pursuant to this Agreement will be contracts or agreements as between the 

BID Company as principal and the respective third parties and the Council will 

have no obligation or liability under them. 

 

16.4 Both parties shall indemnify and keep indemnified the other party against all 

costs claims demands proceedings and liabilities which may be incurred as a 

result of any act, neglect or default by the indemnifying party, its employees 

contractors or agents in carrying out their obligations under this Agreement. 

 

17. Dispute Resolution 

 

17.1 If any dispute or difference arises between the Council and the BID Company 

relating to or arising out of the terms of this Agreement then dispute shall be 

referred to the Managing Directors or Chief Executive Officers of the Council 



 

18 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

and the BID Company or their designated representatives, who will meet in 

good faith to try and resolve the dispute or difference. 

 

17.2 If after 28 days (or such longer period as the parties may agree) the dispute or 

difference has not been resolved then either of the Parties may give notice 

that it wishes to attempt to settle the dispute by mediation in accordance with 

the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution (“CEDR”) Model Mediation 

Procedure 2001 (“The Model Procedure”) or such later edition as may be in 

force from time to time. 

 

17.3 If the Parties do not agree on the identity of the Mediator then either party may 

request that CEDR appoint one. 

 

17.4 The Model Procedure shall be amended to take account of any relevant 

provisions of this Agreement or any other agreement that the parties may 

enter into in relation to the conduct of the mediation. 

 

17.5 Both Parties use their best endeavours to ensure that the Mediation starts 

within twenty working days of the service of the notice of mediation and to pay 

the mediator’s fees in equal shares. 

 

17.6 Any agreement reached by the parties as a result of mediation shall be 

binding on the parties, as set out in the Model Procedure, but if the dispute 

has not been settled by mediation within 10 working days of the mediation 

starting then either party may commence litigation proceedings (but not before 

then). 

 

17.7 Neither party shall be precluded by this Clause 17 from taking such steps in 

relation to court proceedings as they may deem necessary or desirable to 

protect its position, including but not limited to, issuing or otherwise pursuing 

proceedings to prevent limitation periods from expiring and applying for 

interim relief. 

 



 

19 | P a g e  

Appendix 4 Draft BID Baseline Agreement 

 

IN WITNESS whereof the Council has caused its Seal to be affixed and the BID 

Company has executed this Agreement as a Deed the day and year first before 

written 

 

 

The Common Seal of Gwynedd Council was  )  

hereunto affixed in the presence of:  ) 

 

 

 

Authorised Signatory 

 

 

 

 

The Common Seal of [THE BID COMPANY] was  ) 

hereunto affixed in the presence of:    ) 

 

Authorised Signatory 

 

 

Authorised Signatory 

 

 

  



 

1
 |

 P
a

g
e

 

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 4

 D
ra

ft
 B

ID
 B

a
se

lin
e

 A
g

re
e

m
e

n
t  

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

 1
 –

 B
ID

 M
a
p
 A

re
a
 

C
a

e
rn

a
rf

o
n

  
  

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

   
  

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

   
  

  B
a

n
g

o
r 

            
 



 

 

Schedule 2 – Gwynedd Council Standard Baseline Services Caernarfon / Bangor 

Details of Gwynedd Council (GC) service provision within proposed Business Improvement District (BID) 

Area.  Information to be included in this schedule of the baseline agreement and reflects standard services 

CG provides.  

The services and level of activities noted on Schedule 2 are subject to the outcomes of the 

comprehensive spending review currently underway with Gwynedd Council. Any proposed changes to 

these services will be undertaken in consultation with the BID as set out in para 5.8 of this agreement  

The proposed BID area maps are included at the end of this document. Streets included in full or in part 

within the proposed BID area where services are provided are :-  

Caernarfon Bangor 

Castle Square / Y Maes High Street / Stryd Fawr 

Pool Street / Stryd Llyn Station Road / Stryd yr Orsaf 

Greengate Street / Tan y Bont Ffordd Gwynedd 

Hole in the Wall Street / Stryd Twll yn y 

Wal 

Deiniol Road / Ffordd Deiniol 

Palace Street / Stryd y Plas Tan-y-Fynwent 

Shirehall Street / Stryd y Jêl Waterloo Road / Stryd Waterloo 

Bangor Road / Stryd Bangor Garth Road / Ffordd Garth 

Pool Hill / Penllyn Glanrafon 

St Helens Road / Ffordd Santes Helen Dean Street / Stryd y Deon 

Church Lane / Lôn yr Eglwys Ashley Road 

Northgate Street / Stryd Pedwar a 

Chwech 

Brick Street 

High Street / Stryd Fawr  Mount Street 

Lôn Crwyn Plas Llwyd Terrace  

North Penrallt / Penrallt Uchaf Tan y Fynwent 

Lôn Twthill Ebenezer Place 

Slate Quay / Cei Llechi York Place 

Castle Ditch / Pendeitsh Ffordd y Ffynnon 

Castle Hill / Allt y Castell Sackville Road / Ffordd Sackville 

Bridge Street / Bont Bridd  

Pool Side / Penllyn  

Bank Quay / Cei Banc  

Glan Môr / Crown Street  

Doc Fictoria   

Balaclava Road / Balaclafa   

Church Street / Stryd yr Eglwys  

Market Street / Stryd y Farchnad  

Pretoria Terrace / Rhes Pretoria  

Castle Street / Stryd y Castell  

Mill Lane / Lôn y Felin  

South Penrallt / Penrallt Isaf  

Pool Lane / Pen y Graig  

Allt Pafiliwn  



 

 

 

Regulatory Services  

1. Road Improvement Scheme Management 

 

1.1. Oversee and manage proposed road improvement schemes within the BID areas. 

 

2. Traffic Management, Planning and Enforcement 

2.1. Creation of Temporary and permanent Traffic Regulation orders .i.e Parking, Speed, Height & Weight 

restrictions and one-way systems and road closures. 

 

2.2. Managing the coordination of works within the Highway.  

 

2.3. Ensuring the safe and free flowing usage of the highway, through licencing and enforcement. 

 

3. Parking Management 

3.1. Management of Car Parks under the ownership or responsibility of GC according to established GC 

policies and national legislation and regulations.  These include :-  

 

Caernarfon Bangor 

- Ffordd Glan y Mor Uchaf - Kyffin Square  

- Galeri - Minafon 

- Balaclava Road - Glanrafon  

- Greengate Street  - Y Cannondy 

- Penllyn Multstory Car Park - Plas Llwyd Terrace 

- Ffordd y Felin - James Street 

- Ffordd Glan y Mor Uchaf  

 

3.2. Statutory and civil parking enforcement activities within BID area which includes enforcement within 

car parks and on street parking. Parking enforcement officers are deployed on a daily basis within the 

BID area to enforce regulations for all road users. 

 

3.3. Management of traffic management bollards where installed within the BID area.  

 

3.4. Management of residential parking Scheme where already established within the BID area. 

 

4. Licensing  

4.1. Within identified BID area GC provide licencing activities relating to  

- Use of traffic lights,  skips and scaffolding; 

- Use of A-Boards, tables and chairs in the public realm 

- Providing licenses for events as required within the BID area.  

 

5. Public Transport 

5.1. Management of transportation hubs within the BID area including care, maintenance and responding 

to vandalism.  

 

5.2. Maintaining and updating Departure Boards. 

 

5.3. Monitoring existing public transport provision from transportation hubs adhere to contract terms and 

conditions. 



 

 

 

5.4. Commission subsidised public transport provision from transportation hubs.  

 

Highways and Municipal Services 

6. Street Cleansing 

6.1. In the areas included within the BID areas Gwynedd Council operates routine street cleaning and 

servicing of minor litter bins 

 

6.2. Areas within the BID area are included within the current cleansing plans which identify the frequency 

of cleansing in compliance to codes of practice for rubbish and waste. 

 

6.3. Land managed by the duty body (Gwynedd Council) has been split into four main zones . High intensity 

of use, Medium intensity of use. Low intensity and areas with special circumstances. Land has been 

allocated into one of the four zones and managed accordingly. Appendix 1 (below) indicates the types 

of land within each category.  The zones are identified on maps and Appendix 1 provides the 

information for the area within the BID. 

 

6.4. Hours Operating - 06:00 – 18:00 

 

Deep Clean Service / Power washing 

6.5. A deep clean of primary public realm areas within Bangor and Caernarfon is implemented once 

annually. Additional power washing of public areas and pavements are delivered based on identified 

need within the proposed BID area. 

 

Graffiti 

6.6. Property controlled or owned by Gwynedd Council - Gwynedd Council will remove graffiti including 

offensive or racist subject matter from buildings it owns or controls.  

 

6.7. Private Property - Gwynedd Council will advise and assist property owners on the removal of graffiti 

from private property. Where applicable, a removal service can be provided subject to agreed 

conditions and recover of reasonably incurred costs. 

 

7. Public Conveniences 

7.1. 3 Primary public conveniences in Caernarfon located at :- 

 

Location Opening Hrs 

Yr Empire, Ffordd Glan y Mor * 9am – 6pm 

Allt y Castell 6am – 7pm 

Penllyn * 7am – 7pm (winter) 

6am – 7pm (summer) 

 

  *these toilets currently charge 20p for entry 

2 Primary public conveniences in Bangor within the BID area @- 

 

Location  Opening Hrs 

Tan y Fynwent 7am – 7pm 

Glanrafon 8am – 6pm 



 

 

 

 

7.2. Public conveniences in Caernarfon/Bangor have a dedicated team responsible for maintaining the 

facilities and cleanliness at these facilities throughout the day.  

 

8. Playground areas – Caernarfon only 

8.1. Playgrounds are maintained within the BID area located in Stryd Pedwar a Chwech 

 

8.2. Inspections held every once a month to identify any new or additional risks and maintain health and 

safety standards in the playground. Care and repair activities implemented where identified. 

 

9. Grass Cutting and Gardening 

9.1. Within the BID area grass is maintained as follows :-  

High Standard  

Medium Standard  

Near 30mph areas  

 

9.2. Caernarfon – flower bed by the  roundabout and by the bus station. Locations outlined are maintained 

on average every 10 – 14 days, but this is partly subject to growing conditions. E.g. we can increase 

cutting during period of rapid growth, or reduce cutting in dry periods. 

 

Bangor – Bible gardens and tan y fynwent.  Locations outlined are maintained on average every 10 – 

14 days, but this is partly subject to growing conditions. E.g. we can increase cutting during period of 

rapid growth, or reduce cutting in dry periods. 

 

9.3. Shrubs will be pruned/shaped twice a year as standard. Additional pruning will be carried out as 

required to maintain safety 

 

9.4. Grass is cut using different machinery depending upon access, e.g. pedestrian mowers are used in 

small areas along Lord Street etc, whereas the larger areas and parks are cut using ride on mowers and 

tractor mounted rotary units. Appendix 1 identifies the areas and cutting schedule – Caernarfon  

 

9.5. Grass is cut using different machinery depending upon access, e.g. pedestrian mowers are used in 

small areas, whereas the larger areas and parks are cut using ride on mowers and tractor mounted 

rotary units. Appendix 1 identifies the areas and cutting schedule - Bangor 

 

 

10. Highway conditions and inspections 

10.1. Highway Inspections - Safety inspections are designed to identify all defects likely to create danger or 

serious inconvenience to users  of the network or the wider community. The frequencies of 

inspections are noted within Appendix 1 and are based upon the category of  the carriageway 

 

10.2. Category 1 Defect – Where prompt attention is required due to the defect representing immediate or 

imminent hazard. Make safe or instigate a 24hr repair. A high level of response of 2hrs is also available 

where reflects are considered to pose a particularly high risk.  

 

10.3. Category 2 Defect – where the defect does not represent an immediate or imminent hazard. Repair 

during next available programme (minimal risk) 

 



 

 

11. Street Lighting Maintenance and Inspection  

 

Activity Type Activity Department Standard Code of Practice Standard 

 

Reactive Response time for repairing 

Category 1 faults, damage 

to units from wind or 

impact damage and 

exposed wiring. 

Make safe and repair at 

Category 1 Defect – attention 

when emergency within 2 

hours when possible. 

1 working day for 

emergency.  5 working days for 

non-emergency. 

Preventative Lamp changing 

 

 

Individual change on failure.   Burn to extinction replace 

lamps to failures.  Group lamp 

replacement subject to type of 

lamp. 

Lantern-internal and 

external 

Visual Inspection annually, 

detailed as required.  

To comply with group lamp 

replacement 

Column Painting When required When required but not 

exceeding 10 years. 

Structural Testing Inspect visually annually 

but after 10 years old 

decide on structural testing  

Visually inspect at each repair 

visit and as ILE Report No 22. 

Conditioning 

Monitoring 

Failed lighting or 

obstruction from foliage, 

vegetation or fly posting. 

Night scouting patrols every 4 

weeks.  Response to 3
rd

 party 

reports. 

Patrols every 14 calendar days 

and which may be longer in 

summer. 

Electrical inspection and 

testing. 

Scheduled in sequence of 

cyclic maintenance at 6 year 

intervals or repair visit. 

At intervals of not exceeding 6 

years. 

 

 

12. Public realm asset management 

12.1. Public realm assets receive regular, formal, condition inspections primarily for risk management 

purposes and to identify essential reactive  maintenance works. Public realm assets may include – 

benches, bollards, statues, sculptures, fountains, litter bins, trees, etc.  Frequency of inspections are 

determined by risk evaluations and asset management requirements and can be monthly, quarterly, 6 

or 12 month basis.  Condition inspections can also occur in response to reports of damage or incidents. 

Frequencies may be reviewed to reflect changes in  circumstances. 

 

 

 

 



  C
u

rr
e

n
t 

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 B
ID

 a
re

a
  

 C
a

e
rn

a
rf

o
n

  
  

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
  

   
  

   
  

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

   
  

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

   
  

  B
a

n
g

o
r 

                



 

 

Appendix 1 – Zones  

 

 



  



 

 

 

 



REPORT TO THE CABINET 

14 July 2015 

 

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Mandy Williams-Davies 

 

Subject:   Procurement Strategy 2015 

 

Contact officer:  Arwel Evans / Arwel Ellis Jones  

 

 

 

1. Decision sought 

 

1.1 That the Cabinet adopts the Procurement Strategy 2015 on the basis 

of the recommendations to review as listed in paragraph 3.1(a) to 3.1(e). 

 

 

2. Relevant considerations 

 

2.1 There was a preceding Procurement Strategy for the period of 2008-

2011. As a result of the 2013-17 Strategic Plan and the recommendations 

of the National Procurement Fitness Check there is a need to update the 

strategy to align with our current procurement objectives. 

 

 

2.2 The Procurement Strategy 2015 was presented to the Corporate 

Scrutiny Committee on the 11th of June. 

 

 

2.3 These are the main comments made by the Committee: 

  

a) There needs to be explanation as to what is included in the £185m 

spend reported (That is doesn’t include Council employment costs or 

the cost of delivering services internally). 

 

b) The Committee wished that the Councils measured ‘local spend’ 

equally. 

 

 

c) The Committee requested that they were updated with the progress 

of implementing the content of the Procurement Strategy.  

 



d) The Committee requested that greater emphasis is placed on the 

Welsh Language, and suggested that the order of the document 

was amended to bring the Welsh Language section to the front of 

the document.  

 

e) The Committee acknowledged the significant scale of the 

transformation and that there is a need to train staff of the new 

arrangements. The Committee also suggested that Community 

Councils and Town Councils are made aware of the changes. 

  

f) The Committee noted that there is a need to provide guidance to 

Community Councils and Town Councils because they could be 

taking over the running of some services. 

 

3. Recommendations 

 

3.1 We recommend to the Cabinet that the following amendments are 

made to the strategy:  

 

a) There needs to be explanation as to what is included in the £185m 

spend reported (That is doesn’t include Council employment costs or 

the cost of delivering services internally). 

 

Include a footnote that explains the £185m reported ‘Total external 

expenditure with suppliers and service providers from revenue, capital 

and grant funding. The sum does not include the cost of employing 

internal Council staff or any internal service provision. The sum is an 

analysis of all invoices processed by the Council within the relevant 

financial year’. 

 

 

b) The Committee wished that the Councils measured ‘local spend’ 

equally. 

 

There is no standard approach to measuring ‘local spend’ across 

Authorities in Wales. We have traditionally used the post code of suppliers 

as a reporting mechanism. We have found from contacting other 

Councils that they recalculate the local spend figures where they are 

aware that suppliers have a local branch or employ local people. We 

recommend that we report using the traditional method and the new 

method described ensuring that we compare subsequent years equally. 

 

 



c) The Committee requested that they were updated with the progress 

of implementing the content of the Procurement Strategy.  

 

We recommend that we update the Corporate Scrutiny Committee 

annually.  

 

d) The Committee requested that a greater emphasis were placed on the 

Welsh Language, and suggested that the order of the document was 

amended to bring the Welsh Language section to the front of the 

document. 

 

We recommend that the order of the paper is amended to bring the 

section forward to the front of the document.  

 

e) The Committee acknowledged the significant scale of the 

transformation and that there is a need to train staff of the new 

arrangements. The Committee also suggested that Community Councils 

and Town Councils are made aware of the changes. 

 

It was noted to the committee that the sum of £200,000 has been 

allocated to the Keeping the Benefit Local Project to transform 

procurement to a function based on the principles of category 

management. We recommend that a work stream is noted on the project 

plan to inform Community Councils and Town Councils of the changes. 

 

f) The Committee noted that there is a need to provide guidance to 

Community Councils and Town Councils because they could be 

taking over the running of some services. 

 

There is no intention to amend the strategy in response to this suggestion. 

Any Community Councils or Town Councils undertaking the provision or 

responsibility of delivering services will be responsible for ensuring 

procurement requirements are met. This needs to be clear in the case of 

any responsibilities being transferred. 

 

 

 

Views of the statutory officers 

 

Chief Executive: 

 

“This revised strategy is one of importance as its implementation is of 

significance to two of the Council’s priorities being Keeping the Benefit 



Local and ensuring Value for Money. The recommendation to move to 

procurement based on the principles of category management is one of 

exceptional importance to ensure the realisation of these two priorities to 

which I recommend to the Cabinet.” 

 

Monitoring Officer: 

 

“The proposed strategy sets the principles and operational organisation 

for the Council to procure goods, service and works. It sets an appropriate 

framework and objectives for this important field and I am content with 

the appropriateness of the strategy.”  

 

 

Head of Finance: 

 

“It will be a considerable challenge for the Council to make significant 

savings from reducing the cost of providing services whilst also ‘Keeping 

the Benefit Local’. However, I confirm that the Council has spent £185m 

on goods, services and works through external providers. Therefore, 

certainly there will be opportunities that require appropriate consideration 

in accordance with the Procurement Strategy.” 

 

 

 



Procurement Strategy 2014/15 - final draft 

Table of content 

1. Introduction 

1.1  Procurement in Gwynedd 

1.2 What we have achieved 

  

2. Local Benefit from Procurement Spend  

2.1  Category management 

2.2  Engagement with local Suppliers 

2.3  Sustainable procurement and local benefits 

2.4  Developing skills, ability and procurement capacity 

2.5  Governance and responsibilities 

 

3. Procurement Savings and Efficiencies 

3.1  Financial constraints 

3.2 Value for money 

3.3 Electronic procurement and efficiencies  

 

4. Wider procurement ambitions 

4.1 Collaborative Procurement 

4.2 Welsh Language Policy  

4.3 Social Enterprises and the Third Sector 

4.4 Compliance and procedures 

 

5. Key Procurement Commitments 

5.1 What we want to achieve 

 



Foreword by Cabinet Member for Procurement and the Economy 

 

Welcome to Council's Procurement Strategy. This strategy outlines our procurement priorities and 

shows how procurement has and can contribute further to the Council’s aims for the term of this 

Cabinet.  This strategy brings together local priorities and Welsh Government recommendations for 

public sector commissioning and procurement. 

The Council spent over £185 million during 2013/14 on goods, works and services provided by 

external organisations, and we have a duty to make sure that our resources are used in the best 

possible way to meet the needs of our citizens and secure our wider strategic objectives.  

Our main procurement and economic priorities are: 

 Keeping the benefit local, which includes strengthening business resilience within the county 

and retaining local economic benefit 

 Improving our procurement capability and results 

 Utilising procurement to meet the financial challenges facing the Council and effectively 

deliver services to the people of Gwynedd 

As the Cabinet Member with responsibility for procurement, I recognise that effective procurement 

is key to achieving our aims and objectives. A strategic approach to procurement can achieve 

significant benefits to the Council, to local people and the local community. 

This vision, direction and key priorities outlined have been developed following consultation with 

stakeholders. Having a strategy does not, by itself, lead to effective procurement. It is the 

commitment of senior management and Council-wide use of the strategy which are the most 

important elements in its success. 

 

Mandy Williams-Davies 

Cabinet Member 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1. Introduction 

1.1  Procurement in Gwynedd 

1.1.1 The Council currently has a decentralised procurement arrangement where Services are 

responsible for the commissioning and procurement of goods and services.  

1.1.2 There is a Corporate Procurement Unit who’s role is to monitor and improve the 

procurement results of the Council. The Corporate Procurement Unit measures and reports on the 

performance of the Services, and seeks to improve procurement by improving internal processes 

and understanding of procurement across the Council.  

1.1.3 Through effective procurement and commissioning the Council sustainably sources goods 

and services that ensure value for money for the people of Gwynedd. 

 

1.2 What we have achieved 

1.2.1 Procurement has contributed significantly to the local community. Listed below are some of 

the achievements following the publication of the Procurement Strategy 2008-2011: 

 Implementation of the Sustainable Procurement Policy and a further successful scrutiny of 

the Policy. 

 Realised Community Benefits in several large scale procurement projects. 

 Collaborated with neighbouring authorities with various procurement transformation and 

improvement projects. 

 Created and established collaborative contracts and framework agreements through 

collaboration with partners across North Wales. 

 The implementation of various eProcurement tools such as a fully integrated Purchase to 

Pay Systems and etendering suite of tools. 

 Realised procurement savings and ensured value for money through our procurement 

activities and electronic procurement processes. 

 Report regularly on our procurement performance and evaluate local spend. 

 Developed the procurement skills and capability of both our Corporate Procurement Unit 

and members of staff across the Services who undertake procurement activities. 

 Engaged with the Third Sector through a Social Enterprise Forum and developed a Social 

Enterprise Toolkit. 

 Created a Social Enterprise Procurement Framework for working with the Third Sector and 

recognised as a Social Enterprise County by Social Enterprise UK. 

 Such examples of these benefits include: 

 Apprentices and work experience as part of large capital programmes such as Ysgol y 

Hendre, Blaenau Ffestiniog Regeneration Scheme and other builds. 

 A National Award Nomination for the implementation of eProcurement in Gwynedd’s 

School. 



 Cashable Savings of £200,000 via the successful electronic auctions of public transport 

contracts.  

 

2. Local Benefit from Procurement Spend  

2.1  Category management 

2.1.1 The Council wishes to ensure that we maximise the benefit from procurement and 

commissioning of goods and services. 

2.1.2 The Council has undertaken an assessment of its procurement activity and through 

workshops, consultation with services and external reviews, has identified some key areas for 

improvement. The Council wishes to address these deficiencies through the adoption of Category 

Management principles. 

2.1.3 Category Management is a strategic approach to procurement and commissioning which 

organises procurement resources to focus on specific categories of spend. This differs to the current 

arrangement where services individually procure goods and services. A strategic approach to 

procurement puts a greater emphasis on conducting in depth market analysis and a greater 

collaboration between commissioners and procurers. With specific roles and responsibilities to 

undertake specific tasks, the commissioning and procurement teams can leverage improved 

purchasing results through category management principles in comparison to traditional, service 

focused procurement methods.   

2.1.4 We believe that this procurement approach can deliver improved procurement efficiency 

savings, and at the same time increase local benefit.  

 

2.2  Engagement with local Suppliers 

2.2.1 As previously mentioned, the Council has identified the development of the local economy 

as one of its key strategic outputs for the term of this appointed Cabinet. The Council acknowledges 

that its third party spend can have a significant impact on the local economy and wishes to maximise 

the benefits to the local economy from this spend.  

2.2.2 The Council has identified key performance measures to maximise local benefit, these 

include: 

 Increasing the amount of third party spend from the 2013/14 amount of 40% 

 Safeguard and create job opportunities as a result of the Council third party spend 

 Increase the use of social clauses in major procurement projects to benefit the local 

community 

2.2.3 The Council believes that a consistent approach to procurement through Category 

Management can improve local suppliers ability to compete for its contracts.  Similarly, transparent 

practices and publishing the Council proposed forward procurement programme can better prepare 

the local market to compete for up and coming contracts.  



2.2.4 Currently the Council has a centrally managed contracts register and forward work 

programme, however the completeness of this register must be improved, and this can only be 

achieved by greater engagement across the Council.  

  

2.3  Sustainable procurement and local benefits 

2.3.1 The Council implemented a Sustainable Procurement Policy with guidance in 2011. This 

aimed to ensure that Services undertook procurement activities in a responsible and sustainable 

manner. The Policy also aims to ensure that we make the best possible use of the Council’s 

expenditure in terms of improving the economic, environmental and social benefit within the 

County. 

2.3.2 The Sustainable Procurement Policy objectives are to:  

 Minimise our environmental impact through better selection and improved usage of goods, 

works and services.  

 Ensure that procurement activities are undertaken in such a way that all suppliers, including 

small and medium enterprises are encouraged to bid for Council contracts;  

 Create an environment that provides opportunities to maximise the benefits arising from 

the inclusion and application of social criteria within procurement activities.  

 Ensure value for money assessments are based, where appropriate, on whole life costing 

and not just initial purchase price. 

2.3.3 The guidance, which includes a Sustainable Procurement Checklist and a Sustainable 

Procurement Tool, assists users to consider the mentioned factors in the design of their 

procurement approach. 

2.3.4 The Council believes that a sustainable approach to procurement is fundamental to ensuring 

that we maximise the benefit locally from third party spend and this approach will have a positive 

and long lasting effect on our communities. 

 

2.4  Developing skills, ability and procurement capacity 

2.4.1 The Council currently has a number of its staff undertaking various aspects of commissioning 

and procurement, whether it being identifying business needs, publishing tender documents or 

managing contracts.  

2.4.2 The frequency and ability of staff to undertake these tasks varies across the Council and 

under the principles of Category Management, the Council will seek to co-ordinate this activity 

better. By giving individuals clear commissioning and procurement roles and responsibilities, we 

anticipate an improvement in our procurement and service results.  

2.4.3 Currently, as part of the Council Corporate Training Matrix there is a standard procurement 

training course and a further advanced procurement course. The Council will seek to implement a 

Procurement Competency Framework to ensure that individuals involved in the commissioning and 



procurement process are capable and sufficiently supported to undertake strategic and operational 

sourcing activities.  

2.4.4 Through tailored Category Management training and support we can improve our ability to 

achieve better procurement and service results which will benefit the citizens of Gwynedd.  

2.4.5 The Council acknowledges the magnitude of this transformational change and will adopt a 

gradual approach to implementing the change. 

 

2.5  Governance and responsibilities 

2.5.1 In order for Category Management to be successfully adopted across the Council there must 

be clear governance and responsibility. 

2.5.2 As part of the implementation of Category Management, the appointed Category Teams will 

be responsible for the delivery of procurement across agreed categories of spend. This will include 

the preparation of category plans and procurement plans that must be agreed by the relevant 

Service Management and the Corporate Procurement Manager. These procurement plans will 

address the needs of the Service, any efficiency targets identified and how the procurement 

approach will benefit the local community. 

2.5.3 The Category Teams will be under the management of the Services, but, will be required to 

report professionally to the Corporate Procurement Manager in terms of their procurement results 

and performance. 

2.5.4 To ensure that procurement results are monitored by the Council’s Senior Management 

Team, procurement performance will be reported at the respective Delivery Panel which will include 

the relevant category Head of Service and Cabinet Member. 

2.5.5 The overarching procurement results will be reported by the Category Leads and Corporate 

Procurement Manager to the Cabinet Member for Procurement and the Economy. 

 

3. Procurement Savings and Efficiencies 

3.1  Financial challenge 

3.1.1 As a result of Government and subsequently Welsh Government decision to reduce Local 

Authority Budgets across Wales, The Council faces a budget deficit of approximately £34m between 

2015/16 and 2017/18. 

3.1.2 As we have already experienced locally, better procurement can deliver financial savings and 

contribute significantly towards the financial challenge facing the Council. In order to fully quantify 

the contribution of procurement we must adopt an approach that can accurately monitor both non 

cashable efficiency savings, cashable savings and community benefit. 



3.1.3 In our Category Management approach to procurement, each category plan must 

incorporate a savings target or cost avoidance target, with this target being agreed and monitored in 

order to calculate it’s impact.  

3.1.4 The Council has already adopted a Corporate Procurement Savings Plan. The Council will be 

required to monitor procurement savings and ensure that each procurement approach best 

maximises the opportunity to realise savings that will benefit the people of Gwynedd.  

3.1.5 Similarly, each category plan must consider possible community benefits as per the 

Sustainable Procurement Policy. 

 

3.2 Value for money 

3.2.1 The Council will ensure that all it’s procurement activity when purchasing goods and service 

or works represent value for money. As part of the Council Sustainable Procurement Policy it will 

consider the whole life cost of any acquisition and ensure that any procurement doesn’t have any 

detrimental effect on the citizens of Gwynedd today or tomorrow.  

3.2.2 The Council will also, where appropriate, review the internal provision of delivering goods 

and services to ensure that this is the best model of service delivery. 

 

3.3 Electronic procurement and efficiencies  

3.3.1 The Council will continuously seek to improve its procurement and purchasing processes to 

ensure it is as efficient and effective as possible.  We will therefore undertake an eProcurement 

Programme to review all of our tendering and purchasing arrangements. The eProcurement 

Programme will strive to modernise, through the adoption of electronic tools, all publications of 

tendering opportunities and the processing of orders and invoices for payment.  

3.3.2 The Council will ensure that it will meet the electronic requirements of the European 

Directive 2014 to make tendering opportunities available electronically by the set date. 

3.3.3 Such is the complexity of how Services interact with different suppliers and markets, we may 

seek to adopt a multiple of tools to be able to trade electronically.  The eProcurement Programme 

will identify the most effective and efficient electronic method and monitor the usage of that agreed 

method. Each Service will have an agreed approach to electronic procurement that will identify how 

it will process both it’s tendering opportunities and processing of orders and invoices.    

3.3.4 In order for the Council to be able to notify the local market of up and coming tender 

opportunities and implement a Category Management approach to procurement, the Council will 

implement an electronic process of managing contracts. The eContract Management Programme 

will remind the Services of contract renewal dates to best prepare both the Council and the local 

market of forthcoming procurement exercises. In a similar fashion, in order for the Council to adopt 

a more strategic approach to procurement the Council will attempt to integrate all contract 

referencing with the Council’s current financial budgeting processes.    



3.3.5 Better visibility of procurement spend will allow Services and Category Teams to make more 

informed decisions of the best use of the resources available to deliver services to the people of 

Gwynedd. Similarly, accessible and transparent procurement process will allow the local economy to 

be aware of contracting opportunities. 

 

4. Wider procurement ambitions 

4.1 Collaborative Procurement 

4.1.1 The Council will seek to collaborate with other Welsh Authorities and public bodies where it 

can benefit the people of Gwynedd. This may include the sharing of best practice and exchanging 

experiences to identify and develop better ways of procuring. 

4.1.2 The Council will also consider collaborating with others to aggregate demand for goods and 

services, this can potential leverage better prices and also reduce the procurement effort required.  

4.1.3 Following the establishment of the National Procurement Service which establishes 

collaborative frameworks. The Council will actively engage with the National Procurement Service 

and best utilise the collaborative framework made available. When deciding on the use of any 

framework, we must ensure that the framework represents value for money in terms of quality and 

cost. Factoring also, the effort of establishing a similar arrangements and whether it represent any 

benefit to the local economy. 

 

4.2 Welsh Language Policy 

4.2.1 As part of the procurement strategy and its wider efforts, the Council is committed to 

promoting and safeguarding the use of the Welsh Language. This strategy outlines the Council’s 

commitment to adopt the Welsh Language Board’s ‘Advice under Section 3 of the Welsh Language 

Act 1993’ by embedding the ‘Contracting out public service contracts and the Welsh Language’ 

within its procurement practices. The Council will revise the relevant policy and procedural 

documentation to include the practical assistance within this paper.  

 

4.3 Social Enterprises and the Third Sector 

4.3.1 The Third Sector includes, voluntary organisations, community groups, self-help groups, 

community co-operatives and enterprises, religious organisations, and other not for profit 

distribution organisations. 

4.3.2 The Council acknowledges the Third Sector as a vital sector in delivering essential services. 

The Council will build on it’s working relationship and engage with the Third Sector to ensure that 

we consider all options of sustainable service delivery and value for money for the people of 

Gwynedd. 



4.3.3 In light of the current financial challenges, the Council is reviewing a range of service delivery 

options and is working to identify further opportunities to work with the Sector. The Council will 

consider alternative service delivery models where appropriate which could be met by the Third 

Sector. 

4.3.4 The Council believes the further embedding of the toolkit and framework will assist both 

parties in developing it’s working partnership. 

 

4.4 Compliance and procedures 

4.4.1 The Council will ensure compliance with all statutory procurement rules and regulations, 

these of which includes the: 

 Directive 2014/24/EU of the European Parliament 

 Public Contract Regulations 2015 

In addition, individuals undertaking procurement activity must ensure that they work to the 

guidelines of the Council Contract Procedure Rules and any Welsh Procurement Policy.  

 

5. Key Procurement Commitments 

5.1 What we want to achieve 

5.1.1 This procurement strategy outlines the key procurement outputs we wish to achieve. We 

will set the following target dates to embed the objectives of this procurement strategy: 

Key Outputs for Completion Target Date 

Implementation of Category Management in the Pilot Category June - 2015 

Implementation of Category Management across all categories of spend Sept - 2016 

Procurement Opportunities Programme for the Pilot Category 

 Forward Procurement Programme 

 Existing Contracts List 

 
Aug - 2015 
Aug - 2015 

Procurement Opportunities Programme for all categories of spend 

 Forward Procurement Programme 

 Existing Contracts List 
 

 
Dec - 2016 
Dec - 2016 

Procurement savings and efficiencies 

 Complete the Corporate Procurement Savings Plan 

 Effectively measure both cashable and non cashable procurement 
savings 
 

 
2015 – 2017 (ongoing) 
Aug - 2015 

Creation of a competency framework and training plan for both the Services 
and the Category Teams 

Dec - 2015 

eProcurement, the completion and development of: 

 eProcurement Programme 

 eContract Management  

 
2015 – 2017 (ongoing) 
Aug - 2015 



 Contract Referencing  Dec - 2015 
 

Internal review of procedures 

 Adoption of the Regulations 

 Implementation of the category management approach into the 
Council’s standing orders 

 Welsh Language Policy 
 

 
April – 2015 
Aug – 2016 
 
Dec - 2015 

 


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the meeting held on the 23rd of June 2015
	6 Developing the Frondeg Site
	Item 6 - Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment
	Item 6 - Report - The Future of  Y Frondeg Registered Residential Home

	7 Ffordd Gwynedd Strategy
	Item 7 - Appendix 1 - Minutes of the Corporate Scrutiny Committee
	Item 7 - Appendix 2 - Ffordd Gwynedd Strategy
	Ffordd Gwynedd Strategy.pdf
	Projects
	Project 1 - Implement Ffordd Gwynedd.pdf
	Project 1b - Implement Ffordd Gwynedd.pdf
	Project 2 - Developing Leaders Prgramme.pdf
	Project 3 and 7 - Consultation and Supporting Change.pdf
	Project 4 - Implementation of Performance System.pdf
	Project 6 - Extend the use of self service.pdf
	Project 8 - Information Technology Strategy.pdf
	Project 9 - EDRMS.pdf



	8 Revenue Budget 2015/16 - Identifying Early Risks
	Item 8 - Appendix 1 - Revenue Budget 2015-16

	9 Capital Programme 2015/16-2017/18 - First Quarter Review
	10 Caernarfon and Bangor Business Improvement Districts
	Item 10 - Appendix 1 - Bangor Business Improvement District Proposal
	Item 10 - Appendix 2 - Caernarfon Business Improvement Proposal
	Item 10 - Appendix 3 - Draft Operating Agreement
	Item 10 - Appendix 4 - Draft Baseline Agreement

	11 The Council's Procurement Strategy
	Item 11 - Appendix 1 - Procurement Strategy 2015


